National Survey of Canadian Psychologists' Test Feedback Training and Practice: A Mixed Methods Study

by

Ryan Matthew Jacobson

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Education

in

Counselling Psychology

Department of Educational Psychology
University of Alberta

Abstract

In recent decades, researchers have conducted a number of test feedback (TFB) studies – that is, studies of providing psychological assessment and testing results to clients. This sequential explanatory mixed methods study replicated and extended an earlier inquiry into TFB training and practice of American psychologists, using a Canadian sample. The extent to which psychologists provide TFB to clients, and how effectively training programs are preparing them to do so were examined through a national survey of 399 Canadian psychologists. Quantitative results indicate Canadian psychologists provide TFB to clients most of the time, while identifying some room for improvement in terms of meeting professional ethical standards and guidelines. Specifically, 91% of respondents reported providing some form of TFB to clients frequently or more often; 77% indicated doing so almost always, while 5.5% reported providing TFB rarely or never. Verbal was the most commonly indicated TFB format. Approximately 1/4th of respondents indicated graduate training in psychological assessment did not prepare them to provide TFB to clients effectively, while 13% identified post-graduate training as ineffective in learning to provide TFB. Recently graduated psychologists were not more likely to provide TFB than earlier graduates, nor were they more likely to endorse graduate or post-graduate training as helpful in learning to provide feedback. Experience-based forms of instruction in graduate training (e.g., practicum) positively correlated with respondents' providing TFB to clients, as did finding post-graduate training helpful. The qualitative phase explored the experiences and perspectives of six Canadian psychologists: three who regularly provided TFB to clients and three who did not. All respondents indicated learning through a self-instruction process and trailand-error. This method of learning was related to respondent's supervisor's level of involvement/perceived skill, inadequate academic preparation/support, and the complexity of

assessment and TFB. All three non-TFB respondents indicated conducting assessments primarily in forensic settings, and each shared their willingness and preference for providing TFB to clients whenever possible. These respondents identified a lack or opportunity/precedent as the primary reason for not delivering TFB to clients consistently. This rationale was related to a perceived discrepancy between the client and the test-taker, as well as practical, legal and conventional barriers to providing TFB to test takers. Consistent with mixed methods studies, the quantitative survey data and qualitative interview data were integrated to explain and shed light on the results as a whole, providing an enhanced understanding of the TFB training and practice of Canadian psychologists. Limitations of the study, and potential directions for future research are presented and discussed.

Preface

This thesis is a replication and extension of an earlier study published in 2010 by K. T. Curry and W. E. Hanson entitled, "National Survey of Psychologists' Test Feedback Training, Supervision, and Practice: A Mixed Methods Study", *Journal of Personality Assessment*, vol. 92, issue 4, 327-336. In consultation with the authors who designed the survey (Curry & Hanson, 2010) I, Ryan Jacobson, revised and edited the instrument in order to inquire more intentionally into specific test feedback (TFB) activities, facilitate a more consistent response format, allow more openended responses, and optimize its relevance for a Canadian sample. I was responsible for all aspects of data collection and analysis, as well as the manuscript composition. With the exception of the survey instrument and study design, which was largely based on the researcher of Curry and Hanson (2010), this thesis is otherwise an original work by Ryan Jacobson. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "The Practice and Training of Providing Test Feedback among Canadian Psychologists", No. 40995 on December 16, 2013, after which data collection and analysis commenced.

Acknowledgements

I have been very fortunate to have the support and encouragement of so many people throughout my educational pursuits. I owe a particular debt of gratitude for completing this project to a number of individuals who I would now like to thank.

First off, thanks to my supervisor, Dr. Bill Hanson. I have had the privilege of learning a great deal from you about the impact and importance of therapy, research, and feedback, including how these processes interact and relate. Your guidance and support were integral to the completion of this project, and I thank you for that. Second, I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Derek Truscott, Dr. Damien Cormier, and Dr. Bill Hanson. Your knowledge, insight and guidance have been instrumental in shaping and refining this project. Each of you has also, in different ways, taught and shown me a great deal about what it means to be a 'good' psychologist and professional. On both counts, I am truly grateful. Thank you all.

I would also like to thank Dr. Karen Buro for her willingness to consult with me on this study. I realize we did not get to implement many of your suggestions due to the scope of this project Karen. Still, I really appreciate your generosity with your statistical expertise, as you helped me clarify my thinking, understanding and overall approach. I would like to thank Dr. Kyle Curry, as well, for being open to replication his research, and for consulting with me on this project. It was a real benefit for me to hear about what you learned as you conducted the original study, Kyle. Thank you. I would also like to thank Dr. Andrew Howell for his ongoing support and mentorship. I am really not sure if I would be here if it was not for you, Andrew. You have been a true teacher, mentor, and source of inspiration for me on more levels than you know. Thank you so much.

Of course, I would like to thank my parents (of both the Jacobson and Turnbull persuasion) for their steadfast love and support over the years. A whole page would not do you justice. You guys are incredible – thank you! Finally, thank you to my beautiful wife, Hayley. You are such a source of strength and encouragement to me, and I appreciate you engaging with me in this, and in every journey. While I may not always say so, you remind me every day of the importance of doing things completely and wholeheartedly. I am so grateful for you helping me to keep a sharp mind and an open heart in all I do. I love you so, Hayley Rose.

Table of Contents

	Page
Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Acknowledgments	v
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	x
Glossary of Terms and Variables	xi
1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	
1.1 Presenting Test Feedback to Clients in the Professional Practice of Psychology	1
1.2 Significance of Present Study	4
1.3 Collaborative/Therapeutic Approaches to Psychological Assessment	6
1.3.1 Collaborative Individualized Assessment	7
1.3.2 Therapeutic Assessment	8
1.3.3 Collaborative/Therapeutic Assessment	10
1.4 Assessment and Test Feedback Training	11
1.5 Review of Research on Test Feedback and Collaborative/Therapeutic Assessment	14
1.5.1 Overview of Collaborative/Therapeutic Assessment Research	15
1.6 Survey Research	18
1.7 Outcome Research	21
1.8 Process Research	34
1.9 The Present Study	39
1.10 Rationale for Mixed Methods Design	41
1.11 Research Questions	41
1.12 Quantitative and Qualitative Data Collection	42
1.13 Research Hypotheses	43
2. METHOD	
2.1 Quantitative Data Collection: Participants, Survey Instrument, and Procedure	44
2.2 Quantitative Data Analysis	52
2.3 Qualitative Data Collection: Participants, and Interview Procedure	53

2.4 Qualitative Data Analysis	56
2.4.1 Researcher-as-Instrument: Potential Biases and Personal Reactions	58
2.5 Mixed Methods Procedure	62
3. RESULTS	
3.1 Quantitative Results	63
3.1.1 Test Feedback Practices	63
3.1.2 Test Feedback Training	64
3.1.3 Factors Associated with Psychologist's Test Feedback Practice	66
3.2 Qualitative Results	71
3.2.1 Test Feedback Results	71
3.2.2 Non-Test Feedback Results	81
4. DISCUSSION	
4.1.1 Integration of Quantitative and Qualitative Data	99
4.1.2 Limitations	102
4.1.3 Directions for Future Research	105
4.1.4 Practice and Training Implications: Moving TFB Forward	107
4.1.5 Conclusion	109
5. REFERENCES	111
6. APPENDIXES	125

List of Tables

	Page
Frequency of Using Assessments for Specific Purposes	46
2. Frequency of Engaging in Specific Collaborative/Therapeutic Feedback Activities	48
3. Frequencies and Format of Providing Test Feedback to Clients	65
4. Agreement that Academic Training was Helpful in Learning to Provide Test Feedback	ς67
5. Primary Mode of Instruction in Graduate and Post-Graduate Training	68
6. Correlations among Factors Associated with Providing Test Feedback	71
7. Correlations among Age-related Factors Associated with Providing Test Feedback	72
8. Group 1 Test Feedback Qualitative Themes	74
9. Group 2 Non-Test Feedback Qualitative Themes	84

List of Figures

	Page
1. Mixed Methods Procedure	62

Glossary of Terms and Variables

Test feedback (TFB) is defined as the process of presenting test results, along with an interpretation of those results, to the client in a manner that renders them understandable, meaningful and useful for the client. This definition is based on Lichtenberg and Goodyear's (1999) concept of test interpretation in which the clinician (1) makes sense of the test results, (2) presents the test results, along with an interpretation of those results, to the client, and (3) aids the client in processing and integrating the presented information.

Therapeutic Assessment (TA) refers to the empirically based, semi-structured form of collaborative assessment developed and refined by Finn and colleagues (cf. Finn, 2007). Based on a humanistic theoretical orientation, this model draws on aspects of self-psychology, and emphasizes client engagement, understanding and transformation.

Information Gathering Assessment (IG) refers to more traditional approaches to psychological assessment intended to communicate information about the client (e.g., describing current level of functioning, communicating diagnoses, answering referral questions, etc.).

Information gathering models typically emphasize assessor objectivity, nomothetic comparison, and can inadvertently perpetuate a power imbalance between the client and the clinician (cf. Finn, Fischer & Handler, 2012).

<u>Collaborative Individualized Assessment</u> (CIA) refers to the model of assessment pioneered by Constance Fischer (e.g., Fischer, 1978; 2000). Rooted in phenomenological psychology, CIA values collaboration (i.e., "co-laboring") between clients and clinicians throughout the assessment process.

<u>Collaborative/Therapeutic Assessment (C/TA)</u> refers to an amalgam of the leading theories in the collaborative assessment paradigm (CIA and TA), resulting in an empirically

based model of psychological assessment that also facilitates the effective provision of TFB to clients, thereby fulfilling ethical obligations and realizing multiple therapeutic benefits.

therapeutic assessment (ta) refers to all other approaches that seek to positively impact clients through psychological assessment, but do not utilize the TA model articulated by Finn and colleagues, and do not necessarily use collaborative methods beyond providing TFB to clients. These approaches differ from the traditional IG assessment model with respect to their (1) goals, (2) process, (3) view of tests, (4) focus, (5) view of the assessor's role, and (6) what constitutes assessment success and failure (Finn & Tonsager, 1997).

<u>Psychological Assessment as a Therapeutic Intervention (PATI)</u> refers to the use of psychological assessment instruments coupled with personalized, collaborative feedback. It is based on the Collaborative/Therapeutic assessment model and also focuses on client understanding and transformation.

<u>Purpose variables</u> refer to the various uses of psychological assessments, such as answering specific referral questions, measuring treatment outcomes, monitoring client change, using assessments as a therapeutic intervention, etc.

<u>Context variables</u> refer to the settings in which, and the individuals with whom, clinicians use psychological assessments. These include with an interdisciplinary treatment team, with adults, with adolescents, etc.

<u>Instrument variables</u> refer to the various categories of assessment instruments that clinicians use in their practice such as intellectual, behavioural, neuropsychological, etc.

<u>TA variables</u> refer to the extent to which respondents engage in distinct steps prescribed by Finn (1996) and consistent with the C/TA model when providing TFB. Examples include

obtaining assessment-specific consent, and encouraging the client to generate personally relevant questions that the assessment might help answer.

<u>TFB variables</u> refer to the extent to which respondents provide TFB to clients and the formats in which they do so (e.g., written or verbal).

<u>TFB clarification variables</u> refer to the extent to which respondents are intentional about promoting clients' understanding of the test results. For example, making a deliberate effort to highlight any relevant implications resulting from the assessment.

<u>Training variables</u> refer to the extent to which respondents found their graduate and post-graduate training effective in preparing them to provide TFB to clients, the total proportion of training in assessment that focused explicitly on providing TFB, and the primary means of that instruction (e.g., lecture, role-playing, practicum).

Years since graduation refers to the number of elapsed calendar years between the dates the respondents completed their highest graduate degree in psychology and the data collection/analysis phase of the present study.

<u>Demographic variables</u> refer to respondent's biological sex, the cultural/ethnic group they most strongly identify with, their primary practice setting, theoretical orientation, and affiliation with various sections of the Canadian Psychological Association.

<u>Client</u> typically refers to the individual presenting for the assessment, but is also used to refer to the referral source in assessments involving third parties (e.g., parents, lawyers).

Test Taker invariably refers to the individual presenting for the assessment.

Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review

Psychologists play a unique role among mental health professionals, one that is characterized by the development, administration and interpretation of psychological tests (Meyer, Finn, Edye, Kay, et al., 2001). To be sure, testing is an integral and multi-dimensional aspect of psychological practice that can provide a wealth of valuable information both to and about clients. Psychologists are also ethically obligated to share assessment results with clients whenever possible, an exchange that is frequently referred to as 'test feedback' (TFB). This ethical responsibility of psychologists to present and explain test results to clients is evident in the American Psychological Association's Ethical Standard 9.10: "Psychologists take reasonable steps to ensure that explanations of results are given to the individual or designated representative" (American Psychological Association, 2002). Relevant sections from the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists (2000) state that psychologists are to "provide suitable information about the results of assessments, evaluations, or research findings to the persons involved, if appropriate and if asked. This information would be communicated in understandable language." The code states elsewhere that psychologists are to "Protect the skills, knowledge, and interpretations of psychology from being misused, used incompetently, or made useless by others" (Section III.15; Section IV.11, Canadian Psychological Association, 2000). Arguably, the most effective way to fulfill these ethical and professional obligations is through providing TFB to clients in a way that renders results understandable, meaningful and useful for them.

Despite the ethical mandate to share test results with clients, survey research has demonstrated that psychologists do not provide TFB to clients consistently (Bennett-Levy, Klein-Boonschate, Batchelor, McCarter et al., 1994; Curry & Hanson, 2010; Smith, Wiggins &

Gorske, 2007). There is also strong, empirically supportive evidence to suggest clients experience considerable benefits as a result of receiving TFB (cf. Allen, Montgomery, Tubman, Frazier & Escovar, 2003; Newman & Greenway, 1997; Poston & Hanson; 2010). In light of these salutary effects, and of the ethical requirements to present results to clients, anything less than consistent and comprehensive TFB is both curious and concerning. Unfortunately, based on the existing research, some attention and perhaps concern is warranted. One possible explanation for the inconsistent provision of TFB is that some psychologists may not be fully aware of the relevant ethical standards and guidelines. Another is that psychologists may not be sufficiently trained to provide TFB, and some research and practice literature suggests that training is an important determinant of psychologists' TFB practices (cf. Curry & Hanson, 2010; Handler & Smith, 2013). Another potential explanation is psychologists perceiving a discrepancy between the 'client' and the test taker (e.g., forensic assessments, competency evaluations, insurance claims, etc.), in which case the recipient of TFB may not always be the individual presenting for assessment. It is imperative to understand whether or not Canadian psychologists are currently providing TFB to clients consistently, and ascertain how training programs are preparing them to do this, if at all.

The purpose of this sequential-explanatory mixed methods research (MMR) study was to examine the extent to which Canadian psychologists provide TFB to clients, and to determine whether or not training programs are effectively preparing them to do so. This purpose is expressed through the following four research questions (RQs). First, "to what extent do psychologists active in assessment deliver TFB to clients?" Second, "how does graduate and post-graduate training prepare psychologists to provide TFB?" Third, "what factors are associated with psychologists providing or not providing TFB? Finally, a fourth MMR question

-considered necessary for studies collecting and analyzing quantitative and qualitative data (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011)— inquired, "how do the narrative experiences of practicing psychologists provide a better understanding of their TFB practice as indicated in the quantitative results, including how graduate and post-graduate training influenced them in this regard?"

This study is a replication and extension of a previous inquiry into the practice and training of American psychologists providing TFB that also utilized a sequential MMR design (Curry & Hanson, 2010). Through a national survey of clinical, counselling and school psychologists yielding a usable response rate of 48.5% (n = 468), Curry and Hanson (2010) found that 91.7% of respondents reported providing TFB to clients at least sometimes, 35% reported doing so all of the time, and 2.8% reported never providing TFB. Recently graduated clinical psychologists reported providing TFB to clients more consistently than clinical psychologsts who earned their degrees earlier, although no such trend was found among nonclinical (i.e., school and counselling) psychologists. Almost 1/3rd of respondents indicated predoctoral training was minimally helpful in learning to provide TFB, and finding pre-doctoral training helpful was not associated with actually providing TFB. However, finding post-doctoral training helpful was positively correlated with providing TFB. The primary method of learning indicated by respondents consistently providing TFB was through trial-and-error and the most common reason for not providing TFB was conducting assessments in forensic settings – acceptable practice according to ethical exemptions (cf. APA, 2002).

Aside from Curry and Hanson (2010) and a handful of other studies (cf. Bennett-Levy, Klein-Boonschate, Batchlor, McCarter et al., 1994; Smith, Wiggins & Gorske, 2007; Ward, 2008) questions concerning whether and how psychologists provide TFB have not been

explored empirically, and there are no known studies examining TFB practices among Canadian psychologists. Indeed, a number of studies attest to the prevalence of research on assessmentrelated activities, such as administration, interpretation, interviewing etc., while highlighting the paucity of studies explicitly examining the provision of TFB (Gas & Brown, 1992; Pope & Vetter, 1992; Smith, Wiggins & Gorske, 2007). Smith et al. (2007) emphasized the lack of research oriented around TFB with reference to Crosson (2000), who suggested the impact of psychological assessment is found in the interpretations and recommendations psychologists make based on the test results, rather than the results per se. This issue of test interpretation, which parallels TFB, pertains to how psychologists use assessment data in practice. Lichtenberg and Goodyear (1999) conceptualized test interpretation as a three-phase process in which the clinician (1) makes sense of the test results, (2) presents the test results, along with an interpretation of those results, to the client, and (3) aids the client in processing and integrating the presented information. For the purposes of the present study, TFB is conceptualized as the process of presenting test results, and an interpretation of those results, to the client in a manner that renders them understandable, meaningful and useful – this conceptualization is captured in steps 2 and 3 of Lichtenberg and Goodyear's (1999) model. A TFB exchange is often referred to as a 'debrief' or a 'case consultation'. Ideally, these sessions take place in person, but other means are often employed (e.g., telephone, online video conferencing, or written reports). Issues germane to the practice and training of Canadian psychologists providing clients with TFB are the primary foci of this study.

Significance of the Present Study

Administering, interpreting, and presenting results based on psychological tests constitutes a specialized professional activity unique to psychologists. However, very few

studies –none in Canada– have examined psychologists' TFB practices and training. Similarly, the extent to which training programs are preparing psychologists to provide TFB remain largely unexplored. In light of psychologists' ethical mandate to inform clients about test results, as well as the empirically established benefits TFB offers to the processes and outcomes of therapy, the primary objective of this study was to determine the extent to which Canadian psychologists provide TFB to clients, and to explore whether and how training programs are preparing them to do so. A second objective was to identify factors associated with Canadian psychologists providing/not providing TFB to clients. Such factors include specialization, level of education, years since graduation, specific assessment activities, employment settings, and the nature of clientele one works with in practice. These factors were selected in order to get a better sense of how diverse practice settings, training experiences etc. coincide with psychologists' TFB practice. These first two objectives were realized through a national survey of licensed Canadian psychologists.

In light of the many benefits TFB offers to the consumers of psychological testing, it is essential to understand if Canadian psychologists are using any sort of model to guide their TFB practices and, if they are providing TFB consistently, how they learned to do so. It is also important to understand the reasons why some Canadian psychologists might not be regularly offering TFB to clients, and thereby not meeting established ethical guidelines. As such, in the next section, the literature review focuses on two distinct areas. First, on the growing body of empirical literature attesting to the effectiveness of collaborative/therapeutic models of assessment, establishing their utility as frameworks that can guide and facilitate more effective TFB practice, training and research. Second, on the published empirical research conducted on providing clients with TFB to date.

Collaborative/Therapeutic Approaches to Psychological Assessment

Meyer et al. (2001), summarizing the principal uses of psychological assessment, contended assessments can be used to (a) describe clients' current functioning; (b) confirm, refute, or modify clinician's impressions; (c) identify therapeutic needs, highlight issues likely to emerge in treatment, recommend interventions, project likely outcomes; (d) aid differential diagnosis of emotional, behavioural, and cognitive disorders; (e) monitor treatment progress, evaluate intervention impact and identify emerging issues; (f) manage risk, minimize legal liability, and identify potentially deleterious treatment effects; and (g) provide skilled and empathic feedback as a therapeutic intervention in its own right. Mental health professionals have traditionally regarded psychological assessment as a means of gathering information about a client, with the intention of diagnosing disorders and planning treatment/interventions using a nomothetic approach, contrasting the presenting client with a larger group of individuals to which they can be meaningfully compared (Finn, Fischer & Handler, 2012). Many of the uses articulated by Meyer et al. (2001) are consistent with a traditional information gathering (IG) assessment paradigm, which is a useful and beneficial approach for clients and clinicians in many respects. According to the IG approach, the prevailing view among psychologists up until the midpoint of the 20th century was that test results were complex and threatening to clients (Groth-Marnat, 2003) and that very little, if any, FB should be provided as sharing test results was potentially "dangerous and harmful" (Klopfer, 1954, p. 603). However, around the same time, psychologists began exploring alternative approaches that involved the client in the assessment process to a much greater extent. For example, as early as 1945, therapists began encouraging clients to interpret their own projections based on administrations of the Rorschach or Thematic Apperception Test (Murray, 1943), yielding a number of therapeutic benefits such

as increased insight (cf. Jacques, 1945; Luborsky, 1953). In a similar way, Harrower (1956) argued that clients should be encouraged to discuss their own Rorschach projections together with their therapist in her projective counselling method, which also had a positive impact on the clients' treatment progress. More recently, several collaborative assessment models have emerged and evolved that are perhaps best referred to collectively as Collaborative/Therapeutic Assessment (C/TA). These models suggest, in contrast with the IG paradigm, that psychological assessment can be a relational and therapeutic exchange that promotes clients' self-verification, self-enhancement, and self-efficacy (Finn & Tonsager, 1997).

Collaborative Individualized Assessment. Collaborative Individualized Assessment (CIA) is a model of assessment that was pioneered by Constance Fischer (cf. Fischer, 1978, 2000). The approach is rooted in phenomenological psychology, and values client-clinician collaboration (i.e., "co-laboring") throughout the assessment process in an effort to promote individualized assessments, emphasizing ecological validity from the clients' perspective. In contrast with traditional IG approaches that tend to objectify clients, CIA regards collaboration as therapeutic in its own right. Fischer (2000), articulating the major tenets of her model, described CIA as an approach that (1) values collaboration with clients, treating them as active agents; (2) contextualizes and situates the assessment and results into the lived world of the client; (3) intervenes through facilitating new ways of thinking and being; (4) describes the client and their challenges in detail, using their own words whenever possible; (5) respects complexity, holism, ambiguity and individuality as opposed to relying on reductionist approaches or normative comparison. "The goal is understanding rather than explanation" (Fischer, 2000, p. 6).

Therapeutic Assessment. Therapeutic Assessment (TA) is an empirically based assessment model developed by Stephen Finn (cf. Finn, 1996; Finn & Tonsager, 1992, 1997), who continues to refine and advance this approach with his colleagues at the Center for Therapeutic Assessment in Austin, Texas. According to its founders, TA is "a semi-structured from of collaborative assessment that uses psychological testing as the centerpiece of a brief therapy" (Finn & Tonsager, 2002, p. 10). This collaborative and humanistic approach began when Finn became interested in using assessment as a brief therapeutic intervention, initially by exploring the therapeutic utility of TFB. Through continued collaboration with other researchers and clinicians, incorporating aspects of self-verification theory (Swann, 1997) and CIA (Fischer, 1978), Finn articulated a useful and flexible model that could be readily taught to clinicians and graduate students to capitalize on the many benefits that TA research began to demonstrate. In the TA model, the clinician operates as a therapeutic agent, and change is fostered through collaboratively enhancing the clients' understanding of themselves (Finn & Tonsager, 1997). Critical aspects of TA include (1) helping clients to generate personally relevant questions they would like addressed through the assessment, (2) collecting relevant background information pertaining to the clients' questions, (3) exploring past testing-related hurts, (4) involving clients as active agents throughout the assessment process, including collaboratively discussing test results in order to address their initial questions (Finn, 1996, 2007). A more detailed description of the TA process is provided elsewhere (cf. Finn, 1996).

Early research suggested that clients experience a therapeutic benefit simply through the clinician sharing their test results with them (Finn & Tonsager, 1992). Other researchers soon replicated these results, leading them to conclude that TFB should be given to all recipients of psychological assessments (Newman & Greenway, 1997). Since these initial studies, empirical

research has demonstrated that TA offers a substantive benefit to the outcomes and processes of therapy, including decreased client symptomatology, improved treatment alliance, heightened compliance with treatment recommendations, enhanced self-esteem and increased levels of hope, with global composite effect sizes (Cohen's *d*) hovering around .40 (Ackerman, Hilsenroth, Baity, & Blagys, 2000; Hanson, Claiborn, & Kerr, 1997; Hilsenroth, Peters & Ackerman, 2004; Meyer, et al., 2001; Ougrin, Zundel, Ng, Habel, et al., 2013; Poston & Hanson, 2010).

The developers of TA have suggested that the term therapeutic assessment (ta) be used to refer to all other approaches that seek to positively impact clients using psychological assessments, but do not utilize the TA model articulated by Finn, and may not use collaborative methods beyond providing TFB to clients (Finn, 2007). These approaches all differ substantially from the traditional IG model, and are similar to one another in many respects, with each of them emphasizing "(a) developing and maintaining empathic connections with the client, (b) working collaboratively with clients to define individualized assessment goals, and (c) sharing and exploring assessment results with clients" (Finn & Tonsager, 1997, p. 378). Examples of other collaborative approaches include the Therapeutic Model of Assessment (Hilensroth & Cromer, 2007), Collaborative Therapeutic Neuropsychological Assessment (Gorske & Smith, 2008) and several other clinicians who refer to their work as Collaborative Assessment (Purves, 2002; Engleman & Frankel, 2002). Although all of these approaches focus on reducing the power imbalance between client and clinician, the founders of CIA and TA have suggested "it might be useful to say that collaborative assessors place more emphasis on understanding than on transformation, whereas those calling their approach Therapeutic Assessment or therapeutic assessment appear to prioritize client change" (Finn, Fischer & Handler, 2012, p. 10).

Collaborative/Therapeutic Assessment. Collaborative/Therapeutic Assessment (C/TA) is best understood as a streamlining of the leading collaborative approaches to assessment (i.e., CIA and TA). This amalgam is based on the high level of agreement and congruence that exists between these approaches. Of their shared features, respect for clients is paramount, and respect is expressed in a number of specific activities that include obtaining assessment-specific consent, relating to clients as experts on themselves, involving/valuing clients' as active collaborators, working together to find novel solutions to typical problems, providing comprehensive TFB, and acknowledging the clients' contribution in all documentation (Finn et al., 2012). They also have many shared values and perspectives, including (a) a relational conceptualization of assessment, (b) valuing compassion and curiosity over judgment and classification, (c) a genuine desire to help clients directly through the assessment, (d) a unique perspective on tests (i.e., viewing tests as "empathy magnifiers", Finn, 2007), and (e) maintaining flexibility in the application of the C/TA model (Finn et al., 2012).

According to its founders, C/TA represents "a major paradigm shift in how assessment is typically viewed" (Finn & Tonsager, 1992, p. 286), in that the underlying intent is therapeutic as opposed to diagnostic. By virtue of its collaborative nature and humanistic theoretical basis, the C/TA model is well suited to counselling contexts, but need not be limited to those settings. In fact, proponents suggest the C/TA and IG paradigms are not mutually exclusive, but complementary (Finn & Tonsager, 1997, 2002). In light of the ethical requirement that psychologists share test results with clients, and given its theoretical and empirical basis, C/TA is a highly useful model for TFB across the diverse contexts in which psychological assessments are used, including with children, adolescents, and families (cf. Tharinger., Finn, Gentry, Hamilton, et al., 2009). Moreover, because C/TA intentionally focuses on the clinician-client

relationship, it is able to capitalize on the benefits of the working alliance, which has been shown by extensive research to be one of the best predictors of psychotherapy treatment outcome (Orlinsky, Ronnestad, & Willutski, 2004). Curry and Hanson (2010) highlighted that correctly administered TA leaves the client feeling better, promotes client engagement in the assessment process, and meets the ethical requirements to share test results with clients. As such, TFB delivered in a manner consistent with the C/TA model is very likely to be understandable, meaningful and useful to the client, thus fully embodying ethical practice.

Assessment and Test Feedback Training

Based on a review of the psychological assessment research literature published between 1960 and 1990, Watkins (1991) made 14 conclusions substantiating the continued use of assessments in clinical practice, and underscoring the importance of promoting assessment competence in graduate training programs. However, not all subfields or specializations within psychology (clinical, counselling, school, neuropsychology, etc.) view assessment in the same way, nor are graduates from these programs necessarily on equal footing in terms of competence. For example, the use of psychological assessment in counselling settings has historically been an issue of some debate. Goldman (1972) argued that counsellors often lack the requisite training in test administration, scoring and interpretation to provide useful FB beyond that required for classification, even referring to the assessment-counselling relationship as "the marriage that failed". Other research has demonstrated that assessment training in graduate programs in general is often deficient relative to the expectations that are placed on clinicians in internship and employment settings (Clemence & Handler, 2001; Krishnamurthy, VandeCreek, Kaslow, Tazeau et al., 2004; May & Scott, 1991; Stedman, Hatch, & Schoenfeld, 2000). While it has been argued that inadequately trained psychologists should be limited in the

degree to which they perform assessments until they can demonstrate measurement competency (Goldman, 1972; Prediger, 1994), Hohenshil (1996) emphasized the pragmatic reality that counselling psychologists are required by employers, licensing bodies, and insurance providers to formally diagnose developmental problems and mental disorders as part of their practice, despite what may be insufficient training.

On the other hand, researchers also suggest that assessment competency must extend beyond the realm of psychometrics, measurement, administration and interpretation to include an explicit focus on TFB (e.g., Curry & Hanson, 2010; Poston & Hanson, 2010). Handler and Smith (2013) asserted that students of psychological assessment have more difficulty learning to provide TFB to clients than they do with any other aspect, emphasizing the importance of learning these skills through a combination of coursework and supervised practice. Dana (1985) also alluded to the importance of TFB training, highlighting the tendency for clinician's to deliver incomplete FB as a consequence of not considering (1) their motivation for providing it, (2) the clients' ability to access resources and utilize TFB, and (3) the absence of established criteria for determining what is/is not adequate TFB. He asserted that considering the impact of each of these factors, including interaction among them, promotes feedback coherence making it more comprehensible, meaningful and manageable for the client (Dana, 1985). Brenner (2003) argued that building relationships, collaborating with clients, and providing ongoing FB are fundamentally important to the validity of any assessment. He identified 5 research-based responses to enhance the relevance of assessment: (1) Eliminate jargon, (2) focus on referral questions, (3) individualize reports, (4) emphasize client strengths, and (5) include concrete recommendations. Interestingly, all of these recommendations pertain directly to TFB, and making progress in these areas denotes a crucial role for training programs in equipping future

practitioners. Although counselling programs may have ample room for improvement in terms of instilling measurement competency, they arguably have much to offer in exemplifying TFB competence. By utilizing collaborative assessment models to advance TFB practice, training and research, counselling psychologists have an opportunity to carve out a unique and critical role among assessment professionals.

Curry and Hanson (2010) made a number of research-based recommendations for graduate students learning psychological assessment, arguing for an increased focus on TFB competence. First, they recommended that relevant ethical principles and codes be highlighted throughout the training process to promote familiarity with appropriate standards and guidelines. Second, they recommended that educators familiarize themselves with the published literature and research-based models that can facilitate more effective TFB practice, training and research. Third, that graduate students learn to provide TFB in a variety of ways including modeling, role-playing, and in vivo debriefing sessions, emphasizing the need for students to get hands-on experience providing TFB and to receive immediate FB from professors and supervisors in this area. Fourth, that students be made aware of psychologists' tendency to feel apprehensive about delivering undesirable TFB (i.e., 'breaking bad news'), arguing that trainees should instead understand the capacity of TFB to realize numerous therapeutic benefits in those cases (cf. Merker, Hanson, & Poston, 2010). Finally, that various national councils, task forces, researchers, and educators regard TFB as an integral assessment competency in its own right.

Curry and Hanson's (2010) study has received four Social Science Citation Index (SSCI) citations and 10 Google Scholar citations since publication four years ago. One of the SSCI studies examined offenders' perceptions of risk factors increasing the likelihood of future offending (Holliday, King, & Heilbrun, 2013); another focused on the clinical case applications

of personality assessments (Smith, Erard & Handler, 2013), and a third on the effects of delivering written versus verbal neuropsychological TFB (Fallows & Hilsabeck, 2013). One of the meta-analyses regarding the effects of PATI (Hanson & Poston, 2011) was a self-citation. While these citations are encouraging, the absence of extensive activity in the research community suggests these recommendations have, thus far, gone largely unnoticed. However, the extent to which educators and trainees are embracing these or similar recommendations remains to be seen.

Review of Research on Test Feedback and Collaborative/Therapeutic Assessment

Here, for this study, the PsychINFO database was searched using the terms "feedback and psychological assessment". The search was de-limited to include only peer reviewed journal articles published in the English language, using human subjects between 1980 and the present. The rationale for reviewing relatively recent studies was based on the C/TA model not becoming widely known or practiced until the mid 1990s, and the desire to include enough literature to provide sufficient historical context while focusing on the most relevant publications. Single participant case studies, conference presentations, and unpublished theses or dissertations were not included. The search produced a total of 83 results. Of these 83 articles, 25 were empirical studies focusing on clinician's TFB practices; the rest were either unrelated (e.g., focusing on TFB for clinicians, scale development/validation, etc.), theoretical in nature, or could not be located. In addition to the PsychINFO literature search, a number of outcome and process studies that examined the treatment efficacy and clinical utility of TFB were also included, most of which utilized the C/TA model. All told, this review consisted of 30 studies, (four survey studies, 20 outcome studies – organized according to dependent variables– and six process studies).

Overview of Collaborative/Therapeutic Assessment Research. To date, research has provided strong, empirically supportive evidence that the C/TA model offers many benefits to the processes and outcomes of assessment and treatment. Positive effects for adults, children, adolescents and couples presenting with a variety of problems have been demonstrated with both outpatient and inpatient populations. These include decreased client symptomatology, improved treatment alliance, heightened compliance with treatment recommendations, enhanced self-esteem and increased levels of hope, with global composite effect sizes hovering around .40 (Ackerman, Hilsenroth, Baity, & Blagys, 2000; Hanson, Claiborn, & Kerr, 1997; Hilsenroth, Peters & Ackerman, 2004; Meyer, et al., 2001; Ougrin, Zundel, Ng, Habel, et al., 2013; Poston & Hanson, 2010). However, there are a number of limitations to this accumulating research. First, a sizable proportion of the C/TA publications are theoretical in nature, articulating the development or philosophical foundations of the model (cf. Finn & Tonsager, 2002), or arguing for the applicability of C/TA to a particular population or context (cf. Theringer, Finn, Hersh, Wilkinson, et al., 2008). Second, much of the empirical research on the C/TA model is made up of clinical/case studies or narratives (cf. Hamilton, Fowler, Hersh, Austin, et al., 2009; Wygant & Flemming, 2008). Although designs of this nature serve to illustrate different applications of the C/TA model, they are extremely limited in their ability to establish treatment effects, effect sizes, or generalizability beyond their particular context. Third, the existing outcome research uses relatively small sample sizes, very few studies have been replicated, and follow-up, when present, is typically sort-term. Fourth, much of the outcome research involves treatment components that are not unique to C/TA and might be better explained by different change mechanisms or processes (e.g., common factors; cf. Wampold, 2001), limiting the extent to which the therapeutic effects of C/TA can be directly attributed to it (Lilienfeld et al, 2011).

What is lacking are well-designed experimental studies that control for potential confounds as well as dismantling studies that tease apart the unique contributions and active components of C/TA corresponding to its improved outcomes.

Survey research thus far has examined the prevalence of psychologists providing TFB to clients, among other professional activities. Quantitative designs using descriptive statistics predominate, although one study utilized a MMR design. Half of the studies employed random sampling, and the other, census-sampling strategies. Interestingly, three of the four survey studies inquired with psychologists with just one surveying clients who recently completed a neuropsychological assessment. Broadly speaking, the results indicate the majority of psychologists favor the provision of TFB to clients, and most report doing so in some form. However, the results also suggest that TFB is not provided consistently, identifying ample room for improvement in this area. A common strength of the existing studies is that they underscore the importance of providing TFB to clients and identify important factors involved in this activity (e.g., clinicians' training, practice setting, level of experience). However, these studies offer little in terms of establishing how clients benefit from receiving TFB, and how those benefits might be enhanced.

The 20 outcome studies reviewed focus on the effects of clients receiving TFB on the outcomes of therapy/treatment. Typical RQs are as follows: "What effect does a collaborative assessment approach, including TFB, have on client symptomatology, treatment alliance, compliance with treatment recommendations, self-esteem?" Quantitative studies using experimental and quasi-experimental designs predominate; the majority use convenience-samples composed of community-based adult outpatients or undergraduate students. In general, these studies demonstrate that clients experience tangible benefits as a result of TFB, with

average effect sizes falling in the small to medium range. The primary strength of this body or research is the experimental designs employed suggest a causal relationship between receiving TFB and improved treatment outcomes. However, outcomes in these studies largely rely on self-report measures, making demand characteristics a legitimate threat to internal validity (cf. Nichols & Maner, 2008). The frequently utilized repeated measures design is also prone to a number of threats to internal validity (i.e., history, maturation, testing effects; Shadish, Cook, & Campbell, 2002) that are often insufficiently addressed or discussed. The most notable weakness of these studies, however, is they fail to identify specific therapeutic components (i.e., the 'active ingredients') of C/TA and TFB that account for its beneficial effects.

The six process studies reviewed focus on specific TFB activities taking place during the assessment, most of which involve making a connection between a specific activity (e.g., providing written versus verbal TFB) and a particular outcome (e.g., clients' ratings of session impact). Typical RQs focus on specific processes such as delivery format or style. For example, "What impact does a personable versus detached/factual interpretation style in a TFB session have on participants' perception of their test results?" One qualitative study explored the processes underlying significant TFB events from both the clients' and the clinician's perspective; however, experimental and quasi-experimental quantitative designs predominate. The majority of studies are conducted on adult outpatient populations and undergraduate students, typically using convenience-sampling strategies with existing clients presenting for treatment at community or university-based mental health clinics. The primary strength of these studies is they identify specific processes that are significant for clients in terms of them deriving benefits from TFB, providing important clues regarding its curative mechanisms. A common weakness of these studies is they often use existing convenience samples, as opposed

to random samples from target populations. As a result, the extent to which the results from these studies can be generalized beyond these samples (i.e., to those who do not present for treatment, and who may be less motivated to improve) remains unknown, qualitative studies notwithstanding.

Survey Research

In one of the first published survey studies, Berndt (1983) examined professional and ethical issues relevant to psychologists providing TFB through a national survey. A random sample of 100 members of the Society for Personality Assessment received a brief survey by mail, resulting in a useable return rate of 72% (n = 72). Results indicated the majority of respondents reported regularly providing TFB to clients on both objective and projective personality tests. However, the extent of the FB delivered depended on the clients' personal and cognitive strengths, the type of instrument used, the purpose of the assessment, and several clinician factors (i.e., perceived role, temperament, habit). This study highlighted the general willingness and tendency of psychologists to provide TFB to clients to some extent and in some form, and identified a number of factors that appear to have a bearing on psychologists' TFB practices. However, it also indicated ample room for growth in the profession in meeting established ethical guidelines.

Bennett-Levy, Klein-Boonschate, Batchlor, McCarter et al. (1994) explored the experiences of clients' recently completing a neuropsychological assessment. In this study, the authors used a census sampling technique, mailing questionnaires to 253 clients who had been assessed at one of five Australian outpatient clinics during the previous six months. The survey yielded a useable response rate of 51% (n = 129). Measures included respondents' global evaluation of their assessment experience, their affective experience, level of confidence, and

the impact of the assessment on how they viewed their abilities and their future. The results indicated only 68% of respondents received in-person TFB, and 67% (98.5% of those receiving TFB) identified in-person FB as helpful. Only 26% of respondents indicated receiving written TFB, and 59% indicated they would have benefited from more FB. Respondents identified the overall experience of the assessment as either positive (56%) or neutral (35%); 47% felt 'about the same' following the assessment, while 36% reported feeling better than when they came. Sixty percent of respondents reported experiencing similar levels of confidence following the assessment than prior to it, while 28% indicated feeling more confident. Finally, almost half of respondents (47%) reported viewing their abilities differently, and 44% indicated viewing their futures differently following the assessment. Factors shown to impact clients' assessment experience included, (1) the clients' expectations of the assessment, (2) whether or not the clinician prepared the client, (3) the perceived relevance of the assessment, (4) the length of test administration, and (5) whether or not they were given understandable TFB. Most importantly, over a third of respondents reported not receiving TFB, and a clear majority indicated they would have benefited from more extensive FB.

Smith, Wiggins and Gorske (2007) conducted a survey of psychologists in the U.S. who regularly conduct neuropsychology and personality assessments to determine how consistently clinicians provide TFB to clients. The authors randomly sampled potential respondents from three professional rosters, and recruitment efforts yielded a usable response rate of 22% (n = 719). The results indicated that the majority of respondents (71%) frequently provide in-person TFB to clients, and that most clinicians (72%) perceive that clients experience TFB as 'positive and helpful'. Interestingly, more experienced psychologists were more likely to approach the assessment in a collaborative manner than their less experienced colleagues. Psychologists who

conduct personality assessments were also more likely to include the client in interpreting the test results than those conducting neuropsychological assessments, which the authors attributed partially to the nature of personality assessments and partially to the influence of C/TA theory and research on TFB practices, citing Finn and Tonsager (1997) and Fischer (2000). This study also provides support for the general tendency of psychologists to present TFB to clients to some extent. It also suggests that psychologists' level of experience and the type of instruments used may have an impact on their TFB practices.

Curry and Hanson (2010) examined the practice and training of providing clients with TFB among American psychologists. Utilizing a sequential explanatory MMR design, the authors sought to shed light on psychologists' provision of TFB to clients, highlighting typically unexplored aspects of assessment such as the clients' level of involvement in the assessment process and the degree to which training programs prepare psychologists to provide TFB. Through a national survey of clinical, counselling and school psychologists using a random sampling strategy yielding a usable response rate of 48.5% (n = 468), Curry and Hanson (2010) found that 91.7% of respondents reported providing TFB to clients at least sometimes, 35% reported doing so all of the time, and 2.8% reported never providing TFB. Recently graduated clinical psychologists were more likely to report providing TFB than those who earned their degrees earlier, although this difference was not observed in non-clinical psychologists. Almost a third of respondents indicated that pre-doctoral training was minimally helpful in learning to provide TFB, and finding pre-doctoral training helpful was not associated with actually providing TFB. However, the perceived helpfulness of post-doctoral training positively correlated with providing TFB. The primary method of learning indicated by respondents who provide TFB was trial-and-error and the most common reason for not providing TFB was

conducting assessments in forensic settings, in keeping with ethical exemptions (cf. APA, 2002). These results highlight the common, though inconsistent practice of providing TFB to clients, suggesting that training and the context in which assessments are conducted are important factors in TFB practice.

Outcome Research

Meta-Analysis of Psychological Assessment as a Therapeutic Intervention. Poston and Hanson (2010) conducted a meta-analysis of 17 published empirical studies examining Psychological Assessment as a Therapeutic Intervention (PATI). The authors computed 70 effect sizes involving 1496 participants, yielding a global composite effect size falling in the medium range (d = 0.423), with 66% of treatment group means falling above those of control and comparison groups. These results suggest that psychological assessment, coupled with personally relevant and collaborative TFB, has a significant and sizable impact on the outcomes and processes of treatment. In response, Lilienfeld, Garb and Wood (2011), argued that Poston and Hanson (2010) might have overestimated the beneficial effects of PATI, claiming that a number of questions remained unaddressed. Specifically, Lilienfeld et al. (2011) argued that, because the analyses included studies involving treatment components besides those prescribed by PATI, improved outcomes could not be directly attributed to it. They also raised the possibility that clients receiving PATI may improve as a result of the Forer, or better-known Barnum, effect (cf. Meehl, 1956), and pointed out that a number of studies yielding nonsignificant results were excluded from the analysis. In response, Hanson and Poston (2011) published another meta-analysis that incorporated the suggestions made by Lilienfeld et al. (2011), re-analyzing the data from the original study. They computed 71 effect sizes, yielding a global effect size of d = .403, thereby substantiating their original results and the overall

efficacy of PATI. They also offered a number of alternative explanations that might account for the beneficial effects of PATI other than the Barnum effect (i.e., social influence, common factors, and self-psychology). Finally, Hanson and Poston (2011) emphasized the need for further collaborative study, involving proponents and critics alike, to identify the specific change mechanisms of PATI.

Symptomatology, Self-Esteem and Hope. Several studies have examined the effect of C/TA on client symptomatology, self-esteem and hope with adult outpatient populations. Finn and Tonsager (1992) used a 2 (group) X 3 (time) repeated measures experimental design to examine the benefits of providing verbal TFB to clients based on the results of an objective personality assessment (MMPI-2). Participants (n = 61) were selected from a treatment waitlist at a university counselling center and randomly assigned to either the treatment or control condition. Treatment and control groups did not differ systematically with respect to age, sex, or elapsed time since treatment, and demonstrated pre-treatment equivalency on all outcome variables. The authors manipulated the presence of verbal collaborative TFB, as articulated by Fisher (1985), based on clients' MMPI-2 results. The treatment group (n = 32) evidenced significantly higher levels of hope and increased self-esteem, as well as decreased symptomatic distress following treatment relative to controls (n = 29) with an overall effect size in the large range (Cohen's d = 0.85). Interestingly, the treatment group indicated even lower levels of distress and higher levels of self-esteem at 2-weeks follow-up than immediately after TFB, suggesting an increase in the benefits of TFB over time. While there are a number of methodological problems with this study (e.g., controls did not complete an MMPI-2; specific TFB components accounting for improvements in the treatment group were not identified), it

provided some evidence that psychological testing can be a therapeutic intervention in its own right.

Newman and Greenway (1997) sought to replicate the results of Finn and Tonsager (1992). Accordingly, the authors also used a 2 (group) X 3 (time) repeated measures experimental design to examine the benefits of providing TFB to clients based on MMPI-2 results. Participants (n = 60) were selected from a treatment waitlist at a university-counselling center, and randomly assigned to one of 2 conditions. The authors manipulated the presence of collaborative, empathetic TFB. As hypothesized, the treatment group evidenced higher levels of hope and increased self-esteem, as well as decreased symptomatic distress following treatment relative to controls, with an overall effect size in the small range (d = 0.35). Specifically, clients in the treatment group reported a significant increase in self-esteem immediately following the FB session, and a further increase at 2-weeks follow-up. The treatment group also indicated significant declines in symptomatic distress between the FB session and follow-up. While Finn and Tonsager (1992) found that clients identifying the assessment process as a positive experience evidenced more substantial changes on outcome variables, Newman and Greenway (1997) did not find that client satisfaction was associated with decreased distress or improved self-esteem. They also found that changes in outcome variables were not related to the clients' level of private self-consciousness, type or extent of psychopathology, or their attitude toward mental health professionals. As in the original study, Newman and Greenway (1997) were not able to identify specific therapeutic components of providing TFB to clients. However, they did make a number of methodological improvements (most notably, both treatment and control groups completed an MMPI-2), and provide further support for the therapeutic value of sharing test results with clients. It also suggested that the clients' ability to benefit from TFB may not be impacted to a great extent by a number of factors previously regarded as influential (e.g., psychopathology; attitude toward clinician), resulting in the conclusion that "feedback should be offered to all clients" (p. 129).

An experimental study by Allen, Montgomery, Tubman, Frazier and Escovar (2003), examined the effects of TFB on rapport and self-enhancement. Participants were a convenience sample of undergraduate university students (n = 83) who completed an inventory of personality styles. Those in the treatment group receiving personalized TFB after completing the measure evaluated both the examiner and the FB session more positively than those who received generic FB about the inventory. Participants in the treatment group also evidenced significantly higher scores on measures of self-verification, self-esteem, and self-discovery/understanding than those who received generic FB, with an overall effect size in the large range (d = 0.85). These results suggest that rapport may be a necessary precursor to the working alliance and that the therapeutic utility of the C/TA model may be, at least in part, a result of its capacity to establish rapport and enhance clients' self-image.

A clinical effectiveness study by Holm-Denoma, Gordon, Donohue, Waesche et al., (2008) examined clients' emotional response to TFB that involved communicating a diagnosis. Using a within-subjects design with a sample of community-based adult outpatients (n = 53), the researchers measured clients' mood and attitude toward therapy at five points during the assessment process. Clients' emotional response and attitude were measured using the Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) and the positive and negative Visual Analogue Scale (VAS). Clients evidenced significant increases in positive emotions, including hope and validation as they progressed through treatment, and particularly following the TFB session (F = 6.28, p < .001). While clients evidenced a significant decrease in negative emotion (i.e., fear and shame)

over time, substantial decreases were not observed following the TFB session (F = 2.64, p > 0.05). These results suggest that diagnostic TFB communicated in a therapeutic way can elevate positive emotions in clients, and that diagnostic FB does not necessarily increase negative emotion. If delivered in the context of a supportive and collaborative assessment, diagnostic TFB may actually increase positive emotion in clients.

Compliance with Treatment Recommendations. Ackerman, Hilsenroth, Baity, and Blagys (2000), studied the impact of the clinician's approach to assessment on clients' insession processes, including their wiliness to comply with treatment recommendations. The authors used a community-based sample of adult outpatients with a range of DSM-IV diagnoses seeking treatment at a university-based outpatient mental health clinic. They found that participants in the treatment condition (n = 38) receiving an assessment consistent with the C/TA model were significantly more likely to complete the assessment and engage in subsequent treatment relative to controls (n = 90) who completed an assessment conducted according to the IG approach, with an overall effect size falling in the small to medium range (d = 0.42). The clinician-client relationships that developed during assessment were associated with positive working alliances in subsequent therapy and participants in the treatment group were more likely to follow through with treatment recommendations. These results indicate that TFB delivered according to the C/TA model can establish the foundation for a solid working alliance, which has been shown to be a key predictor of psychotherapy outcome (cf. Orlinsky, Ronnestad, & Willutski, 2004).

Ougrin, Ng, Low, and Zundel (2008) conducted a pilot study examining the impacts of C/TA on self-harming adolescents complying with treatment recommendations. Using a quasi-experimental design, the authors assigned participants (n = 38) to either the treatment group (n = 38) to either the treatment group (n = 38)

19), receiving a psychosocial assessment according to the C/TA model, or the control group (n =19) receiving assessment as usual (AAU). The study was conducted over a period of five months with all eligible adolescents receiving one form of assessment only. Participants were outpatient adolescents referred to one of two inner-city London (UK) hospitals for a variety of self-harm behaviours. The groups were matched to control for the effects of demographic variables, and demonstrated satisfactory pre-treatment equivalence. Seven mental health professionals received 10 hours of training in TA, along with continued evaluation and supervision. Three of these clinicians implemented the TA model on all eligible referrals (i.e., self-harming adolescents) while the remaining clinicians continued with AAU. Assessment of all participants involved a standard psychosocial history and risk assessment, while the treatment group received an added TA component (written TFB). The results indicated that those in the treatment group were significantly more likely to attend the first follow-up appointment after the assessment ($X^2 = 3.89$, p < 0.05), and to engage in subsequent treatment $(X^2 = 4.49, p < 0.05)$. These results provide some evidence that C/TA is an effective means of improving treatment compliance among self-harming adolescents, and that it may be an efficacious brief intervention in risk assessment situations in its own right.

Therapeutic Alliance in Subsequent Psychotherapy. Hilsenroth, Peters and Ackerman (2004) examined the relationship between the therapeutic alliance formed during psychological assessment using the C/TA model on the working alliance in later psychotherapy. The study involved diverse adult outpatient clients (n = 42) presenting for treatment at a university-based community outpatient clinic, all of who had at least one *DSM-IV*, Axis I diagnosis. Using established and validated rating scales, the authors measured the working alliance from the perspective of both clients and clinicians at the conclusion of the TFB session, and again in the

early and later stages of subsequent psychotherapy. Working alliance ratings following the assessment were consistent with ratings in subsequent psychotherapy, and were significantly higher than controls participating in an assessment using an IG approach, with an overall effect size in the large range (d = 1.02) These results indicate assessment involving collaborative, personally relevant TFB promotes the formation of client-clinician bonds, setting the stage for effective treatment.

Suicide Attempts and Days in Hospital. Jobes, Wong, Conrad, Drozd, et al. (2005) conducted archival research to determine the effectiveness of a collaborative model for assessing suicidality. The collaborative assessment and management of suicidality (CAMS) is a clinical model that was developed by the authors for identifying, assessing and managing suicidal outpatients – one that emphasizes a collaborative/interactive approach to suicidal risk assessment (RA) intentionally designed to establish and enhance the therapeutic alliance, and move away from more directive models. Participants in this study were individuals receiving care at two U.S. Air Force medical group outpatient facilities. The authors retrospectively examined two distinct groups of client-clinician dyads, both of which were receiving CBT for a mood disorder and/or adjustment disorder with a mood component. As such, the CAMS model was employed at only one of these facilities. The groups showed no systematic differences on demographic variables, and demonstrated satisfactory pre-treatment equivalence. The results showed a significant effect for participants in the treatment group (receiving CAMS; n = 25) to resolve their struggles with suicidal ideation more readily (i.e., an average of four fewer sessions) than those in the treatment-as-usual control group (n = 30) with an overall effect size in the medium to large range (d = 0.68). Those in the treatment group also utilized significantly less health care resources in the six-month period following the onset of treatment for suicidality with an effect size in the medium range (d = 0.47). The results of this study suggest that a collaborative approach to suicide RA has a substantive benefit for clients, both in terms of treatment response and reduced demand on healthcare resources.

In a similar way, Vandecreek (2009) argued for the importance of providing clients with TFB regarding difficult issues such as suicide. Drawing on the work of Tharinger, Finn, Hersh, Wilkinson, et al. (2008), in which clients receiving candid TFB in the context of a supportive and collaborative relationship were more open to developing 'a new life story', Vandecreek (2009) argued that similar principles apply to discussing suicidal ideation with clients.

Interestignly, Merker, Hanson and Poston (2010) conducted a survey study of licensed psychologists in the U.S. regarding their practice and training of 'breaking bad news' (i.e., providing undesirable or 'negative' TFB) to clients. The results showed that, although the majority of psychologists reported breaking bad news to some extent, they indicated being much more reluctant to break bad news than good news, and psychologists' own level of anxiety was identified as the biggest factor in their reluctance. Taken together, these studies underscore the capacity of C/TA approaches to enable psychologists to provide hard-to-hear TFB in an effective and empathic manner.

Improved Treatment Response for Personality Disorder. Morey, Lowmaster and Hopwood (2010) examined the effects of a manualized cognitive therapy intervention with a C/TA augmentation for borderline personality disorder (BPD) with suicidal ideation in a community-based adult outpatient population. Using a within-subjects repeated measures design, the authors randomly assigned the participants (n = 16) to the treatment and control groups, with both groups receiving the manualized intervention, and the treatment group receiving an additional C/TA augmentation based on Finn's (2007) TA model. Both groups

demonstrated pre-treatment equivalence and did not differ systematically on any demographic variables. Although there was considerable attrition, with only 7 participants completing the intervention, the results indicated all participants completing the intervention saw substantial improvement in borderline features from pre to post-test with a large effect size (d = 1.07), as well as improvement in self-harm with an effect size in the medium range (d = 0.48). While the treatment group did not show lower attrition rates, they did demonstrate better treatment response, and a larger improvement over time relative to controls. Though attrition rates pose a serious problem to the generalizability of this study, the results provide some preliminary evidence that C/TA may be a helpful adjunct to improve established treatments for severe personality disturbance.

Distress, Self-esteem, Emotional Reactivity. Aldea, Rice, Gormley and Rojas (2010) conducted a randomized controlled clinical trial on the effects of university students receiving TFB regarding maladaptive perfectionism. Participants were university students (n = 60) self-identifying as maladaptive perfectionists through a prescreening procedure. The researchers randomly assigned participants to either the treatment (TFB) or control (no TFB) condition. Groups did not differ systematically on demographic variables and demonstrated satisfactory pre-treatment equivalence. Clinicians were 'blind' regarding which condition participants were assigned to until immediately before the FB session, although they conducted interviews with participants in both groups. The treatment group evidenced significant reductions in emotional reactivity and symptomatic distress relative to controls, suggesting personalized TBF delivered according to the C/TA model positively impacts maladaptive perfectionism and a number of its associated features.

Public Binge Drinking Rates. Wild, Cunningham and Roberts (2007) examined the impact of providing brief personalized assessment FB on rates of binge drinking. In this community-based randomized control trial, participants interested in receiving self-help materials (n = 1727) were randomly assigned to either the treatment group (n = 877), receiving personalized assessment FB by mail regarding normative drinking rates in the general public, or the delayed-treatment control group (n = 850), receiving the intervention at a later point in time. Using the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test as well as frequency and quantity of alcohol consumption as dependent measures, participants completed both pre and postintervention batteries. The results indicated problem drinkers in the treatment group reported a 10.1% reduction in binge drinking at six-months follow up, producing an overall effect size in the small range (d = 0.21). No change in binge drinking was reported among problem drinkers in the control group, and no differences between pre and post-assessment were observed in nonproblem drinkers in either condition. These results suggest that brief personalized FB can positively impact rates of binge drinking among problem drinkers who often do not present for treatment or assessment. Interventions such as this may be effective community-based public health initiatives.

Child Symptomatology and Family Relations. Tharinger, Finn, Gentry, Hamilton et al., (2009) conducted a pilot study on the treatment efficacy of TA with children and their families. The authors utilized a repeated measures case studies design to determine the impact of TA for children. Participants were dyads of clinically referred children presenting with a variety of emotional and behavioural problems and their mothers (n = 14 dyads). Prior to the intervention, mothers and children completed separate batteries that included behavioural, family functioning, client satisfaction, and parental emotion measures. The intervention

consisted of approximately 12 hours of C/TA delivered over the course of 8 sessions by advanced graduate students according to an established protocol, although some flexibility in administration was permitted. The intervention involved ongoing assessment using a variety of behavioural, cognitive, projective and objective personality instruments. Parents attended all sessions, often observing behind a one-way glass, and clinicians provided FB on a continual basis throughout the intervention. Following formal testing, a structured family intervention was held to present/discuss the results in order to "bring them alive" (p. 241), and the final TFB session saw clinicians compose and present a personalized fable to the child based on the assessment results. At the conclusion of the intervention, the same batteries were readministered to children and parents. Results indicated a significant decrease in mother's ratings of externalizing and internalizing problems, with small to medium (d = 0.41) and small effect sizes (d = .28) respectively. Children and mothers both reported a significant increase in family connections (i.e., improved communication and cohesion) with medium (d = .50) and small to medium effect sizes (d = 0.38) respectively. Lastly, mothers reported a significant increase in positive emotion, and a significant decrease in negative emotion towards their children, with medium (d = .58) and large effect sizes (d = 1.18) respectively. While the small sample size and design (i.e., no control group) limit the ability to detect a treatment effect and to generalize results beyond the participants, this study provides preliminary evidence that C/TA may be an efficacious intervention for children presenting with substantial emotional and behavioural problems and their families.

Smith, Handler and Nash (2010) examined the efficacy of C/TA for preadolescent males presenting with oppositional defiant disorder (ODD) and their families. The authors used several single-case time-series designs (n = 3 families) to track participant change over time.

Participants ranged from 9-12 years of age, met DSM-IV criteria for ODD, and were referred by their parents for assessment or therapy to a university-based outpatient clinic. The C/TA intervention followed a comprehensive TA For Families model (cf. Tharinger et al., 2009) involving approximately nine weekly sessions, each of which was 1-2 hours in length. The intervention consisted of an initial meeting, three to four testing sessions, a family intervention session, a summary and discussion session, a child TFB session, and a 60-day follow-up session. A graduate student in clinical psychology conducted the intervention under close supervision by a TA expert. The authors took great care to insure intervention was delivered with fidelity; clients continually and systematically assessed the clinician's competence, and TFB was provided on an ongoing basis. Parents and children completed comprehensive behavioural measures throughout the intervention, and again at follow-up. Results indicated that all children and parents reported substantial improvement in multiple areas of functioning, as indicated by combined dependent variable scores from pre to post-test assessment (Significant p values using Bonferroni correction; Case 1 = .008, Case 2 = .025, Case 3 = .008). In two of these cases, parents and children reported further improvements on outcome measures at followup. These results provide some evidence that children presenting with behavioural problems and their families experience substantial benefits from TFB and assessment using the C/TA model.

Dyadic Satisfaction and Relational Commitment. Worthington, McCullough, Shortz, Mindes, et al. (1995) examined the impact of receiving personally relevant TFB in the context of couple's therapy. Using an experimental design, the authors manipulated the presence of individualized TFB in a sample of undergraduate couples (n = 48). They found that receiving individualized written and oral TFB had a positive, although small effect (d = 0.14) on couples' dyadic satisfaction and relational commitment relative to couples who completed inventories

without receiving TFB, suggesting TFB can have beneficial effects on enrichment interventions with couples.

Career Decision-making Self-efficacy and Career-related Beliefs. Luzzo and Day (1999) utilized a repeated-measures experimental design to examine the effects of receiving TFB based on Strong Interest Inventory (SII) results on clients' career decision-making selfefficacy (CDMSE) and career-related beliefs. Participants were undergraduate students (n =101), all of which completed measures of CDMSE and social cognitive career beliefs. They were then randomly assigned to one of three conditions in which they either completed the SII followed by a group TFB session with a career counselor (n = 52), completed the SII only with no TFB (n = 22), or formed the control group, (n = 25), completing pre and post measures only. Identical measures were then re-administered to all participants following the group TFB session. Participants in the treatment group evidenced significant increases in CDMSE relative to those in other conditions with an effect size in the medium to large range (d = 0.61) Participants in the TFB condition were also more likely to indorse the importance of control, hard work and responsibility in their decision-making process than those completing the SII only, with effect sizes in the medium to large range (i.e., control, d = 0.56; responsibility, d =0.62; working hard, d = 0.65). These results suggest that vocational/interest inventories coupled with personally relevant, collaborative TFB produce more favorable outcomes in the context of vocational assessment than in the absence of such FB. It also provides some support for the notion that TFB itself enhances treatment outcome beyond the effects of testing.

Extent of Introverted/Extroverted Social Behaviour. Sakamoto, Miura, Sakamoto and Mori (2000), examined in the effects of FB and the type of test administered (popular or academic) on subsequent social behavior. Using a 2 (FB type) X 2 (test type) X 2 (test format)

experimental design, the authors randomly assigned Japanese female undergraduate students (n = 64) to one of 8 conditions. All participants completed either a popular or academic psychological test, in either a multiple choice or open-ended response format, prior to receiving verbal FB from a confederate about whether they were extroverted or introverted. However, the type of FB given was random, and completely unrelated to the results of the test. Results identified a significant main effect for the type of FB delivered (F = 16.52, p < .01) as participants who received FB suggesting they were extroverted interacted more with a stranger (i.e., a confederate) than those who received FB implying introversion, regardless of test type and format. These results suggested that FB is a highly influential aspect of the testing process that can influence subsequent behaviour, even when it is inaccurate. These results also highlight why C/TA has been criticized for realizing its effects through mechanisms such as subjective validation or via the Forer or Barnum effect (cf. Marks, 2000; Meehl, 1956), underscoring the importance of clinicians remaining falsifiable, ensuring TFB is empirically-based and grounded in the test results.

Process Research

Client Transparency Regarding Emotional Disturbance. Walfish (2011) examined the impact of delivering process FB on clients' minimizing the extent of their emotional difficulties. In this archival study of adult outpatient professionals (n = 53) referred by third parties for comprehensive multidisciplinary competency assessments, participants completed measures of depression, anxiety and anger, as well as a complete MMPI-2. Based on the validity scales of the MMPI-2, the majority of respondents (59%) yielded invalid 'fake good' profiles as a result of 'defensive' response patterns. After clinicians presented process FB to clients regarding this apparent defensive tendency, coupled with a request for increased

openness and honesty, 90% produced valid profiles on a re-administration of the *MMPI-2*. Significant differences were also observed between pre and post FB administration on 6 of 13 *MMPI* subscales, and on measures of anxiety, anger and depression such that they were more representative of the clients' actual level of functioning in these areas. These results suggest providing process TFB to clients can enhance their willingness to engage in the assessment in a manner that reflects their actual experience, even in potentially adversarial settings where clients may have much to lose.

Significant Feedback Events. Ward (2008) sought to explore some of the processes underlying TFB through the experiences of significant FB events from the perspective of both clients (n = 6) and clinicians (n = 6). Qualitative interviews with six psychological assessment clients and six clinicians were analyzed using thematic analysis, yielding three broad categories for each group. For clients, significant feedback events were related to (1) the importance of the clinician, as evidenced by (a) feeling uniquely understood, (b) ambivalence about the clinicians' interpretive accuracy, understanding and knowledge, and (c) appreciating the clinicians' collaborative approach; (2) experience of receiving unwanted or discordant results; and (3) experiencing a shift in their attitude from general self-blame and personal deficiency to informed action through the assessment, corresponding to (a) enhanced autonomy, (b) normative comparison, and (c) specific, personally relevant TFB. From the clinicians' perspective, significant events were related to (1) the importance of involving the client in the FB process; (2) challenges regarding the specific effects of TFB; (3) indications of successful TFB; (4) clinicians' experience of transformative TFB effects (i.e., making the implicit explicit, promoting a more informed and nuanced understanding of the clients' behaviour over a global negative self-image). These results identify some of the processes by which collaborative TFB

positively impacts clients, regardless of the context of the assessment, and emphasize the importance of engaging collaboratively and empathically with the client throughout the assessment. This study is also unique in several respects; being the only study to exploring TFB experiences of both clinicians and clients, and using a qualitative methodology to explore important processes involved in TFB. As such, it serves as something of an exemplar for future qualitative inquiry in this area.

Delivered Versus Interactive Feedback. Hanson, Claiborn and Kerr (1997) examined the effect of test interpretation (TI) style on clients' ratings of session impact and counselor influence. Participants were undergraduate students (n = 26) presenting for career counselling at a university-based community mental health clinic. The authors randomly assigned participants to condition, with half of the students receiving TFB from clinicians using an interactive TI style, and the other half receiving TFB from clinicians using a delivered TI style. After the initial session, participants completed several personality and career inventories, with clinicians providing TFB to participants in the second session based on the results. The authors manipulated TI style and participants in both conditions completed a thought-listing exercise, as well as several psychotherapy process/outcome measures (i.e., the Session Evaluation Questionnaire; the Counselor Rating Form) following the FB session. The results showed that TI style did not have an effect of clients' cognitive processing, or the favorability of their thoughts. However, TI style was shown to impact clients' evaluations of the 'depth' of the session, and their evaluations of their clinician. More specifically, an interactive TI style was evaluated as being more impactful than a delivered TI style, with an effect size in the large range (d = 1.56). Clients also perceived clinicians who utilized an interactive TI style as more expert, trustworthy, and attractive than those employing a delivered TI style, with an effect size

in the large range (d = 1.21). Counterintuitively, these results suggest that clinicians who adopt a more collaborative approach with clients are seen as more credible than those who provide TFB in a manner that minimally consults or involves them.

Hanson and Claiborn (2006) employed an experimental design to examine the impact of test interpretation (TI) style on participants' perception of their test results, their ratings of the FB session, and of the clinician. Participants were randomly assigned to one of four conditions in which the authors manipulated TI style (interactive/highly involving vs. delivered/less involving) as well as FB favorability (exclusively positive vs. mixed – some positive, some potentially 'negative'). A sample of male and female undergraduate students (n = 46) completed a well-known personality test, and a doctoral counselling psychology student provided them with TFB based on the results later that session. Following TFB, participants in both conditions completed a thought-listing exercise and several psychotherapy process/outcome measures. Contrary to the author's hypotheses, an interactive TI style was not associated with higher rates of cognitive elaboration in clients, nor was it associated with more positive perceptions of the FB session, or of the clinician than the delivered TI style. However, as hypothesized, clients who received exclusively positive TFB endorsed the results as more accurate than those receiving mixed FB, with an effect size in the small range (d = 0.20). Finally, as hypothesized, although TI style had no impact on clients' helpfulness ratings, participants receiving mixed favorability TFB rated the FB session as more helpful those who received exclusively positive TFB, also with a small effect size (d = 0.26). There are a number of implications of this study. First, interpretation style may not influence the clients' perception of the FB session or of the clinician to a great extent. Second, clinicians should remain aware of clients' tendency to endorse or accept exclusively positive results, and ensure that they present the 'whole picture'

including both positive and potentially 'negative' results as –apart from the ethical obligation to present test results accurately– clients experience mixed favorability TFB as more helpful than one-dimensional FB, even if it is uniformly favorable.

Oral Versus Written Feedback. Fallows and Hilsabeck (2013) examined whether written and oral TFB was associated with greater recall of diagnostic information and treatment recommendations than oral FB alone. Participants were a sample of veterans (n = 96)undergoing a neuropsychological evaluation at a Veterans Administration clinic, presenting with dementia (22%), cognitive disorder not otherwise specified (47%) or no cognitive disorder (31%). The authors randomly assigned participants to either the treatment (written + oral TFB) or control groups (oral TFB only), with the groups showing no systematic differences on demographic variables and demonstrating satisfactory pre-treatment equivalence. The written FB constituted a two-page document containing the referral reason and the clinician's summary, impressions and recommendations that were tailored to the client. Both groups were interviewed immediately following the FB session, and again, at 1-month follow up. Although the groups did not differ in their recall of diagnostic information or adherence to treatment recommendations, the treatment group evidenced significantly improved recall for recommendations. The results of this study indicate that including multiple forms of feedback (in this case, written with oral TFB) can improve clients' recall of treatment recommendations, and suggest that clients' prefer to have written TFB as well as oral.

Providing Feedback through Personalized Fables. Tharinger and Pilgrim (2012) examined the impact of including TFB in the form of personalized fables to children undergoing traditional neuropsychological assessment consistent with an IG paradigm. Participants were children and their parents (n = 32 families) presenting with a variety of academic, behavioural

and socio-economic challenges. The authors assigned half of the participants (n = 16) to the treatment group, in which children received TFB in the form of personalized fables after their parents participated in a standard verbal debriefing session. The treatment group completed self-report outcome measures following the debriefing and TBF/fable session. The other children (n = 16) were assigned to the control group, in which children and parents received their TFB/fables after completing the assessment and outcome measures. Results indicated that both children and parents in the treatment group reported higher levels of child learning, more positive child-clinician relations, and a greater sense of collaboration relative to controls. Parents in the treatment group also reported higher levels of satisfaction with the assessment relative to controls. These results suggest that providing children with TFB through personalized fables is an effective way of engaging some of the key processes involved in families benefiting from psychological assessment, alluding to the importance of ensuring TFB is personally relevant and meaningful.

The Present Study

The purpose of this thesis study was fourfold: To (1) examine the extent to which Canadian psychologists provide TFB to clients, (2) explore whether and how training programs are equipping psychologists to provide TFB, (3) identify factors associated with Canadian psychologists' providing/not providing TFB, and (4) explore how the experiences of Canadian psychologists provide a better understanding of their TFB practices. Based on these purposes, a two-phase, sequential-explanatory MMR design was employed, using a national survey to describe current TBF practices and to identify factors associated with psychologists' provision of TFB. Although this study is closely predicated upon previous research (cf. Curry & Hanson, 2010), it represents the first inquiry into TFB practice and training in Canada. The primary

contribution of this study is application oriented. By articulating the extent to which Canadian psychologists provide TFB to clients and the degree to which training programs are preparing them to do so, awareness among psychologists, professional associations, licensing bodies, training institutions etc. can be raised regarding the many benefits of TFB. Ultimately, this heightened awareness will hopefully translate into increased rates of providing TFB to clients, licensing bodies and professional associations adopting more explicit ethical guidelines, and more intentional and comprehensive training for clinicians learning to provide TFB. A secondary scholarly contribution was establishing C/TA as a theoretically and empirically based model to guide more effective TFB research, training and practice.

A sequential-explanatory MMR design is a two-phase model that involves an initial quantitative data collection and analysis phase, followed by qualitative data collection and analysis (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011; Hanson, Creswell, Plano Clark, Petska, & Creswell, 2005). In this design, quantitative data is typically prioritized. The sequential design allows potential respondents to be selected as qualitative data sources based on the initial quantitative results. Mixed methods research also requires integrating (i.e., mixing) the data at district points in the research sequence (Cresswell & Plano Clark, 2011). In a sequential-explanatory design, the data strands are typically integrated at the interpretation phase, following data collection and analysis, effectively using the qualitative results to explain the initial quantitative findings in an attempt to understand them more completely (Hanson et al., 2005). There are a number of published studies in the counselling psychology literature that have utilized this particular design (Chusid & Cochran, 1989; Ordoff & Herr, 1996; Palmer & Cochran, 1998; Wampold, Ankarlo, Mondin, Trinidad-Carrillo et al., 1995; Poasa, Mallinckrodt, & Suzuki, 2000; Curry & Hanson, 2010). Four of these studies focus on vocational counselling, one on cultural diversity.

and the other on the America psychologists' TFB practice and training. Using the qualitative results to better understand, account for and explain the quantitative results, a sequential-explanatory MMR design was used in this study.

Rationale for Mixed Methods Design

The MMR literature underscores the importance of having a rationale for selecting a particular research design (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011). Greene, Caracelli, and Graham, (1989) identified *complementarity* as the rationale underlying the sequential-explanatory design. According to the authors, complementarity "seeks elaboration, illustration, clarification of results from one method with the results of the other method" (p. 259). Accordingly, this design was used to elaborate, clarify and expand upon the initial survey results by interviewing select respondents to facilitate a more complete understanding of their TFB practice and training.

Because the data collected in the quantitative phase may have left out important aspects of the 'bigger picture' of psychologists' TFB practices, a MMR design was used to "increase the interpretability, meaningfulness, and validity of the constructs and inquiry" (Greene et al., 1989, p. 259). In keeping with this design, the quantitative portion was conducted first, and was prioritized over the qualitative phase, prior to conducting follow-up qualitative interviews with select respondents in an attempt to explain the quantitative results, and to explore respondents' experiences in more depth.

Research Questions

Mixed methods research emphasizes the centrality and preeminence of research questions (RQs) as the driving forces behind systematic inquiry (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011). Based on the RQs posed in the present study, a MMR approach in general is necessary, while a sequential-explanatory design in particular is optimal. In keeping with this design, the

quantitative RQs inquired about (1) the extent to which Canadian psychologists deliver TFB to clients, (2) whether and how graduate and post-graduate training prepared them to provide TFB, and (3) the factors associated with psychologists providing/not providing TFB. The quantitative results were derived from a national survey of Canadian psychologists who regularly conduct assessments as part of their practice, and were then followed up with qualitative interviews with 6 individuals based on their survey responses to understand their motivation for providing/not providing clients with TFB. The qualitative phase provides a more thorough account of the experiences and perspectives of particular respondents as it relates to their TFB practices. Through the qualitative phase, the researcher sought to explore (1) how respondents with insufficient/unhelpful training learned to provide TFB to clients, (2) the motivation and rationale for psychologists not providing TFB to clients consistently, and (3) positive and negative effects of providing TFB to clients based on respondents' perspective and experience.

Quantitative and Qualitative Data Collection

The quantitative data collection for this study involved refining an existing survey instrument that was created for the original study (cf. Curry & Hanson, 2010). The items on the instrument inquired about the purposes underlying respondents' use of assessments, the extent to which they engage in particular TA practices outlined by Finn (1996), training they received in providing TFB, and a number of demographic questions. Quantitative data collection was conducted in a manner consistent with quality survey research (cf. Groves, Fowler, Couper, Lepkowski, et al., 2009) by taking a number of distinct steps: First, by discussing the limits to generalizability (see Discussion). Second, by employing a census sampling technique, including all potential respondents in the sampling frame, thereby eliminating the need for random sampling (cf. Shannon & Bradshaw, 2009). Third, by providing detailed field results, presenting

specific steps taken to improve response rates (see Method). Fourth, by including a copy of the survey instrument (see Appendix A). Qualitative data collection involved conducting six follow-up telephone interviews with individuals selected on the basis of their survey responses in order to clarify and understand their TFB practice and experience more fully.

Research Hypotheses

Based on established ethical and professional guidelines that psychologists share test results with clients (cf. APA, 2002; CPA, 2000), it was hypothesized that (1) the majority of respondents would report providing clients with TFB to some extent, in some form. Based on the importance of training in preparing psychologists to provide TFB, it was also hypothesized that (2) psychologists who found graduate and post-graduate training helpful in learning to provide TFB would report providing TFB more consistently than those who did not. The third and fourth hypotheses were based on the –presumed– increased awareness of the importance of TFB based on accumulating theoretical, practice and research literature. Accordingly, it was hypothesized that (3) recent graduates would report providing TFB to clients more frequently than those who earned their degrees earlier. In a similar way, based on an increased emphasis on TFB in contemporary training programs, it was hypothesized that (4) recent graduates would indicate their training was more helpful in learning to provide TFB than those who earned their degrees earlier.

Chapter 2: Method

Quantitative Data Collection

Quantitative Participants. Using a census sampling technique, 2,763 Canadian Psychologists were invited to complete an online survey in February and March of 2014. In the end, a total of 399 licensed psychologists participated in the study. According to the most frequent demographic responses, a typical, representative respondent was female, from a European-Canadian cultural/ethnic background, with a PhD earned approximately 17.5 years ago, practicing from a cognitive-behavioural theoretical orientation, and working in a private practice setting. According to the available current research, participants in this survey appear to represent Canadian psychologists active in assessment reasonably well (cf. Hunsley, Ronson, & Cohen, 2013; Ionita & Fitzpatrick, 2014). Based on respondents' CPA affiliations, 54.1% (n =216) specialized in clinical psychology, 21.8% (n = 87) in school psychology, 15.2% (n = 61) in counselling psychology, 13.5% (n = 54) in health psychology, and 13.03% (n = 52) in clinical neuropsychology. The remaining sections all had response rates below 10%. In terms of the various uses of assessments, respondents indicated using assessments most frequently to answer specific referral questions, followed by making/confirming diagnoses, and measuring treatment outcomes/monitoring client change. Respondents indicated using tests least frequently for courtmandated reasons, followed by using tests as a tool for building rapport. Table 1 provides a summary of these results.

Respondents reported holding graduate degrees in psychology for periods of time ranging from 1 to 62 years (M = 17.39, Mdn = 16 years, SD = 11.68). The majority indicated holding a Ph.D (76.9%, n = 307), while 2.5% (n = 10) held a Psy.D, 2% (n = 8) held an Ed.D, 3.8% (n = 15) held an M.Ed, and 12.8% (n = 51) held an MA or MSc. Finally 2% (n = 8) of

respondents indicated holding another form of graduate degree (e.g., Ph.D plus postdoctoral studies in clinical psychology). The majority of respondents (64.9%, n = 259) were female and the vast majority (90%; n = 358) self-identified as European-Canadian/White. Of the remaining respondents, 2.7% (n = 11) identified themselves as Asian/Asian Canadian, 0.7% (n = 3) as Aboriginal/First Nations/Canadian Indigenous, 0.25% (n = 1) as Metis, 0.5% (n = 2) as Hispanic/Latino/Latina,) 0.7% (n = 3) as African Canadian/Black. The second most frequently endorsed cultural/ethnic identity category was *other*, with 5% (n = 20) self-identifying as Caucasian, European-American, South Asian, Jewish, Middle Eastern, Egyptian, Ukrainian, or Canadian. By far the most common practice setting respondents indicated was private practice (43.3 %, n = 173), followed by practicing in a school/school district (11.7%, n = 47), followed by *other* (11%, n = 44), which included in a university/college psychology department (7.5%, n = 30), in a child/adolescent psychiatric or pediatric setting (5%, n = 20), general hospital (4.7%, n = 19), and in a psychiatric unit/hospital (4.5%, n = 18). Each of the remaining eight practice settings included on the survey were endorsed by less than 4.5% of respondents respectively.

Respondents also had the opportunity to describe additional uses of psychological assessments not included in the survey. A sizeable proportion of respondents (34.5%, n = 138) provided additional information that was analyzed and coded into several broad categories. They are as follows: Forty respondents (10%) reported using assessments to determine/describe clients' current level of functioning (e.g., fitness evaluations, risk assessments); 28 respondents (7%) indicated using assessments to establish treatment plans/make treatment recommendations, (e.g., determine therapy goals, identify appropriate referrals) while 18 respondents (4.5%) reported using assessments to determine clients' need or eligibility to access resources (e.g., funding, programming, insurance coverage). Less than 4.5% of respondents reported using

Table 1
Frequency of Using Assessments for Specific Purposes

Frequency	RQ	DX	МО	SE	CM	BR	TI	R	T
Never	1.8	5.3	9.0	20.1	61.7	39.1	28.3	28.3	46.9
Rarely	5.5	9.0	29.3	31.1	13.5	28.6	32.3	32.2	18.8
Sometimes	13	16.5	32.1	28.8	6.3	23.1	27.1	27.1	15.5
Frequently	27.8	29.6	20.6	15.8	5.8	7.3	9.5	9.5	12.3
Almost Always	51.6	39.6	9.0	3.8	12.5	1.8	2.8	2.8	6.5

Note. Frequencies are reported in percentages. RQ = answer specific referral questions, DX = make/confirm a diagnosis, MO = monitor treatment outcome/client change, SE = encourage the client to engage in self-exploration, CM = court-mandated reasons, BR = tool for building rapport, TI = therapeutic intervention, R = research purposes, T = training purposes. assessments for purposes other than those described above.

Respondents also identified various contexts in which, and clientele with whom they use assessments. This item was designed to allow multiple responses, and participants endorsed a mean of 3.25 (SD = 1.35) categories. Respondents indicated using assessments with adults most frequently (72.6%, n = 290), followed by adolescents (58.6%, n = 234), with children (50.3%, n = 201), as part of an interdisciplinary treatment team (43.8%, n = 175), with clients who experience severe mental illness (42.8%, n = 171), and finally, with college/university students (41.6%, n = 166). A considerable number of respondents (15.5%, n = 62) also indicated using assessments in other contexts including with the elderly, with families, with industry/organizations, and with insurance claimants.

In keeping with existing assessment survey research, respondents were asked to identify different types of assessment instruments they typically use in practice. This item was designed to allow multiple responses and participants endorsed a mean of 3.87 (SD = 1.34) categories. Respondents identified symptom-based measures (e.g., BDI, State-Trait anxiety Inventory) most frequently (76.6%, n = 306), although it was virtually identical to the prevalence of intellectual instruments (e.g., WAIS, WISC; 76.4%, n = 305). The majority of respondents also indicated using objective personality instruments (e.g., MMPI, MCMI; 67.1%, n = 268) and behavioural measures (e.g., BASC, $Conners\ Rating\ Scales$; 62.6%, n = 250), while 32% (n = 128) reported using neuropsychological instruments (e.g., COGNISTAT, RBANS), and 24.5% (n = 98) indicated using vocational/career inventories. A considerable number of respondents also reported using instruments from other categories (32.3%, n = 129), including assessing pervasive developmental disorders, memory, pain, achievement, executive functioning, phonological processing, and malingering.

In terms of the frequency of engaging in specific assessment activities consistent with Finn's (1996) TA model, over half of respondents (58.9%, n = 235) indicated obtaining assessment-specific consent beyond that required for general services such as counselling almost always, while 24.8% (n = 99) reported doing so rarely or never. The majority of respondents (89.5%, n = 357) reported preparing clients for the assessment by explaining the purpose, process, and likely outcomes almost always, while 0.5% (n = 2) indicated doing so rarely. Only 16.8% (n = 67) reported encouraging the client to generate their own personally relevant questions that could be addressed through the assessment process almost always, while 51.4% (n = 205) reported doing so rarely or never. These results are summarized in Table 2.

Survey Instrument The researcher adapted the existing survey developed by Curry and

Table 2

Frequency of Engaging in Specific Collaborative/Therapeutic Feedback Activities

Frequency	OC	PC	ECQ
Never	15	0	24.1
Rarely	9.8	0.5	27.3
Sometimes	7	1.8	18
Frequently	8	8.3	13.8
Almost Always	58.9	89.5	16.8
Missing	1.3	0	0

Note. Frequencies are reported in percentages OC = Obtain assessment-specific consent beyond initial consent to participate in treatment before administering assessments. PC = Prepare clients for the assessment (e.g., by explaining the purpose, process, likely outcomes, etc.). ECQ = Encourage the client to generate their own personally relevant questions that could be addressed through the assessment.

Hanson (2010), resulting in a 40-item instrument entitled *Assessment Feedback Practice and Training Questionnaire* (see Appendix A). Having consulted with the original author, a number of items were revised to maintain a consistent response format, allow more open-ended responses, facilitate more extensive correlational analyses, and enhance the instruments' relevance for a Canadian sample. And, several TFB clarification items were added to inquire more intentionally into specific TFB activities. Having refined several versions of the survey in consultation with its creator, the final draft was pilot tested, whereby copies were sent to two university professors and two licensed psychologists active in assessment in the Edmonton area. Feedback about completion time, sequencing, response format, and wording was solicited.

Having incorporated their input, making minor revisions as needed, the final draft was completed and an online version of the survey was created using *Qualtrics*, a web-based program for creating and distributing surveys (Qualtrics, 2014) before distributing the survey to potential respondents.

The initial question operated as a screen, to identify respondents who did not conduct assessments in their practice. Because the survey was delivered in an electronic format, respondents could not proceed beyond the first item unless they reported using assessments. The second item inquired about the frequency with which respondents use assessments, with response options ranging from 1 (*Rarely*) to 4 (*Almost Always*) on a 4-point Likert scale. All other frequency items used a 5-point Likert scale, with response options ranging from 1 (*Never*) to 5 (*Almost Always*). Items 3 through 12 focused on the purposes underlying respondents' use of assessments predicated on the uses identified by Meyer et al. (2001). Item 12 inquired about other uses of assessments, inviting respondents to describe any additional uses in an open-ended format. Items 13 and 14 inquired about the various contexts in which psychologists utilize assessments, as well as the types of instruments they use. Items 15 through 17 inquired about the extent to which respondents engage in key steps articulated in Finn's (1996) TA model.

Item 18 was designated as the primary TFB item, providing respondents with a conceptualization of TFB and inquiring about their TFB practice independent of a given format. Items 19 through 21 inquired about respondents delivering TFB in various forms (e.g., written or verbal) while items 22 through 24 inquired about respondents intentionally clarifying test results during the TFB process. Items 25 through 30 inquired about the extent to which respondents found graduate and post-graduate training helpful in learning to provide TFB, to provide a global estimate of the percentage of their training that focused explicitly on providing

TFB, and to identify the primary mode of instruction. Item 31 invited respondents to describe anything they felt was relevant to the training and practice of providing TFB that was not sufficiently covered in the survey, and encouraged them to elaborate on any prior responses if desired. Items 32 through 40 were demographic questions inquiring about the highest degree respondents attained, when that degree was attained, their biological sex, culture/ethnic background or identify, primary practice setting, theoretical orientation, and CPA section affiliations. Item 39 inquired about respondents' willingness to participate in a brief follow-up interview exploring their TFB experiences in more depth. Finally, item 40 asked participants if they would like to receive a copy of the results of the study, and if so, to provide an email address or P.O. box where they would like the results sent.

Quantitative Procedure Potential participants were selected from the CPA membership directory. In January 2014, the researcher attempted to contact the CPA administrative office by phone and email to collaborate with them in identifying and approaching potential respondents. Several weeks later, a Membership Assistant replied via email indicating the association was in the midst of a membership renewal campaign and, as a result, they were unable to respond at that time. Due to time constraints, the researcher elected to utilize the CPA membership directory and employed a census sampling strategy, including all potential respondents in the sampling frame (cf. Creswell, 2012; Shannon & Bradshaw, 2002). Accordingly, full members, fellows, and special affiliates of the CPA during the quantitative data collection phase (January – March, 2014) were identified as potential respondents, and sent an email invitation. Because psychologists in Canada are regulated at the provincial/territorial level, with some jurisdictions permitting licensure at the masters' level, the researcher also identified student affiliates as potential respondents provided they had completed at least a masters' degree in psychology and

met the remaining inclusion criteria. Thus, the researcher identified all CPA members meeting inclusion criteria who were willing to post their contact information on the directory (i.e., name, credentials and email address) as potential respondents. Inclusion criteria stipulated that respondents must (1) be licensed psychologists, (2) currently administer psychological assessments as part of their practice, (3) be members of CPA in good standing. As such, potential respondents were excluded if they were not licensed psychologists, if their primary work setting was strictly academic, or if they indicated not using assessments regularly in their practice.

A list of potential respondents' emails (n = 2763) from the directory was derived –no names were included in this list– and email addresses were entered into the *Qualtrics* survey program for distribution. All potential respondents received an email invitation to participate, including a hyperlink to the survey (see Appendix B). Respondents attempting to access the survey had to first indicate reading and understanding the *Information Letter and Consent Form* (see Appendix C), expressing their desire to participate of their own volition before receiving access. Initial invitations were sent February 10^{th} , 2014 and follow-up invitations (see Appendix D) March 5^{th} , 2014 in an attempt to maximize response rate. The survey was active between February 10^{th} and March 26^{th} , 2014. Codes were assigned to respondents' email addresses to identify potential respondents for the qualitative phase, and to facilitate data removal should a respondent wish to withdrawal from the study. All documents and files potentially linking email addresses to respondents were destroyed or deleted after data analysis.

Respondents completed and returned a total of 433 surveys, 34 of which were excluded from analysis as these respondents either did not meet inclusion criteria, or left a substantial proportion of the items unanswered. A number of potential respondents emailed the researcher

indicating that they would not be completing the survey as they no longer conducted assessments, or had recently retired. As a result, a total of 399 viable surveys were received (approximately 2.5% of all Canadian psychologists; cf. Ionita & Fitzpatrick, 2014) representing a usable response rate of 14.4%. While this response rate appears substantially lower than other survey studies in this domain (cf. Bennett-Levy, et al.; Smith, Wiggins, & Gorske, 2007), this is largely a result of different –and incomparable– sampling strategies. Here, a census sampling strategy was utilized, asking all potential respondents to determine whether or not they represent the population of interest by completing/not completing the survey, whereas other sampling strategies require researchers to identify a sampling frame of prospective participants prior to collecting data (Creswell, 2012). In the end, the overall sample size is comparable to that obtained in prior TFB research.

Quantitative Data Analysis

In accordance with the first two RQs, data analysis for the quantitative phase was appropriately straightforward. All items from the *Assessment Feedback Practice and Training Questionnaire* were first coded and entered into statistical software (*SPSS*), yielding a total of 14 variables. The researcher then derived descriptive statistics to address the first two RQs regarding the extent to which Canadian psychologists share TFB with clients, and whether or not graduate and post-graduate training prepared them to do so. The third RQ sought to identify factors associated with respondents' providing/not providing TFB to clients; inferential statistics were used for the correlational analyses (using Pearson's r) to determine whether the variables included on the survey (e.g., theoretical orientation, specialization, training, etc.) corresponded with respondents' TFB practices. A more stringent alpha value was selected ($\alpha = .01$) for the correlational analysis to guard against correlations that emerged simply due to chance. A more

stringent alpha value could have been selected by dividing the traditional alpha value (α = .05) by the tests conducted (in this case, $\alpha/14$ = .003). However, due to the exploratory and preliminary nature of this research, the median value (α = .01) was selected, as the potential error associated with this value was deemed to be a tolerable risk in order to ascertain potentially important TFB practice data. Additionally, in order to get a broad understanding of the variables associated with providing/not providing TFB, all of the relevant TFB activities were incorporated into one TFB variable. By virtue of the strong correlations among 3 of the 4 TFB items (items 18 through 20), and all of the TFB clarification/elaboration items (items 22 through 24) (average Pearson's r = .69), a single TFB variable was computed using *SPSS* that was then used for the correlational analyses. In effect, this TFB 'super variable' represents the mean (average) Likert scale score across the TFB variables described above, and was included to collapse IG and C/TA TFB activities into a single variable. This decision was also made on the basis of the exploratory nature of this research among Canadian psychologists.

Qualitative Data Collection

Participants. Purposive sampling is used predominately in qualitative research, and involves selecting particular respondents to address specific research questions (Creswell, 2013; Teddlie & Yu, 2007), and this sampling method was used to select individuals for follow-up interviews to address the fourth RQ. Based on the quantitative data analysis, two groups of individuals were identified. The first group (group 1) was composed of respondents who reported regularly providing TFB to clients, despite insufficient training. The second group (group 2) consisted of respondents regularly conducting assessments, but not providing TFB to clients consistently. In order to be eligible for either group, potential respondents had to indicate their willingness to be contacted for a follow-up interview. Inclusion criteria for group 1

required respondents to either *disagree* or *strongly disagree* that graduate and post-graduate training effectively prepared them to provide TFB to clients (items 25 and 28). They also had to report providing at least one form of TFB either *frequently* or *almost always* on items 18 through 20. Inclusion criteria for group 2 required respondents to indicate either not providing TFB to clients, or doing so inconsistently by endorsing either *sometimes*, *rarely* or *never* on all TFB items.

In total, 32% of respondents (n = 126) indicated they were willing to be contacted for an interview; however only 12 of these participants met inclusion criteria for group 1, and just 8 met criteria for group 2. Using a random numbers generator, 5 respondents were selected from each group and all 10 potential respondents were invited to participate in a follow-up telephone interview via email (see Appendix E). A total of 6 respondents (3 per group) replied to this invitation, and were successfully contacted and interviewed. For group 1 respondents, 2 were female and 1 was male. All held PhDs for periods of time ranging from 1 to 15 years (M = 6; SD = 7.8). For group 2 respondents, 2 were female and 1 was male, and all held PhDs for periods of time ranging from 3 to 33 years (M = 17.33, SD = 15.04).

Interview Procedure A narrative inquiry approach was used to collect and analyze the qualitative data. Narrative approaches are based on the idea that people store knowledge and experience in the form of stories that can later be retrieved through re-telling (Creswell, 2013). However, due to the quantitative emphasis and explanatory nature of the study, typical elements of narrative inquiry were not included (e.g., respondents' narratives are not retold or 'restoried' chronologically; respondents and researcher narratives were not combined into a meta-narrative; cf. Creswell, 2009).

Six brief semi-structured interviews were conducted, ranging in length from 15 to 25

minutes, in which respondents answered questions and shared their assessment-related stories. Having established contact, the *Information and Consent document* (see Appendix F) was reviewed with respondents, describing the purpose of the study, use of their data, confidentiality, anonymity, etc. Prior to beginning the interview, respondents were asked to consent to the conversation being recorded via laptop computer and recording software, having been assured that their responses would remain strictly anonymous. Thus, it was confirmed that respondents freely consented to participating, prior to beginning the audio recording. Respondents from group 1 were asked the following questions: (1) "You indicated on the survey that you regularly provide clients with test feedback despite insufficient formal training. Could you tell me more about how you learned to provide test feedback to clients?" (2) "Based on your experience, do you feel that there are any positive effects for clients receiving test feedback? If so, what are those positive effects, and how might they be enhanced?" (3) "Do you feel there are any potentially negative effects associated with providing test feedback to clients? If so, what are those negative effects, and how might they be mitigated?" (4) "Is there anything else you would like to share regarding your experience or perspective on providing clients with test feedback?" For a more detailed account of the interview process, see the *Qualitative Interview* Scripts document (Appendix G).

Group 2 respondents completed a similar process regarding informed consent, and were then asked the following questions: (1) "You indicated on the survey that you do not regularly provide test feedback to clients. Could you tell me more about that?" (2) "Are there circumstances in which you would provide test feedback? What would your motivation be for providing feedback in those cases?" (3) "Based on your experience, are there positive effects that result from clients receiving test feedback? If so, what are those positive effects, and how

might they be enhanced?" (4) "Do you feel there are potentially negative effects associated with providing test feedback to clients? If so, what are those effects, and how might they be mitigated?" (5) "Is there anything else you would like to share regarding your experience or perspective on providing clients with test feedback?"

For both groups, these questions represent a guiding heuristic, and questions were refined and added as needed during the course of the interviews, which is considered common practice in qualitative research (e.g., Creswell, 2013; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). As the interviews progressed, prompts were used as needed to encourage respondents to elaborate, asking additional questions to clarify understanding, and promoting respondents' exploration of their perspective and experience in more depth and detail.

Qualitative Data Analysis

Having conducted all six interviews, I transcribed the audio recording verbatim. Paying special attention to respondents' rate and intonation of speech, hesitation, vocal inflections, etc., I made commentary notes in the transcript where respondents placed additional emphasis, struggled to express a particular concept, or appeared uncomfortable. Following transcription, I conducted thematic analysis on the data consistent with Labov's (1972) concept of thematic organization, and based largely on the recommendations of Creswell (2013) and Rubin and Rubin (2012). Additionally, despite the absence of a group data analysis process, I also incorporated some aspects of consensual qualitative research (cf. Hill, Knox, Thompson, Williams, & Hess, 2005). Using these frameworks, I allowed codes and themes to emerge naturally during the analysis, taking care not to impose an organization or explanation on the text too hastily. In addition to analyzing the manifest content, I made a deliberate effort to understand what respondents were saying without using words – what they seemed to be

attempting to convey 'between the lines'. However, I also trusted in respondents' ability to present their own ideas and experiences with fidelity in their own words, and in this way, allowed the data to speak for itself.

My analysis consisted of six steps. First, I read the interviews in their entirety in order to get a general impression or 'feel' for the data. Second, I divided each transcript into text segments, separating bodies of text according to transitions in subject matter and meaning. Third, I labeled each text segment with a code – translating, reducing and summarizing the information into what appeared to be essential. Fourth, I reviewed the initial codes, examining whether they conveyed the essence of the original text, and began analyzing codes for emerging themes. Fifth, I combined redundant codes, collapsing those that remained into themes, and comparing these emerging themes with the original text and assigned codes to ensure applicability and consistency. Sixth, I derived over-arching themes by examining the commonalities among the emerging themes as they related to the interview questions across participants. I considered a theme relevant if it was evident in the responses of at least 2 participants, allocating more weight to the themes that corresponded to the original text and assigned codes with more frequency. However, I also considered the emphasis respondents placed on certain text segments during the interview as I conducted the analysis.

I employed member checking to enhance the validity and trustworthiness of the coding decisions, resulting themes and interpretations (cf. Creswell, 2013; Hill et al., 2005). Specifically, I emailed each respondent the results and summary of my analysis, as they related to their interview, providing respondents with the overarching themes and subthemes in the form of a summary table (see Tables 8 and 9) based on the qualitative results in their entirety. However, in order to preserve privacy and reduce inter-respondent pressure/influence, I

presented respondents only with excerpts form their own interview. I asked respondents to review the themes, subthemes, excerpts, and interpretations, prior to endorsing the results, asking them to provide me with corrective feedback if they believed their experience was at all misrepresented or incomplete. With the exception of two minor revisions, all 6 respondents replied by either phone or email, endorsing the results as accurate representations of our conversation and of their TFB perspective and experience, thus consenting to their results being presented in the final report.

Researcher-as-Instrument: Potential Biases and Personal Reactions. Because description invariably involves interpretation, it is critical to identify and discuss the impact ones' own bias, values and judgment has on the research process (cf. Creswell, 2013; Rubin and Rubin, 2012). In order to document and consider the influences I brought to the project as a function of my own experience, I kept a reflexivity journal throughout the qualitative phase in which I attempted to identify and reflected on these influences. My reflection was not so much an endeavor to heighten objectivity, but to ensure I was mindful of the ways my perspective, learning, etc. might lead me to impose an unsubstantiated organization or understanding on the data (e.g., interpreting/presenting a passage of text that in a way that is inconsistent with respondents' experience), and to monitor how I was conceptualizing and relating to various aspects of this study, and this line of inquiry as a whole. The following paragraphs are based on my journal entries.

From my own perspective as a graduate student in a Counselling Psychology training program, I have been greatly influenced by more developmental and humanistic theoretical approaches to therapy and assessment than what would likely be championed in a clinical or neuropsychological training setting. Furthermore, my interest in the C/TA model, coupled with

my experience providing TFB to clients for psychoeducational assessments, has led me to focus on the virtues of TFB, perhaps to the exclusion of its drawbacks. As such, I realize I may have an overly optimistic view of TFB, having approached it primarily on the basis of its therapeutic utility. Providing TFB to individuals who may be dangerous, who may have ulterior motives (e.g., learning and disseminating protected material), or situations in which TFB may not be entirely beneficial are completely foreign to me. Consequently, there is a danger this bias may result in me viewing, relating to, or presenting psychologists who do not regularly provide TFB as though they are ignorant, out of touch, or perhaps even unethical. What is more likely — though not less concerning— is my bias preventing me from appreciating or participating with the complexity and ambiguity that is a reality in contemporary psychological assessment. In other words, my bias places me at risk of painting a simplistic and dogmatic picture that TFB is always a good thing, and that the C/TA model is the most promising means of realizing more effective TFB practice, training and research.

Another source of potential bias is found in my post-positivist epistemological position (cf. Alexander, 1995) – or, more accurately, in my application of that position. Although I maintain that humans can know the world only imperfectly, that we are continuously influenced by our own values, learning, perspective etc., and that we do –on some level– construct our experience, I do believe that there exists an objective reality independent of our perception or position. For this study, this concern is most relevant to my constructivist analysis of participants' use of language to tell their stories and convey their experience. Language is problematic because it is simultaneously constructive and descriptive, both subjective and objective, for speakers and listeners alike. In order to enhance objectivity, I took a predominately surface-level analysis of the data such that I trusted respondents to articulate their

own experience accurately and, in a sense, objectively. I should qualify that what I mean by 'objective' is not that I've transcended my inherent limitations, but that through enhanced awareness of my own subjectivity –and the subjectivity of both experience and language– I believe I can take a slightly more functional and pragmatic approach to respondents' accounts. Unfortunately, I have forgotten the origin, but the essence of this tension, for me, was captured in the following quote: "The only objectivity is subjectivity rendered conscious of itself". This translated to me taking care not to go beyond the data or infer more that the manifest content indicated, thereby allowing the data to 'speak for itself' (cf. Hill et al., 2005). To do this, I focused on the apparent agreed-upon meaning of respondents' words (i.e., as indicated in a dictionary), frequency of word use, and converging meaning among different words and text segments in the data analysis. However, I also considered emphasis, inflection, rate of speech and pauses that seemed to suggest personal meaning or significance for the respondent. Admittedly, these aspects of the data were largely based on my perception/interpretation of them. Because I may have failed to attend to these more or less objective and subjective components of language in an even-handed manner, it is possible that these results were unduly influenced by my own confirmation bias (cf. Kida, 2006). However, I believe my approach was appropriate given the RQs, and the quantitative emphasis of the study. A different more latent analysis would arguably be appropriate for a study on clients' lived experience as it relates to receiving TFB (cf. Ward, 2008).

In a similar way, my biases and expectations may have also influenced these results through the manner in which I conducted the interviews. More specifically, my encouraging respondents to explore or elaborate on their experiences may have been inconsistently applied, such that demand characteristics (cf. Nichols & Maner, 2008) may have influenced respondents'

retelling of their stories. For example, an account highly consonant with my expectations or bias may have been less likely to receive a prompt, while discrepant responses may have elicited prompts more readily. In other words, the more respondents shared, the more likely I was to find material that corroborated my own perspective. Moreover, the ethical mandate psychologists have to share test results with clients, coupled with increased awareness of collaborative/therapeutic approaches may have introduced or augmented pressure on respondents to present their TFB practices as more favourable than they were in reality. In an attempt to minimize these influences, I imposed a two-prompt per question limit for all respondents, as well as an overall time limit of 25 minutes that no interview could exceed in an effort to promote equivalence.

Mixed Methods Procedure

The sequential-explanatory MMR design guided all phases of the study. First, the quantitative phase was used to determine the practices and training of Canadian psychologists as it relates to providing TFB. Then the quantitative results were used to identify clinicians whose TFB practice and training fell into one of two distinct groups. Finally, Qualitative data was collected and analyzed to expand and elaborate upon the quantitative results, explaining how the experiences of psychologists provide a better understanding of psychologists' TFB practice and training in Canada. Ultimately, the quantitative and qualitative results were integrated in the Discussion section. Figure 1 provides a visual overview of how the selected MMR design informed and shaped all aspects of this study.

Figure 1. Mixed Methods Procedure

OUAN

• *Data Collection:* Distribute national survey to licensed psychologists.

QUAN

• *Data Analysis:* Describe current TFB practices and identify factors associated with providing/not providing TFB to clients.

qual

• Data Collection: Contact select respondents based on quantitative results regarding TFB practice and training.

qual

• Data Analysis: Code and summarize data via thematic analysis.

. Mix • Interpret quantitative results, utilizing qualitative data to explain, elaborate and clarify.

Quan Method:

National survey of licensed psychologists.

Product: Descriptive and correlational data on TFB practices informing qualitative data collection.

Qual Method:

Using purposive sampling, conducting yelephone interviews with select respondents.

Product: Narrative data regarding psychologist's TFB experiences.

Integrated results:
A more complete understanding of current TFB practices among Canadian psychologists.

Chapter 3: Results

Quantitative Results

Test Feedback Practices. In terms of the first RQ, focusing on Canadian psychologists' TFB practices, the majority of respondents indicated they provide some form of TFB more often than not. A general feedback item (item 18) was included to provide a conceptualization and to ascertain whether or not respondents reported providing TFB independent of a given format. The sizable majority of respondents (91%, n = 363) reported providing TFB frequently or more often; 77.2% (n = 308) indicated doing so almost always, and just 5.5% (n = 18) reported providing TFB rarely or never. Verbal TFB was the most frequently endorsed TFB format, with the majority of respondents (88.2%, n = 352) reporting they provide verbal TFB at least frequently, and 73.7%, (n = 294) indicating they do so almost always. Written TFB (i.e., a written report and/or summary) also appears to be common practice, with most respondents (60.2%, n = 240) reporting they provide written TFB frequently or more often, and 43.9% (n = 240) reporting they provide written TFB frequently or more often, and 43.9% (n = 240) 175) reporting they do so almost always. The least commonly indicated form of TFB was providing a copy of the actual test results (i.e., any raw data beyond a percentile rank and descriptor) to the client, as only 13.9% (n = 52) indicated doing so frequently or more often, and 6.3% (n = 25) reported doing so almost always. This was the only TFB item yielding omitted responses (n = 2), which may indicate these respondents misunderstood the question, or felt uncomfortable answering.

In order to get a better idea of what psychologists actually do when providing TFB, respondents indicated the extent to which they engage in specific clarification/elaboration activities. Based on Lichtenberg and Goodyear's (1999) conceptualization of test interpretation, and common activities in the C/TA model, these TFB clarification items (items 22 through 24)

were designed to determine whether psychologists are intentional about clarifying and/or elaborating on TFB, and to get a sense of how involved clinicians and clients are in the TFB process. The majority of respondents (91.9%; n = 367) indicated making a deliberate effort to ensure clients understand the assessments results and TFB *frequently* or more often, while 73.9% (n = 295) reported doing so *almost always*. Similar rates of highlighting the relevant implications of assessment results were indicated, with 95.2% (n = 380) of respondents reporting they do so at least *frequently*, and 79.7% (n = 318) indicating the do so *almost always*. Providing the client with an opportunity to ask questions about test results and to clarify their understanding of TFB also appears to be common practice, as 94.7% (n = 378) of respondents indicated doing so at least *frequently* and 86.7% (n = 318) reporting they do so *almost always*. Table 3 provides a summary of these results.

Test Feedback Training. In terms of the second RQ focusing on whether and how training programs are preparing psychologists to provide TFB, 64.9% (n = 259) agreed or strongly agreed that graduate training in psychological assessment did an excellent job preparing of them to provide TFB to clients; 22.1% (n = 88) of respondents either disagreed or strongly disagreed, and 13% (n = 52) were undecided. Respondents reported similar rates regarding their post-graduate training, as 65.6% (n = 262) agreed or strongly agreed that post-graduate training effectively prepared them to provide TFB; 13% (n = 52) either disagreed or strongly disagreed, and 19.3% (n = 77) were undecided. Table 4 summarizes these results. Respondents were also asked to provide a global estimate of the percentage of their assessment training that focused explicitly on TFB at both the graduate and post-graduate levels. Responses varied greatly for both graduate (range = 0 - 100%, M = 15.54%, Mdn = 10.0, SD = 16.75) and post-graduate training (range = 0 - 100%, M = 19.98%, Mdn = 15.0, SD = 19.84) on this item.

Table 3

Frequencies and Format of Providing Test Feedback to Clients

Feedback Type/Activity	Response	Frequency	Percentage	
Verbal FB	Never	7	1.8	
	Rarely	11	2.8	
	Sometimes	29	7.3	
	Frequently	58	14.5	
	Almost Always	294	73.7	
Written Summary/Report	Never	38	9.5	
• •	Rarely	68	17	
	Sometimes	53	13.3	
	Frequently	65	16.3	
	Almost Always	175	43.9	
Ensure Understanding	Never	7	1.8	
C	Rarely	9	2.3	
	Sometimes	16	4	
	Frequently	72	18	
	Almost Always	295	73.9	
Highlight Implications	Never	5	1.3	
	Rarely	5	1.3	
	Sometimes	9	2.3	
	Frequently	32	15.5	
	Almost Always	318	79.7	
Answer Questions	Never	6	1.5	
~	Rarely	6	1.5	
	Sometimes	9	2.3	
	Frequently	32	8	
	Almost Always	346	86.7	

Note. Items were coded on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (*Never*) to 5 (*Almost Always*). Verbal Feedback M = 4.55, SD = 0.87; Written Summary/Report M = 3.67, SD = 1.41; Ensure Understanding M = 4.6, SD = 0.82; Highlight Implications M = 4.71, SD = 0.69; Answer Questions M = 4.77, SD = 0.69

More omitted responses were found on this item than any other on the survey, with substantial

missing data for both graduate (13.5%, n = 54) and post-graduate training (16.2%, n = 65). A considerable number of respondents also expressed having difficulty with this item, indicating the question was either ambiguous or they were unable to recall the amount of time allocated specifically to TFB training accurately.

In addition to enquiring about the helpfulness of their training, respondents were asked to identify the primary method of TFB instruction they received. This item was designed so that response categories were mutually exclusive. By far the most common form of instruction indicated for graduate training programs was practicum/clinical experience (64.4%, n = 257) followed by open discussion with professor/supervisor (9%, n = 36), not applicable – no instruction was provided (7.5%, n = 30), lecture (6.8%, n = 27), and modeled by professor/supervisor (6.3%, n = 25). The remaining 6% of respondents indicated instruction took place through assigned reading, role-playing or other methods. Practicum/clinical experience was also the most commonly endorsed instruction method in post-graduate training (43.6%, n = 174), followed by open discussion with professor/supervisor (24.6, n = 98), not applicable – none provided (11.3%, n = 45), and modeled by professor/supervisor (9.8%, n = 39). Fewer than 4% of respondents indicated learning via lecture, assigned reading, role-playing or other means respectively. Table 5 provides a summary of these results.

Factors Associated with Psychologists' Test Feedback Practice. With respect to the third RQ, a number of factors significantly correlated with respondents' TFB practice. As previously mentioned, in order to get a broad understanding of the factors associated with providing/not providing TFB, all of the relevant TFB activities were incorporated into one TFB variable. Using the criteria for the strength of Pearson's *r* correlations articulated by Dancey and Reidy (2007), by virtue of the strong correlations among 3 of the 4 TFB items, and all of the

Table 4

Agreement that Academic Training was Helpful in Learning to Provide Test Feedback

Training	Response	Frequency	Percentage	
Graduate Training	Strongly Disagree	23	5.8	
	Disagree	65	16.3	
	Neither Agree nor Disagree	52	13	
	Agree	153	38.3	
	Strongly Agree	106	26.6	
	Missing	0	0	
Post-grad. Training	Strongly Disagree	10	2.5	
	Disagree	42	10.5	
	Neither Agree nor Disagree	77	19.3	
	Agree	153	38.3	
	Strongly Agree	109	27.3	
	Missing	8	2.0	

Note. Missing refers to omitted responses. Items were coded on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 5 (*Strongly Agree*). Graduate Training M = 3.63, SD = 1.19. Post-graduate Training M = 3.79, SD = 1.04

TFB clarification items (Average Pearson's r = .69), a single TFB variable was computed using *SPSS* that was then used for the correlational analysis. Although a number of variables were significantly associated with respondents TFB practices, due to the somewhat arbitrary nature of the correlational analysis, and because many of these results were not guided by hypotheses at the outset, only correlations greater than 0.2 (Pearson's r) are reported.

Table 5

Primary Mode of Instruction in Graduate and Post-Graduate Training

Mode of Instruction	Graduate	Post-Graduate
Not Applicable (none provided)	30 (7.5%)	45 (11.3)
Lecture	27 (6.8%)	14 (3.5%)
Assigned Reading	10 (2.5%)	3 (0.8%)
Open Discussion with Supervisor/Prof.	36 (9%)	98 (24.6%)
Modeled by Supervisor/Prof.	25 (6.3%)	39 (9.8%)
Role Playing	7 (1.8%)	4 (1%)
Practicum / Clinical Experience	257 (64.4%)	174 (43.6%)
Other	7 (1.8%)	14 (3.5%)
Missing	0	8 (2.0%)

Note. Missing refers to omitted responses.

A number of purpose variables significantly correlated with providing TFB. These included using assessments to make/confirm diagnoses (Pearson's r = .22, p < .01) and using assessments as a therapeutic intervention (r = .20, p < .01). Using assessments for court-mandated reasons was negatively associated with providing TFB to clients (r = .23, p < .01). Context/client variables that were positively associated with providing TFB included using assessments with adolescents (r = .31, p < .01) and with children (r = .39, p < .01). Using assessments with adults negatively correlated with providing TFB to clients (r = .22, p < .01). Using assessments in other contexts, including assessing developmental delay, substance abuse, brain injury, testing with geriatric populations, and in industrial/organizational settings, did not

correlate with respondents' TFB practices. Similarly, using assessments with individuals who experience severe mental illness, with university students, or with an interdisciplinary treatment team was not correlated with respondents providing TFB.

A number of instrument variables correlated positively with respondents providing TFB. These include using intellectual (r = .27, p < .01), and behavioural instruments (r = .36, p < .01). Although using symptom-based measures and projective personality assessment instruments positively correlated with providing TFB, the strength of these relationships did not meet the established criteria. No association was found between respondents using career inventories or neuropsychological instruments and their TFB practices. Consistent with the empirical TA literature, all three TA variables positively correlated with respondents providing TFB. However, only the correlation between encouraging the client to generate their own personally relevant questions (r = .28, p < .01) and providing TFB was substantial enough to meet criteria. Preparing the client for the assessment (r = .19, p < .01) fell just beneath the established cutoff point.

Training variables correlated positively with providing TFB, including respondents finding both graduate and post-graduate training helpful. However, only the association with finding post-graduate training helpful met the criterion threshold (r = .23, p < .01). The results indicate the extent to which TFB instruction was experience-based or participatory (e.g., practicum, role-playing vs. lecture or assigned reading) correlated positively with providing TFB at both the graduate and post-graduate level. However, in this case, only the association between experience-based instruction in graduate training and providing TFB was substantial enough to meet criteria (r = .23, p < .01). Moreover, participatory forms of instruction were positively and substantially correlated with finding graduate (r = .50, p < .01) and post-graduate

assessment training (r = .45, p < .01) helpful in learning to provide TFB. Table 6 provides a summary of the purpose, instrument, TA, training and affiliation variables correlated with providing TFB to clients.

Contrary to the third hypothesis, years-since-graduation was not associated with respondents' TFB practices, suggesting recent graduates may not be more likely to provide TFB than less recent graduates. The fourth hypothesis was also not supported, as years-since graduation was not correlated with finding either graduate or post-graduate TFB training helpful. In a similar way, respondents' level of graduate training was not associated with their TFB practices. In terms of other demographic variables, respondents' sex was not associated with providing TFB. Ethnic/cultural identity, on the other hand, was weakly correlated with respondents' TFB practices. However, this item was statistically problematic due to 90% (n = 358) of respondents self-identifying as European-Canadian/White, and 5% (n = 20) of the remaining respondents self-identifying with other ethnic/cultural backgrounds (some of which included redundant categories such as Canadian). Given this lack of heterogeneity, and 'noise' between response options, this item could not be meaningfully interpreted.

Of the eight practice-setting variables analyzed, only working in a school or school district significantly –and positively– correlated with providing TFB, although this association was not substantial enough to meet criteria. None of the 13 theoretical orientation variables or the majority of CPA section affiliation variables correlated with respondents' providing TFB, with a few notable exceptions. Affiliation with the Psychologists in Education section correlated positively with respondents providing TFB (r = .24, p < .01), as did affiliation with the Developmental Psychology section (r = .21, p < .01). Conversely, affiliation with the Criminal Justice section was negatively associated with providing TFB (r = -.29, p < .01). Table 7

Table 6

Correlations among Factors Associated with Providing Test Feedback

	TFB	DX	CM	TI	IN	EQ	EI	PG	CJ
DX	.22*	1							
CM	23*	.00	1						
TI	.20*	.09	.00	1					
IN	.27*	.27*	.04	.00	1				
EQ	.28*	.13*	.00	.19*	.06	1			
EI	.23*	.18*	05	.04	.05	.13	1		
PG	.23*	.08	.02	02	.03	.12	.30*	1	
CJ	29*	12	.43*	.03	.03	08	07	08	1

Note. * Correlations are significant at the α = 0.01 level (2-tailed). DX = using assessments to make/confirm diagnoses, CM = using assessments for court-mandated reasons, TI = using assessments as a therapeutic intervention, IN = using intellectual assessment instruments, EQ = encouraging clients to generate their own personally relevant questions, EI = experience-based graduate level TFB instruction, PG = finding post-graduate TFB training helpful, CJ = affiliation with the Criminal Justice CPA section.

provides a summary of age-related factors associated with providing TFB to clients.

Qualitative Results

Test Feedback Results. Results from thematic analyses are presented below. Four overarching themes, along with the subthemes from which they were derived, are presented in Tables 8 and 9. Excerpts from the original transcripts are also presented below. Pauses, stutters, and non-essential vocalizations were omitted to enhance readability.

Theme 1: Self-instructed learning and Trial-and-Error. The first question asked of the TFB Group 1 was: "You indicated on the survey that you regularly provide test feedback to clients, despite insufficient formal training. Could you tell me more about how you learned to

Table 7

Correlations among Age-related Factors Associated with Providing Test Feedback

	TFB	AD	AL	СН	ВН	DP	PE
AD	22*	1					
AL	.31*	.00	1				
СН	.39*	.09	.00	1			
ВН	.36*	.27*	.04	.00	1		
DP	.21*	.13*	.00	.19*	.06	1	
PE	.24*	.18*	05	.04	.05	.13	1

Note. * Correlations are significant at the α = 0.01 level (2-tailed). AD = using assessments with adults, AL = using assessments with adolescents, CH = using assessments with children, BH = using behavioural instruments, DP = affiliation with the Developmental Psychology CPA section, PE = affiliation with the Psychologists in Education CPA section. provide test feedback?" The over-arching theme that emerged among Group 1 respondents was learning by trial-and-error and self-instruction. Relevant subthemes that mapped onto this broader theme included (a) supervisor's level of involvement/skill (b) inadequate academic preparation/support and (c) the complexity of assessment and TFB.

For example, Sue (pseudonym) works primarily with young offenders and complex needs youth. She earned her Ph.D 15 years ago, and currently conducts comprehensive assessments, initiating interdisciplinary treatment plans involving many stakeholders. In her response to this initial question, Sue indicated her graduate training was minimally helpful in her learning to provide TFB (reiterating "a little bit. . . ."), necessitating her learning through a process of trial-and-error. She described how she had to acquire her TFB skills largely on her own, and as a result of her supervisor's level of involvement. In her response, she also implied a relationship between the complexity of the assessment and one's ability to provide TFB.

Sue: I learned a little bit in my graduate work when we were doing feedback for children, psycho-educational and psychological assessments, a little bit. . . . It was trial and error. I had a supervisor in my initial workplace help me go through a few things and make sure I was [providing FB], but it was mainly trial and error. . . . We had some basic skills, we would give feedback on you know WISC, WIAT, all those basic tools, but not specific tools for case planning or more complex cases.

Pam (pseudonym) earned her PhD in 2013. She works primarily in a hospital setting and currently conducts assessments with adults of various ages. Her response to this initial question also implicated learning through trial-and-error, and observational learning, indicating virtually no exposure to TFB exchanges prior to her internship. She also highlighted the important role her therapy training and experience had for learning to provide TFB, describing her process of learning to interact with clients based on their ability to understand, and her attempts to make FB more meaningful and accessible for them. She also talked about the importance of receiving FB from supervisors in the learning process, making an interesting connection between ending/terminating a course of therapy and concluding an assessment.

Pam: A big part of it [learning TFB] was that a lot of clients often have difficulty understanding the material presented in the reports. They also have problems remembering what I tell them. It was particularly true at a site where I was providing neuropsych feedback to people with brain injuries. They had problems understanding very complex information. I thought it would be helpful to provide diagrams and some brief summaries of the information presented in the feedback session for them to take home with them and to read later on when they needed that information. . . . I think my therapy experience helped a lot with that [learning to provide TFB]. Understanding the [my] case conceptualization and I guess the person's unique cognitive problems and how to interact with them based on those – I think that was really important. I think therapy skills played a big role. . . . It was mostly trial and error. I may have sat in on maybe a couple of feedback sessions in the very early

Table 8

Group 1 Test Feedback Qualitative Themes

I.	Self-instructed Learning and Trial-and-Error			
	a. Supervisors' level of involvement/perceived skill			
	b. Inadequate academic preparation/support			
	c. Complexity of assessment and TFB			
II.	Enhancing Understanding that Benefits Clients in Tangible Ways			
	a. Relationship between assessment and therapy/treatment			
	b. Importance of considering the clients' needs			
	c. Situating TFB into the clients' real-life context			
III.	Presenting TFB in a Manner that guards against			
	Misunderstanding/Misinterpretation			
	a. Emotional arousal preventing understanding			
	b. Mechanisms that mitigate misunderstanding			
IV.	The Conditional/Contingent Nature of TFB			
	a. Enhancing accessibility through simplicity and repetition			
	b. Heightening perceived relevance of TFB through			
	strengths-based approaches			
	c. The significance and therapeutic utility of TFB			

stages of my training but I hardly saw any until internship.

Gary (pseudonym) works in corrections for the federal government. Having earned his PhD in 2012, he primarily conducts forensic assessments and competency evaluations with adult populations, often in the context of an interdisciplinary team. His response to this first question also indicated learning through trial and error, along with modeling and observational learning of supervisors and mentors. Interestingly, he pointed out how continued professional education was more helpful to him than formal academic instruction in acquiring his TFB skills,

describing how didactic assessment training might be more effective if it's provided in pragmatic, ecologically valid ways ("I didn't find that the academic setting was particularly useful. . . .")

Gary: Well, kind of trial and error, and just listening to other people talk, and watching a couple of people who were either supervisors or identified as mentors if you will – watching them provide feedback and then kind of extrapolating from that, and using that as a basis for my own modeling of their behaviour, or not.

Theme 2: Enhancing Understanding that Benefits Clients in Tangible Ways. The second question posed was, "Based on your experience, do you feel that there are any positive effects for clients receiving test feedback? If so, what are those positive effects, and how might they be maximized?" The over-arching theme that emerged from this question was the capacity of TFB to enhance understanding, coupled with the importance of using that understanding to benefit clients in tangible ways. In some cases, enhanced understanding pertained to the client understanding their own challenges/problems better; in other cases it focused on the shared understanding of the client and the clinician, or for peripheral individuals involved in the assessment (e.g., case workers, teachers). Various subthemes that mapped onto this broader theme included (a) the relationship between assessment and therapy/treatment, (b) the importance of considering the clients' needs and (c) situating TFB into the clients' real-life context.

For example, Pam's response to this question highlighted the capacity of TFB to promote the clients' understanding of themselves and their experience. In describing the therapeutic utility of TFB, she suggested that clients' understanding is actually linked to TFB being providing in a therapeutic way, allowing clients to integrate and make sense of the test results and their experience. She went on to describe how this benefit can be enhanced through

situating TFB into the everyday context of the clients by using multiple methods to make it more personally meaningful ("visual diagrams, using metaphors, incorporating examples . . ."), and including significant others in the clients' life, thus enlisting support for the client and making the exchange more relational.

Pam: Absolutely, I think that [TFB] can be really therapeutic, definitely. I've heard people talking about how much they benefited from assessment feedback in the same way that they talk about benefiting from therapy. . . . Just to understand their condition. A lot of times people haven't had any mental health services in the past and this is their first understanding of anything about their mental health . . . it sheds a tremendous amount of light on the problems that they've been having and helps them make sense of their experience.

In a similar way, Gary's response described how, for him, TFB is connected to therapy/treatment. He frames the interplay between counselling and assessment, as well as the exchange between client and clinician as one that takes place on an ongoing basis ("So it's a conversation. It's a dialogue that's going on all the time. . . ."). He also mentions the importance of TFB incorporating aspects beyond the test results into the TFB before highlighting how TFB can promote a strengths-based understanding of the clients' abilities, using that understanding to inform their continued work together, while seeking to benefit the client in practical ways – in this case, by identifying substance abuse as an area of concern.

Gary: Certainly . . . For most of the clients that I see, the assessment informs ongoing counselling and then the ongoing counselling informs, in-turn a reciprocal relationship, ongoing community-based risk assessment – so it's a conversation. It's a dialogue that's going on all the time. It's less about the test results and more about the global assessment of how they're doing, what they're doing, etc. The test results are a component of that, but only a component.. . . . And often I think the test results potentially could be perceived as being rather pejorative in nature. If you do an IQ

screener, [why would I be?] telling somebody that they have a low average IQ ... Why am I doing this? 'I'm doing it because in a global context it helps me understand what your [the clients'] capabilities are, how you solve problems, and how quickly you think, and so on and so forth. And it'll help me develop a plan to work with you, maximize your strengths, and to work to try to emphasize again what you can do as opposed to zeroing in on what you can't do... We're also often asked to speak to, in a really kind of gross way, the presence of psychopathology, and again when you're working with an offender population there's a high incidence... Most of the time, many of those things are not really relevant. Substance abuse is if it's an ongoing concern, but I don't end up getting into DSM-5 with them – [instead it's] 'in a practical way, this is an issue for you'.

Theme 3: Presenting Feedback in a Way that Guards Against Misunderstanding. The third question enquired, "Do you feel there are any potentially negative effects associated with providing test feedback to clients? If so, what are those negative effects, and how might they be minimized?" The over-arching theme that emerged from the analysis of this question was the danger of clients misunderstanding or misinterpreting TFB. Respondents identified the manner in which TFB is presented (i.e., emphasizing demeanor over content, or the how as opposed to the what of TFB) as the most effective way to guard against the danger of misunderstanding. The subthemes that mapped onto this overarching theme included (a) emotional arousal preventing understanding, and (b) mechanisms that mitigate misunderstanding. With regard to minimizing potentially harmful effects, virtually all respondents spoke to the importance of context, as well as presenting TFB in a tactful, respectful manner, while not diminishing the accuracy or truthfulness of the test results.

For example, Sue identified the difficulty that emotional arousal (i.e., feeling "scared", "upset") can pose to clients appreciating the purpose of TFB, making it difficult for them to understand and benefit from it. She repeatedly came back to emphasizing the manner in which

TFB is given (e.g., "you have to provide it in such a way . . . ", "give it in such a way . . . "), identifying the how of presentation as an important process in mitigating misunderstanding. She also described the importance of investing the necessary time and energy to present TFB that is supported by the data ("factual, accurate . . . "), the importance of repetition, of connecting data to the clients' lived context ("This is why we're doing this right now, based on this piece of data "), and of the context itself ("context is everything when it comes to communicating results in a way that makes them understandable ").

Pam's response to this third question also implicated the potential of TFB being misunderstood as a result of emotional arousal ("can be overwhelming . . . "), and the importance of presenting FB in a way that makes it understandable (i.e., with "finesse and clinical skill . . . "). For Pam, this appears to denote providing TFB that involves adequate explanation, clarifying clients' understanding, and avoiding misinterpretation. She also went on to describe the importance of training/education, encouraging clients' to ask questions, and of making TFB a more familial/relational activity in order to minimize misunderstanding.

Pam: I guess it would depend on the method of delivery. It involves a lot of finesse and clinical skill to provide certain kinds of assessment feedback for sure.... I think providing complicated information can be overwhelming to a client without adequate explanation and ensuring that the client actually understands the results of the assessment and the recommendations. I think that can possibly be detrimental; they may misunderstand and they may take things more negatively than they ought to.

Like Sue, Gary's response to this question emphasized the potential danger of misunderstanding, also highlighting the way TFB is given. He underscored the importance of context ("if it's done out of context, or the results are presented out of context. . . . ") and of conscientious ("tactful or discreet. . . . ") report writing in avoiding the harmful effects, being mindful of the potential for clients and/or third parties to misunderstand or misrepresent results.

Theme 4: The Conditional/Contingent Nature of Test Feedback. The final question posed to group 1 respondents inquired, "Is there anything else you would like to share regarding your experience or perspective on providing clients with test feedback?" The over-arching theme that emerged from this question was that effective TFB is conditional, that it depends upon a number of other important processes. Subthemes that mapped onto this overarching theme included (a) enhancing accessibility through simplicity and repetition (b) heightening the perceived relevance of TFB through strength-based approaches, and (c) the significance and therapeutic utility of TFB.

Sue's response to this final question highlighted the importance of delivering TFB in a way that makes it accessible for the client. She identified simplicity and specificity as the primary means of achieving this, describing the importance of ongoing TFB ("Feedback should be a process . . ."), and the importance of an interpersonal exchange (i.e., verbal FB) to ensure clients' understanding. She also describes how jargon can compromise accessibility, making an important connection between psychologists' proclivity for jargon and their training.

Sue: I think that's it's critical for us to be able to provide feedback verbally and to provide summaries that are so simple that anybody who is a non-psychologist can follow them.... Feedback should be a process and again you have the initial feedback, and you have the written feedback. It's better to have verbal feedback as you can go through things with the clients in a very specific way so that they get it. And make the assumption that even the simplest recommendation may not be understood, even by people in the mental health field because of our jargon. We have to make it very simple.... Being able to do that in a very, very specific way and being very clear with recommendations is critical.... That takes practice right? And I like things that are jargon free, but even for me it's really hard. By the time we get out of our training, we become so jargon and intellectually focused we forget that we have to make it very simple.

Gary's response to this final question suggests that effective TFB depends upon its relevance from the clients' perspective. Based on his experience in community-based risk assessment, for Gary, this translates into adopting more strengths-based, even-handed approaches to ensure clients remain interested, motivated and engaged, even in cases when the FB might be predominately 'negative'. He also described the importance of including strengths-oriented TFB, particularly when assessments take place on an ongoing basis. Finally, Gary spoke of the importance of appreciating the power imbalance that is often at play in traditional assessment contexts, implying that psychologists should actively work to minimize this disparity through processes such as empathy.

Gary: I think one of the issues in corrections is that a culture has developed wherein we're quite skilled at articulating what an individual's deficits are, and articulating negative aspects of their behaviour or personality attributes, et cetera – not good at providing a strength-based, more solution-focused orientation, and so they [clients] don't want to read the stuff. I suspect they're not motivated to pore over the results of these assessments because it just seems often quite negative in focus. And who would want to read a lot of stuff that's quite uncomplimentary? That's what they read all the time about themselves. . . . I think if you're going to work with people and mitigate risk in the community, you have to be able to say what people can do. Certainly you have to spell out what the risk factors are, but I mean articulate what they can do \dots I've become a bit more conscious of the need to be able to couch things in slightly more positive terms, and so the feedback that they [clients] get [is more positive], because I see these clients usually many times after I've concluded an assessment, it's an ongoing process. So it's a starting point for conversation if you will.... I think people [psychologists] need to get comfortable in their own skin and put themselves in the shoes of the individual that they're assessing. There's a huge power imbalance, I think we forget about that really easily. These people are in a highly vulnerable circumstance...

Pam's response to this final question highlighted her conceptualization of TFB as the most significant aspect of the assessment experience. She described how, for her, there is no meaningful distinction between assessment and therapy, implying that effective TFB depends upon the degree to which the client experiences it as therapeutic. She also sheds light on her earlier responses, implying an intrinsic connection between assessment/TFB and therapy.

Pam: I think in many ways the feedback given to the clients is the most important part of the assessment process. It's the most important result. I think that focusing on that [TFB] is just as important as focusing on test interpretation or report writing.... To compare it again to therapy in terms of determining a successful outcome... there is that critical component in both cases [therapy and assessment] which is therapeutic value.... And I see them as similar in some ways for sure. Assessment can lead to therapy recommendations but assessment can also be a therapy in a sense because it involves that feedback component.

Non-Test Feedback Results. Results from thematic analyses for group 2 are presented below. Five overarching themes and subthemes are presented in Table 9. As before, excerpts from the original transcripts are presented, with minimal edits.

Theme 1: Lack of Opportunity or Precedent. Respondents in group 2 were first asked about their experiences of not providing TFB to clients. Mindful of the ethical mandate that psychologists have to share test results, special care was taken to be non-judgmental and not to inadvertently shame respondents in any way. Accordingly, the first question inquired, "You indicated on the survey that you do not regularly provide assessment feedback to clients. Could you tell me a little more about that?" Virtually all respondents indicated they do not provide TFB to clients because they conduct assessments in contexts in which the 'client' (i.e., the referral source, or entity to whom the results are thought to belong) may not be test taker. Interestingly, all respondents also indicated they were willing to provide TFB to clients so long

as the referral source (e.g., court appointed lawyer) consented to them sharing the test results with the test taker, and that any barriers that would otherwise prevent them from providing TFB were removed. The overarching theme that emerged based on the analysis of group 2 respondents was that TFB was not given due to a lack of opportunity or precedent. Subthemes that mapped onto this broader theme included (a) perceived discrepancy between the client and the test taker and (b) practical, legal and professional/cultural barriers to providing TFB.

Barry (pseudonym) is a psychologist who earned his PhD in 1981. He currently conducts mostly forensic assessments involving personal injury, disability, and human rights claims. His response to the first question indicated he provides TFB to the 'client', but that the client and the test taker are not generally regarded as the same person. He described how he is quite happy to provide TFB to test takers, but indicates that doing so in the assessments he does is not normative practice, that there is rarely an opportunity to do so, and that there are numerous barriers that need to be removed or overcome to facilitate a TFB exchange. He also described how differences in clients' perspective regarding the circumstances/context of the assessment have a bearing on how interested they are in TFB, implying a notable distinction between assessment conducted with individuals who are seeking treatment for themselves, and those that involve third parties ("views it from a different perspective than somebody who's looking to get help . . . ").

Barry: I am pretty much exclusively a forensic psychologist... The client [in the assessments I do] is not the person I actually assess. The client is either their [the test taker's] lawyer, an insurance adjustor, a defence lawyer, or some other entity like a union representative, and those are the people who get the feedback. The person getting assessed theoretically could come around at some time in the distant future after the assessment, after whatever legal steps have taken place, and ask for feedback, and I would be happy to give it to them at that time. That seldom happens

really; very rarely, because largely my reports are used for dealing with or negotiating compensation claims or other issues of that sort, and the person who gets assessed probably sees the report but views it from a different perspective than somebody who's looking to get help with a specific clinical problem, or who is looking for personal growth or things like that.

Sarah (pseudonym) earned her PhD in 1998. She conducts assessments primarily with adult populations in forensic settings. Her response to this question also indicated her willingness to provide TFB to the test taker. However, similar to Barry, given the nature of the work she does, there is often limited opportunity and practical barriers ("if it's easy for me to have access to them . . .") to her providing TFB.

Sarah: Well that mostly just has to do with practical issues. So if I'm doing a risk assessment with somebody who's been incarcerated, and if it's easy for me to have access to them to show them their report, then I'm happy to do that.... A lot of the time, if it's a presentence report for example, I see them for the interview but then I never see them again. So even if I wanted to give them feedback, there's just no mechanism by which I can do that.

Joanna (pseudonym) earned her PhD in 2011, and conducts forensic and high-risk employment screening/selection assessments (e.g., security, corrections, paramilitary personnel). Her response to this first question also indicated a lack of opportunity, practical issues, the perceived appropriateness of sharing test results with clients in some cases ("depending on why the client was referred . . ."), and the non-normative practice of providing TFB to test takers in the forensic community ("I guess it's just not standard procedure. . . .").

Joanna: Partially, it [not providing TFB] is because I don't have the opportunity. The client is coming maybe on a referral from the court or their lawyer to have an assessment done. So I meet with the client, usually face-to-face for several hours, and then they do a battery of psychometric tests. They're usually brought into the clinic maybe for a full day, day and a half, and then the report is written, so the clients' not

Table 9

Group 2 Non-Test Feedback Qualitative Themes

I. Lack of Opportunity/Precedent Perceived discrepancy between 'client' and test taker Practical, legal and professional/cultural barriers П Onus on the Consumer to Initiate/Pursue TFB a. Legal, logistical and monetary barriers III. Providing Opportunity for Objective Learning a. Enhancing clients' understanding of their unique challenges b. Increasing clients' awareness of treatment options and implications c. Clients' level of motivation and interest IV. Feedback Implications Threatening Understanding or Engagement a. Clients' ability to access treatment b. Clients feeling overwhelmed by the emotions associated with the implications of TFB c. Taking results out of context V. Importance of TFB Training a. Promoting understandable TBF through accessible language b. Assuming responsibility for ones' own assessment competence c. Difficulty of learning to provide TFB requiring multimodal learning

usually available to come back to my office. Sometimes it's about availability and sometimes it is because, I guess it's just not standard procedure. . . . Sometimes that [providing TFB] is an option; sometimes it's not, depending on why the client was

referred, what the specific question was. I guess I'm saying a lot of the time there's just not an opportunity to tell the client.

Theme 2: Onus on the Consumer to Initiate/Pursue Feedback. Group 2 respondents were then asked, "Are there circumstances in which you would provide clients with test feedback? How would those settings differ from your current practice?" The over-arching theme that emerged from respondents on this question was that that the onus to initiate the TFB exchange lies with the client/consumer, whether that is the test taker, a third party, or both. Subthemes that mapped onto this broader theme pertained to the legal, pragmatic and monetary barriers that need to be removed or minimized in order to make providing TFB more viable.

Barry responded to this second question again by indicating his willingness to provide TFB. In describing the circumstances in which he would provide TFB, he indicated that initiating that exchange is up to the client/consumer ("that's always initiated by the consumer. . . ."), and that TFB would generally take place in instances where the clients' legal representative is the referral source. He also described legal barriers that would need to be removed to facilitate providing TFB ("until their lawyer releases that report . . .").

In a similar way, Sarah's response to this second question indicated her willingness and preference to provide TFB to the test taker if she is has the opportunity ("if I have easy access . . ."), and if she is being compensated ("there has to be room in the contract for me to do that . . ."). She proceeds to make an interesting comment, indicating she would be more likely to provide TFB with clients she is also treating. She went on to describe how she believes clients can benefit from TFB ("that's how they're going to learn something . . .") before reiterating some of the practical difficulties and barriers associated with providing TFB in forensic settings.

Sarah: I provide feedback if I have easy access to the client again. So, if they're incarcerated and I'm back at the institution, then it's easy to see them first and then

have them go through the report. If I'm doing treatment with them, then it's easy for me to make sure that I show them the assessment report before we start treatment. And so there's a dollars and cents thing around that as well. If I'm doing that [providing TFB] then it's billed hours, and so whoever it is that's paying me, there has to be room in the contract for me to do that right. So there are the practicalities of having access to the person, there's also the practicality of getting paid to do that work. . . . the feedback would be great to go to the person because that's how they're going to learn something, but I have to be able to actually do that right. Usually it's hard enough getting them into the chair just the first time.

Joanna's response to this question also highlights her willingness to provide TFB if practical and monetary barriers are removed. She described how recommending therapy would be an instance in which she would feel ethically bound to provide TFB, regardless of whether or not she is being compensated. However, during the member checking process, Joanna clarified that she would provide brief TFB if it was requested and if the client could come into the office (i.e., "low cost and/or low time commitment. . . ."). During member checking, Joanna also expressed her perspective that providing TFB, even at the clients' request, is unreasonable if psychologists are not being compensated, or would lose money in the process.

Joanna: Often, in a lot of these cases, if the assessment is being paid for by Legal Aid, Legal Aid's not going to fund feedback sessions. . . . In private practice I would not be paid to provide a feedback session. . . . In some cases it would mean I'd have to maybe go to a prison. I'd have to take a half a day off work and go somewhere. That's not going to happen; it's not feasible. Let's say if I was recommending therapy, I'd provide feedback if it was ever requested. . . . I would do that even if it wasn't being paid for because I think I'd be morally and ethically obliged to do that.

Theme 3: Providing Opportunity for Objective Learning. Group 2 respondents were then asked, "Based on your experience, are there positive effects that result from clients receiving assessment feedback? If so, what are those positive effects, and how might they be

enhanced?" The over-arching theme that emerged from responses to this question was that TFB provides clients with an opportunity for objective learning. Relevant subthemes that mapped onto this broad theme included (a) enhanced understanding of their unique challenges, (b) increased awareness of treatment options and implications, (c) the importance of client motivation and interest.

Barry's response to this question suggests he believes test takers are most likely to benefit from TFB through increased understanding of their challenges, and a greater level of awareness of their treatment options and implications of treatment, emphasizing the utility of verbal TFB. However, he went on to describe, based on his experience and perspective, how clients he sees are unlikely to pursue TFB, implying the clients' level of interest and motivation are important factor in psychologists not providing TFB in assessments involving third parties. His response also highlights the lack of involvement and engagement test takers often have in third party assessments, such that they may not remember their clinician's name ("I'm sure that a whole lot of people I assess don't even remember my name. . . . ").

Barry: In those few cases, it may be that they get a better understanding of the report. They may get a better understanding of things like treatment implications because I would probably discuss that in greater detail with them at that time, as well as the nature of treatment. They could certainly have some benefit in that regard. Now they may get that benefit from reading the report itself. My reports are pretty explicit, but they may get more information about things like treatment options than what I would give out in a report. . . . I mean [with verbal FB] certainly you can provide a lot more information to people about appropriate treatments and the content of those treatments for their particular mental health problems.

Sarah's response to this question suggests that test takers can learn something about themselves, and understand themselves and their behaviour with a greater degree of objectivity

through TFB. However she also described how the motivation and interest of the test taker is often an obstacle to realizing that understanding, suggesting this lack of interest/motivation is the product of the adversarial nature of the legal system coercing them into the assessment ("They're being forced to be assessed . . .") as well as the focus of the assessment ("it's in particular to a specific behaviour that's usually very negative . . .").

Sarah: Well, only if they're interested in the assessment. A lot of times these clients aren't particularly, right? You're doing the assessment through the [legal] system and the clients aren't interested in the results, or they do a lot of minimizing and they'll look at 'OK, in this section, I've only behaved this way in this particular moment in time, but I'm not always doing this'. So they tend to blow off a lot of the assessment unless they're actually interested in making some changes. . . . They are being forced to be assessed . . . So it's in particular to a specific behaviour that's usually very negative, and they tend to kind of put it in a box, that it isn't all about them, it's all about an incident.

Joanna's response to this question also indicated the capacity of TFB to facilitate objective learning for the client, suggesting that providing test takers with the opportunity to shape the assessment more, to have some input ("to be given a voice. . . .") on the process is a way to potentially enhance the benefits of TFB. She went on to describe how incorporating the perspective of the client into forensic assessments would be helpful, indicating forensic test takers perhaps could—and ideally should—be more involved in the assessment and TFB process.

Joanna: I think it [TFB] helps give them an objective perception of their behaviour and their personality, or how they're being perceived. . . . And part of what you're doing in forensics is you're also providing a bit of, like actuarial data, providing a bit of comparison. 'Where do you fall compared to other people who have committed this crime?'. . . [Regarding enhancing the benefits of TFB] One of the things that I think is important in the forensic world is that it [a TFB session] might offer the opportunity for them to correct any errors. . . . So it would give them a chance to make corrections,

or to at least to be given a voice.... It would be really lovely if people could read the reports and then I could say 'this is their [the test takers'] comments' or 'this is their perception on it too'. But we don't have that opportunity.

Theme 4: Feedback Implications Threatening Understanding or Engagement. Next, Group 2 respondents were asked, "Do you feel there are any potentially negative effects associated with providing clients with TFB? If so, what are these negative effects, and how might they be mitigated?" The over-arching theme that emerged from responses to this question was the danger of the implications associated with assessment preventing test takers from understanding TFB or successfully engaging in treatment. Various subthemes loaded onto this broader theme, including (a) the ability to access treatment (b) being overwhelmed by the emotions associated with TFB (c) taking results out of context.

Barry responded to this third question by describing how test takers can struggle with the implications of TFB in terms of the scope and cost of treatment ("feel overwhelmed by the treatment recommendations . . .") such that they may not understand, or may be discouraged from pursuing treatment. He described the regrettable reality that many clients receiving psychological assessment may not have the ability to access treatment ("that means their mental health is unaffordable. . . ."), and proceeded to highlight how results can be readily misunderstood or misinterpreted by test takers when they are taken out of context or not sufficiently explained. He identifies in-person TFB as the primary means by which these negative effects can be mitigated.

Barry: Certainly there are negative effects . . . In terms of giving verbal feedback, I think some of the negative consequences are that they may feel overwhelmed by the treatment recommendations and the amount of work that might go into trying to fix things. Remembering that the majority of the people I see tend to have some significantly disabling mental health problems that probably are going to require

significant energy on their part to get better, and very often they are individuals with limited resources. For example, if you were to tell somebody that they probably need a 30 hour course of some form of cognitive behavioural therapy for some combination of anxiety and mood problems, and they realize that the asking price for private sector psychological therapy is around \$200 an hour... you're suggesting they ought to be spending \$6,000 out of their own pocket for rehabilitation. I think the dilemma with that, and we don't fully appreciate this, is that for some people, that means their mental health is unaffordable. . . . There is also so much information there that it would be easy for an anxious person who's being assessed to find something alarming in the report. That is actually not an uncommon occurrence. When they see the report that they get alarmed by something, whether it's a discussion of some kind of personality issue or some other test data that they take out of context because it was interpreted from their own perspective as opposed to the perspective of a psychologist, and they then become alarmed. That may cause them distress and may lead them to misinterpret what's happening . . . Certainly these are very negative repercussions. Now of course you can soften those repercussions if you provide in person feedback, but, by and large, there are legal constraints to doing that . . .

Joanna's response to this question also speaks to the 'high-stakes' nature of assessment in forensic settings, and how the level of emotional arousal ("too emotionally involved. . . .") that accompanies assessment in these contexts can often lead to test takers misunderstanding or misinterpreting TFB ("they're not really in a position to absorb some of the information . . ."). She also described her concern that test takers may learn some things through TFB that, depending on the results, might not be entirely helpful ("it could be harmful . . .").

Joanna: Definitely, misunderstanding . . . taking it [TFB] out of context. I find that forensic clients are probably more inclined to misunderstand results because they're too emotionally involved. With forensic reports there's a lot of consequences, right. I mean based on my report somebody might go to jail versus continue to live in the community . . . So they're not really in a position to absorb some of the information

that we're giving them. I mean they have an alternative need, which is totally understandable in the moment. . . . They want to look really good and so they're giving you all their good stuff . . . and sometimes we are supporting them and looking at their strengths and [at other times] their weaknesses. But sometimes when they're not good [desirable] reports, I'm concerned that it could be harmful [to clients], and yeah sometimes I actually think it could be really hurtful . . .

Theme 5: Importance of Test Feedback Training Finally, Group 2 respondents were asked, "Is there anything else you would like to share regarding your experience or perspective on providing clients with test feedback?" The overarching theme that emerged from this question was the importance of training in learning to provide TFB. Various subthemes that mapped onto this overarching theme included a) promoting understandable TFB through accessible language, b) assuming responsibility for ones' own assessment competence, and c) the difficulty of learning to provide TFB requiring multi-modal learning.

Barry's response emphasized the importance of learning to provide accessible TFB to non-psychologists who may not have the same knowledge base or training. In his response, he suggests that jargon can be a major impediment to clients/consumers understanding test results, making an interesting and novel suggestion for graduate programs to consider implementing to aid the acquisition of this skill.

Barry: I suppose one of the things that I think that they could do in graduate programs would be to have an exercise whereby you run practice reports through consumers who are, without violating people's confidentiality of course, through consumers who aren't psychologists, like non-psychologist staff members or other students in different disciplines. [Have them] Read reports and say 'how understandable is this and how much of this is jargon that you can't understand?' so that you could actually get people to write reports that can communicate to non-mental health third parties. By and large the vast majority of psychological

assessment work is aimed at consumers who do not have the similar academic background to psychologists. It's very seldom that one actually writes a report where the primary consumer is going to be another psychologist.

Sarah's response to this question highlighted the importance of trainees ensuring that they get what they need from training programs in terms of assessment competence. She suggests that the responsibility ultimately lies with the student to seek out the requisite training ("making sure that whatever institution you attend actually trains you."). Her response also suggested that doctoral level training is likely more effective in preparing psychologists to work in certain settings, while emphasizing the variability in training programs, with the implication that not all psychologists attain assessment competence.

Sarah: Like everything else, it just needs to be a little bit more continuing education and a little bit more basic training. There's just such a wide variety of training. I have a doctorate and so I find I was fairly well trained for the work that I do. I see a lot of people who aren't and who don't have the requisite coursework, who really don't know what they're doing. So it just becomes about making sure that whatever institution you attend actually trains you.

Joanne's response highlighted the difficulty of learning to provide TFB requiring multimodal learning (i.e., in-class discussion, supervision, and practical experience). She emphasized how providing TFB is particularly challenging in cases when it is undesirable ("especially when it's unpleasant. . . ."), describing how psychologists' desire to help can actually impede their ability to provide hard-to-hear TFB effectively. Although she speaks to the importance of using established criteria to teach TFB in academic settings ("there needs to be clear academic guidelines . . .") her response also emphasized the limitations of classroom instruction and the important role of learning TFB in real-life settings as well. It is important to note that the

example she uses in the following excerpt pertains to employment screening, while her previous responses were oriented around forensic assessments.

Joanne: Yeah, I think it's something that should be part of discussion in class and also a part of supervision. It's very hard to give feedback to people, especially when it's unpleasant. I think psychologists like to help people and we're not very good at telling people negative things, unpleasant things. . . . I mean sometimes you can't learn this stuff in a class; you can talk about it and you can practice it, but it really is about working with a good supervisor, talking [about TFB] and doing it. . . . I mean you need to be straight, you need to be clear; there needs to be some clear kind of academic guidelines with what to do. Most of us, I think, a lot of psychologists, we're just generally uncomfortable. It's very uncomfortable to tell somebody, 'well on testing, even though you're telling me everything's fine in your life, you're coming up as slightly depressed and anxious and therefore I'm not going to give you this really great job that you've been working for 10 years on'. Who wants to tell somebody that?

Chapter 4: Discussion

This study utilized a sequential-explanatory mixed methods research (MMR) design to examine Canadian psychologists' test feedback (TFB) training and practice. In this replication of an earlier study by Curry and Hanson (2010), four broad research questions (RQs) were addressed. The first focused on the extent to which psychologists, deliver TFB to clients. The second, on the degree to which graduate and post-graduate training programs prepare psychologists to provide TFB. The third sought to identify factors associated with psychologists providing or not providing TFB, while the fourth inquired about how the experiences of practicing psychologists provide a better understanding of their TFB practices including how graduate and post-graduate training influenced those practices.

In terms of the first RQ focusing on the extent to which Canadian psychologists provide TFB to clients, as hypothesized, the majority of Canadian psychologists indicated they do provide some form of TFB to clients most of the time, as 91% of respondents indicated providing TFB to clients *frequently* or more often. Consistent with previous survey research (Curry & Hanson, 2010; Rupert et al., 1999; Smith et al., 2007), verbal TFB was the most commonly indicated format, with 88.2% of respondents reporting they provide verbal TFB at least *frequently*. As such, it appears that TFB practices among Canadian psychologists are largely consistent with ethical standards and guidelines that psychologists share test results with clients (cf. APA, 2002; CPA, 2000). It is likely that third party assessments, in which the 'client' and the test taker are seen as different individuals (e.g., in forensic assessments), account for the 9% of respondents indicating they do not provide TFB consistently, particularly given that 18.3% of respondents in this study reported using assessments for court-mandated reasons. Still, because the extent to which Canadian psychologists conducting third party assessments provide

TFB is not known, this gap may indicate a discrepancy between current TFB practices and existing ethical standards and guidelines.

In comparison with Curry and Hanson's (2010) findings indicating 91.7% of American psychologists provide some form of TFB to clients *sometimes* or more often, the present results appear to suggest higher rates of providing both verbal (88.2% > 65.5%) and written TFB (60.2% > 43%) among Canadian psychologists. However, according to a comparison of means based on 5-point likert scales –employed in both studies– the difference between verbal TFB among Canadian (M = 4.55, SD = 0.87) and American psychologists (M = 3.90, SD = 1.03) was not significantly different (t = 0.48, p > 0.05). Likewise, differences in providing written TFB among Canadian (M = 3.67, SD = 1.41) and American psychologists (M = 3.31, SD = 1.28) are not significantly different (t = 0.19, p > 0.05). Although different sample sizes, variances, and scale descriptors makes for suboptimal comparison, based on the available data, there is insufficient evidence to conclude that the TFB practices among Canadian and American psychologists are meaningfully different.

With regard to the second RQ focusing on whether and how training programs are preparing psychologists to provide TFB, the results suggest there is considerable room for improvement. A sizeable proportion of psychologists did not finding graduate or post-graduate training helpful in learning to provided TFB, with approximately $1/3^{\rm rd}$ of respondents indicating either neutral or negative experiences. This finding is consistent with Curry and Hanson (2010), and with existing literature suggesting training in psychological assessment is often deficient in instilling assessment and TFB competence in graduates (Handler & Smith, 2013; Stedman, Hatch, & Schoenfeld, 2000). Possible explanations that have been offered for this occurrence include training programs responding to the influence of managed care limiting the funding

available for psychological assessments, and insufficient training program resources (Belter & Piotrowski, 2001; Curry & Hanson, 2010).

In the present study, practicum/clinical experience was the most commonly indicated TFB instruction method in both graduate and post-graduate training. As hypothesized, and consistent with Curry and Hanson (2010), respondents who found post-graduate training helpful in learning to provide TFB were more likely to report providing TFB consistently, while those who found graduate training helpful were not. Interestingly, the extent to which respondents' graduate training was experience-based (e.g., practicum, role playing vs. lecture or assigned reading) corresponded to their providing TFB more consistently; however, this was not the case for post-graduate training. Respondents who received experience-based instruction were also more likely to report finding both graduate and post-graduate training helpful in learning to provide TFB. The most likely explanation for this pattern of results is that respondents in this study found experience-based instruction (i.e., learning by doing) more effective than didactic approaches, not only in learning how to provide TFB, but in learning to value the activity (which is relational in nature), and coming to appreciate its importance, therapeutic utility and treatment efficacy such that it impacted subsequent practice. The stronger association between TFB practice and experience-based learning at the graduate level likely speaks to the variability of instruction methods in graduate training programs (cf., Handler & Smith, 2013; Krishnamurthy et al., 2004), with experience-based instruction being experienced as more helpful. The more consistently experience-based nature of post-graduate training likely accounts for the comparatively weak association between participatory instruction in post-graduate training and providing TFB – which makes sense when one considers respondents who found post-graduate training helpful, regardless of training type, were more likely to report

consistently providing TFB. Although these findings do not establish a causal relationship, they do suggest that training has a significant bearing on psychologists' subsequent TFB practice.

Based on the proliferation of collaborative/therapeutic approaches to assessment in recent decades (Finn, Fischer & Handler, 2012), as well as prior research, it was hypothesized that recently graduated psychologists would provide TFB more consistently than those earning their degrees earlier. In a similar way, based on increased awareness of collaborative/therapeutic assessment models, and a presumed emphasis on the importance of TFB in contemporary training programs, it was also hypothesized that recently graduated psychologists would report finding TFB training more helpful than earlier graduates. However, the results did not support either of these hypotheses. This is consistent with Curry and Hanson (2010) on both counts, with the exception that recently graduated clinical psychologists were more likely to provide verbal TFB in the original study – a result that did not materialize in this study. Taken together, these results suggest that contemporary training programs are not preparing psychologists to provide TFB to clients more effectively than those of the past. However, an alternative explanation is that psychologists graduating at earlier points in time may be learning to provide TFB through means other than formal academic training (e.g., continued professional education, work experience, consultation) such that their practice is comparable to recent graduates.

Regarding the third RQ that sought to identify factors associated with psychologists'

TFB practices, in addition to the training variables already discussed, a number of context variables were also associated with respondents' TFB practices. Based on the pattern of results, the age of the test taker appears to play an important role in psychologists providing TFB to clients. Specifically, psychologists who use assessments with children and adolescents were more likely to report providing TFB, while psychologists who use assessments with adult

populations were less likely to report providing TFB, which is unexpected, given that C/TA was first developed with University-aged clients (Finn & Tonsager, 1992). Furthermore, respondents affiliated with the Psychologists in Education and Developmental Psychology CPA sections were more likely to report providing TFB to clients consistently, also implicating age as a determining factor. This pattern of results also converges with the finding that psychologists using behavioural instruments were more likely to report providing TFB. Behavioural instruments are utilized predominately with children and youth, and are often components of psychoeducational assessments (Reynolds & Kamphaus, 2004; Sattler, 2008). The most likely explanation of these results is that youth are typically referred for assessments for developmental, behavioural and educational purposes, with the intention of understanding their difficulties such that they can be better helped and supported. (cf. Sattler, 2008), which is not always the case with adults.

Another related pattern of results that emerged with respect to the third RQ suggests that Canadian psychologists are less likely to provide TFB to clients in assessments that involve third parties –the legal/judicial system in particular, which incidentally, is consistent with ethical exemptions (e.g., College of Alberta Psychologists Practice Guidelines, 2013). Psychologists who use assessments for court-mandated reasons and those affiliated with the Criminal Justice CPA section were both less likely to report providing TFB consistently than their colleagues. The negative association between respondents using assessments with adults and providing TFB is also relevant as the circumstances surrounding adult assessments are often quite different in that they are more likely to involve third parties (Frank & Elliot, 2000), and adult clients are less likely to have beneficent advocates or caregivers than are children and students. Issues pertaining to client motivation, interest and capacity to understand TFB when conducting

substance abuse, brain injury, child custody, competency or forensic assessments are also more salient when the test taker is an adult (Nagliere & Graham, 2003). Essentially, the process of conducting assessments and providing TFB becomes more complicated with adult populations due to the involvement of third parties.

Integration of Quantitative and Qualitative Data

Mixed methods research requires the integration of the quantitative and qualitative data strands at one of five distinct points in the research sequence (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011). In keeping with the sequential-explanatory MMR design, the data strands were integrated at the point of interpretation, whereby the results from the qualitative interviews were used to explain and shed light on the survey results. Additionally, interviewees were selected based on their quantitative survey responses, which represents yet another form of integration (at the point of data collection). Ultimately, this corresponds to the fourth RQ that sought to understand the experiences of six psychologists representing two distinct groups. Based on the results, psychologists who regularly provide TFB to clients despite insufficient training appear to be learning this skill primarily through self-instruction and trial-and-error. This is consistent with Curry and Hanson (2010) who, likewise, found that psychologists learn to provide TFB largely on their own through similar processes (i.e., trial-and-error), often identifying didactic classroom instruction as absent or ineffective. For the present study, respondents learning in this way corresponded to their supervisor's level of involvement/perceived skill, inadequate academic preparation, and the complexity of assessment and TFB outstripping didactic training methods. These results shed some light on the processes involved in psychologists experiencing their TFB training as deficient, and highlight the importance of experience-based learning. Taken together with the quantitative data, the results suggest that learning by doing may be the

most effective TFB training approach. However, it is important to note that experience-based learning does not necessarily involve trial-and-error, and more effective didactic training approaches may see future practitioners learning to provide TFB because of their academic training, rather than in spite of it.

Psychologists who reported not providing TFB to clients consistently indicated conducting assessments primarily in forensic settings, and identified a lack of opportunity or precedent in their assessment contexts as the primary reason for not providing TFB. In keeping with previous research (cf. Curry & Hanson, 2010; Smith, Wiggins & Gorske, 2007), all respondents expressed their willingness and preference to provide TFB whenever possible/feasible. Respondents' experience of not providing TFB was a result of a perceived discrepancy between the 'client' and the test taker, and of practical, legal, monetary and cultural/professional barriers preventing them from doing so. Respondents also indicated their perspective that the onus to initiate or pursue TFB lies with the consumer/client, and that barriers need to be removed to make TFB sessions more feasible. These results shed some light on the quantitative results, suggesting the primary reason 9% of respondents do not regularly provide TFB to clients is a lack of opportunity. They also help to explain the negative association between providing TFB to clients and (1) using assessments for court-mandated reasons and (2) affiliation with the Criminal Justice Section of CPA. These results are largely consistent with Curry and Hanson (2010), and do not appear to represent a deviation from established ethical standards and guidelines (cf. College of Alberta Psychologists, 2013).

Both groups of respondents identified enhanced learning and understanding as the primary benefit of providing TFB to clients, with some notable differences between them.

Respondents who indicated providing TFB inconsistently identified the opportunity for

objective learning as the primary benefit of receiving TFB. This theme corresponded to promoting clients' understanding of their unique challenges or situation, increasing their awareness of treatment options and implications, and the important role that the clients' level of motivation and interest plays in them deriving a benefit from TFB. Conversely, and consistent with the C/TA model (cf. Finn, Fischer & Handler, 2012), for respondents who regularly provide TFB, the importance of enhancing understanding was connected to using that understating to benefit clients in tangible ways. This understanding corresponded to the reciprocal relationship between assessment and therapy/treatment, the importance of considering the clients' practical needs, and of situating TFB into the lived context of the client. These results shed light on the positive association between providing TFB to clients and (1) using assessments as a therapeutic intervention and (2) encouraging clients to generate their own personally relevant questions. Based on the integration of the data strands, these results suggest that psychologists who regularly provide TFB to clients conceptualize assessment in a manner that is more consistent with the C/TA model, and provide some insight into how that model shapes their assessment and TFB practices.

Both groups of respondents identified clients/consumers misunderstanding or misinterpreting TFB as its primary potential negative effect, again with notable differences. Respondents who do not provide TFB consistently identified the implications of TFB potentially threatening the clients' understanding of the results or their successfully engaging in treatment. This theme corresponded to the clients' ability to access treatment, feeling overwhelmed by the emotions or implications associated with the results (e.g., being incarcerated), and the danger that TFB could be taken out of context. Conversely, respondents regularly providing TFB emphasized the importance of presenting TFB in such a way that

guards against the pitfalls of misunderstanding or misinterpretation. This emphasis on the manner in which TFB is given corresponded to the potential danger of emotional arousal preventing understanding, and specific mechanisms that guard against misunderstanding including accuracy, repetition, respect, explanation/clarification, and the importance of context. These qualitative results partially account for the relative prevalence of verbal TFB indicated on the survey, with 88.2% of respondents providing verbal TFB frequently or more often, as opposed to 60.2% providing written TFB frequently or more often. Respondents in both groups spoke to their preference for verbal TFB in terms of it being more conducive to thorough and indepth explanations of test results, ensuring clients' understanding, and providing them with an opportunity to ask questions. This result is encouraging, as verbal TFB permits more dialogue and reciprocal client-clinician interaction than written formats, (cf. Finn, 2007). However, written TFB allows the clinician to relay a considerable amount of information, and the client can refer back to the document indefinitely if needed. Arguably, there is some benefit to incorporating both forms of TFB, as some research demonstrates (cf. Fallows & Hilsabeck, 2013).

Limitations

This study has a number of limitations in the area of generalizability. First, a census sampling strategy was used in which all potential/available respondents meeting inclusion criteria were invited to participate. This study utilized a census sampling technique, yielding a large sample but a relatively low response rate (14.4%). It is also important to specify that this is a census technique and not a census proper; as such, the population of interest may differ from the sampling frame in important ways, potentially limiting the degree to which the results generalize beyond participants in this study. However, according to the available current

research, participants in this survey do appear to represent Canadian psychologists active in assessment reasonably well (cf. Hunsley, Ronson, & Cohen, 2013; Ionita & Fitzpatrick, 2014). Another limitation pertains to respondents self-selecting (cf., Shadish, Cook, & Campbell, 2002), with the implication that the results may reflect the perspectives of psychologists predisposed to participating in research of this nature more than they do the population of interest. The reality of demand characteristics inadvertently encouraging respondents to provide a more desirable account of their TFB practices, or discouraging respondents who provide TFB less consistently from participating, may also result in a more favourable, less accurate picture of TFB practices than exists in reality (cf. Nicols & Maner, 2008). The ethnic/cultural invariability of the sample also limits the generalizability of these results, as respondents were overwhelmingly European-Canadian/white; private practice was identified as the primary practice setting far more often than any other category, and the majority of respondents selfidentified as clinical psychologists. Based on the assumption that specializations likely differ in their assessment and TFB practices (cf. Clemence & Handler, 2001) the degree to which these results reflect psychological assessment in Canada, in all its diversity, may be limited.

The correlational analysis used in this study also poses a number of limitations. While correlations identify the presence of relationships among variables, they cannot speak to the nature of those relationships. To be clear, none of the associations reported in this study establishes a causal link between any of the variables examined and Canadian psychologists' TFB practices. Another limitation of the correlational analysis pertains to the factors associated with providing TFB to clients. First, it should be noted that not all correlations are created equal, and the small magnitude of many of the reported associations limits the degree to which they can be argued to correspond to psychologists' TFB practices. Second, because many of the

reported correlations were not guided by hypotheses or an overarching TFB theory at the outset, and because associations may emerge that mean nothing simply due to chance, these results may be criticized on the basis of 'data fishing' (cf. Selvin & Stuart, 1996). However, the adopted approach was the most appropriate to answer the research question posed, and a number of precautions were taken in light of these limitations.

Perhaps most importantly, there are a number of limitations presented by the survey instrument itself. First, because the psychometric properties and factor structure of the instrument are not known (and, for that matter, not the focus of the study), it cannot be stated definitively whether or how the instrument maps onto psychologists providing TFB to clients. Second, in the spirit of study replication, the decision was made to include several potentially problematic items – to maximize the comparability with Curry and Hanson (2010). However, despite attempts to enhance clarity using more precise language and alternative response formats, two items that proved to be problematic in the original study also had to be omitted from this study. The item inquiring about whether respondents provide a copy of test results to clients (item 20; see Appendix A) was omitted from analysis. As the study progressed, it became apparent this item did not correspond with providing TFB to clients as conceptualized. The items asking respondents to provide a global estimate of the proportion of classroom instruction dedicated specifically to providing TFB (items 26 and 29; see Appendix A) were also omitted due to a large number of missing responses and participants indicating they were not confident in their ability to answer accurately. Third, because the survey instrument allowed respondents to endorse multiple options in some cases –including *other*– the extent to which the survey data can be used to answer other specific questions is limited (e.g., "Is there a relationship between conducting developmental delay assessments and providing TFB?"). The

decision to utilize the current form of the instrument was based on maintaining a reasonable completion time and response rate, as well as the exploratory nature of this research among Canadian psychologists. Finally, several components that should have been included in the survey were overlooked. First, respondents were not asked about their age, which poses some limitations to generalizability and comparability with existing studies. Also, the instrument was not translated into French, unfortunately forcing Francophone respondents to complete the existing English version. This represents a definite oversight for a national survey study of Canadian psychologists.

The qualitative component also presents a number of limitations. First, although qualitative methods are typically not intended to enhance generalizability, it should be stated explicitly that the present qualitative results are not intended to represent the experiences or perspectives of any psychologists beyond this study. Second, although member checking was used to enhance the validity and trustworthiness of the results, the researcher conducted the qualitative data collection and analysis in isolation. As such, some important aspects of respondents' experience may have been overlooked or underemphasized, while others may have been underscored as a result of the researcher's expectations, experience, values, etc. Third, interviews were conducted with the providers of TFB rather than the recipients, and discrepancies between the perspectives of psychologists and clients on the subject of TFB may be considerable. Finally, the nature of qualitative research, as a form of interpretive inquiry, poses other limits to this study that are discussed elsewhere (see Method).

Directions for Future Research

While operationally defining TFB through general description of assessment activities has sufficed to date, a unifying theory of TFB and what it entails is necessary to advance future

research in this area. This denotes creating an empirically based theoretical construct, requiring collaboration among diverse educators, researchers and professionals. A more substantiated measure of TFB could then be developed, with identifiable psychometric properties. Analyzing and integrating components of the C/TA model, TI framework, and the survey instrument used in the present study may be promising places to begin (cf. Finn & Tonsager, 1997; Lichtenberg & Goodyear, 1999; Curry & Hanson, 2010). In a similar way, researchers and clinicians should collaborate to develop TFB process and outcome measures (cf. Lambert, Hansen, & Harmon, 2010) for both clients and clinicians to monitor the effective provision of TFB. Tools such as this would be easy to implement in training and research settings alike, and Finn's Assessment Questionnaire-2 (AQ-2) is an existing tool that may be helpful to model in this regard (Finn & Tonsager, 1992). Future research should also explore more sophisticated quantitative techniques to examine the relationships between the variables identified in this and other TFB studies. For example, using logistical regression, and treating TFB as a binary variable, researchers could model the probability of psychologists providing TFB every time.

Teasing apart and delineating TFB practices among psychologists as it relates to specialization and practice setting represents an important line of inquiry. Researchers could achieve this by employing quota-sampling strategies to engineer samples that are more representative of the target population. The relatively high rates of psychologists conducting assessments in private practice settings may be an area of particular interest. The observation that assessments are being increasingly outsourced to specialists in private practice (cf. Nagliere & Graham, 2003) may negatively impact the consistent provision of TFB. The pressure to remain competitive in the private sector and the influence of managed care may result in clinician's regarding TFB as superfluous to the actual assessment, perhaps presenting the TFB

'option' to clients in a 'batteries not included' fashion. This would be particularly unfortunate, given TFB's known treatment benefits (cf. Poston & Hanson, 2010).

Future research on what works in training psychologists to provide TFB is also needed. Whether the seemingly equitable TFB practices of early and more recently graduated psychologists are better explained by inadequate training or continued professional education/evolution remains unclear. This represents an important line of inquiry for future research to address, and longitudinal research designs on graduates with comparable training, tracking their professional development/education activities and TFB practices over time, may be helpful in answering this question. Although it is often mentioned in tandem with academic and practical/clinical training, given its salient role in attaining assessment and TFB competency, future research should examine the specific effects of supervision on TFB practice, which would likely be amenable to longitudinal or retrospective (e.g., archival) research designs. Research on the value that practitioners currently place on TFB, as well as their rationale for that assigned value, is also needed in order to identify barriers to implementing more explicit TFB practice and training standards and guidelines, and to facilitate 'buy-in' among diverse assessment professionals. Further qualitative study is also needed to explore the TFB experiences of both clients and clinicians (cf. Ward, 2008). Once the processes involved in effective TFB are better understood, experimental studies can be designed that control for potential confounds (e.g., common factors) as well as dismantling studies that tease apart and explicitly identify the active components TFB and C/TA.

Practice and Training Implications: Moving TFB Forward

There are a number of implications for practice and training emanating from the results of this study. While one might argue for the importance of disseminating these results to

existing professionals, it is more likely that they will find 'traction' among current and future trainers and trainees. Based on that assumption, the section will focus more on training implications. First, training programs should value TFB as an integral aspect of any psychological assessment, and regard its provision as a unique competency to be attained through a variety of didactic approaches. This denotes educating trainees on relevant ethical standards/guidelines (including exceptions to them), assigning appropriate TFB-related reading, and in-class discussion oriented around understanding the complexity and importance of TFB. Second, trainees should become familiar with both the IG and C/TA assessment models, developing their understanding of these divergent approaches, and ultimately being encouraged to appreciate their compatibility. Third, learning to provide TFB should employ a sequential continuum of experience-based modalities, including instructors modeling of exemplars and TFB faux pas, in-class role-playing, and -most importantly- ample opportunity to provide TFB to clients in the context of supervised practice, complete with FB from supervisors. Fourth, trainees should be educated about the complexity of assessments involving third parties, and how they can be successfully navigated to optimally benefit clients. This might include bringing in guest lecturers active in third party assessments (e.g., in forensic settings) to share their experience, orient students to relevant important concerns, and speak to the potential benefits of providing TFB to test takers despite existing barriers and/or unfavourable attitudes. Finally, in keeping with the ethical principal of responsible caring (CPA, 2000), psychologists active in assessment need to advocate for test takers to receive TFB whenever possible. This requires a deliberate effort from researchers, educators, and clinicians to inform third parties about the many benefits of receiving TFB, and in all but the most extreme cases, to regard TFB as the sine qua non of any effective psychological assessment.

Conclusion.

By way of conclusion, it is worth nothing that the responses from the seemingly distinct qualitative groups are actually quite similar in many respects. Taken as a whole, both groups see providing TFB as a highly beneficial and important professional activity, with potential benefits and drawbacks of providing TFB, as well as important areas for growth in the profession being much more similar across respondents than they are different. When invited to discuss any additional aspects of TFB they thought relevant or important, both groups responded in a way that was highly reminiscent of Brenner's, (2003) recommendations to (1) Eliminate jargon, (2) focus on referral questions, (3) individualize reports, (4) emphasize client strengths, and (5) include concrete recommendations. Indeed, respondents described how TFB depends on heightening accessibility, eliminating jargon, enhancing relevance through strengths-based approaches, the significance and therapeutic utility of TFB, the importance of training in learning to provide understandable TFB, and the difficulty of assessment and TFB requiring multi-modal learning (i.e., in-class instruction, discussion in supervision, and practical hands-on experience). In fact, all respondents expressed views that were, to some extent, consistent with Brenner's (2003) recommendations, suggesting these might be helpful guidelines in establishing more effective TFB practices.

Based on the present results, on balance, the divergent TFB practices of Canadian psychologists appear to be best accounted for by (1) the age of the test taker (2) the clinician's training experiences, and (3) conducting assessments that involve third parties —the legal/judicial system in particular—the intersection between assessment and third parties making the provision of TFB a much more complex and nuanced process than it is in other settings. Psychological Assessment represents a diverse, intricate and important professional activity that is unique to

psychologists. Although there is no shortage of challenges associated with improving this enterprise –TFB being no exception– assessment psychology will arguably continue to define the profession, informing and impacting the lives of all individuals who participate in it. Hopefully, the current line of inquiry will make that impact all the more beneficial as we continue to learn about how to most effectively provide TFB to the consumers of psychological assessments.

References

- Ackerman, S. J., Hilsenroth, M. J., Baity, M. R., & Blagys, M. D. (2000). Interaction of therapeutic process and alliance during psychological assessment. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 75, 82-109. doi:10.1207/S15327752JPA7501 7
- Aldea, M. A., Rice, K. G., Gormely, B. & Rojas, A. (2010). Testing perfectionists about their perfectionism: Effects of providing feedback on emotional reactivity and psychological symptoms. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 48, 1194-1203. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2010.09.-003
- Allen, A., Montgomery, M., Tubman, J., Frazier, L., & Escovar, L. (2003). The effects of assessment feedback on rapport-building and self-enhancement processes. *Journal of Mental Health Counselling*, 25, 165-181. Retrieved from http://www.amhca.org/journal
- Alexander, J. C. (1995). Fin de siecle social theory: Relativism, reduction and the problem of reason. New York, NY: Verso.
- American Psychological Association (2002). Ethical principals of psychologists and code of conduct. *American Psychologist*, *57*, 1060-1073. doi:10.1037/a0020168
- Ascheieri, F., & Smith, J. D. (2012). The effectiveness of therapeutic assessment with an adult client: A single case study using a time-series design. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 94(1), 1-11. doi:10.1080/00223891.2011.627964
- Belter, R. W., & Piotrowski, C. (2001). Current status of doctoral-level training in psychological testing. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *57*, 717-726. doi: 10.1002/jclp.1044
- Bennett-Levy, J., Klein-Boonschate, M., Batchelor, J., McCarter, R., & Walton, N. (1994).

 Encounters with anna thompson: The consumer's experience of neuropsychological

- assessment, *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 8(2), 219-238. doi:10.1080/138540494-08401559
- Berndt, D. J. (1983). Ethical and professional considerations in psychological assessment.

 *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 14(5), 580-587. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.14.5.580
- Brenner, E. (2003). Consumer-focused psychological assessment. *Professional Psychology:**Research and Practice, 34(3), 240-247. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.34.3.240
- Canadian Psychological Association (2000). Canadian code of ethics for psychologists (3rd ed.).

 Ottawa: On: Author. Retrieved from http://www.cpa.ca/aboutcpa/ethics/codeofethics/
- Chusid, H., & Cochran, L. (1989). Meaning of career changes from the perspective of family roles and dramas. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, *36*, 34-41. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.36.1.34
- Clemence, A. J., & Handler, L. (2001). Psychological assessment on internship: A survey of training directors and their expectations for students. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 76, 18–47. doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa7601 2
- College of Alberta Psychologists (2013). Practice guideline: Dual roles in conducting assessments and providing therapy with the same client. Edmonton, AB: Author. Retrieved from http://www.cap.ab.ca/pdfs/capmonitor44.pdf
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five

- approaches (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods* research (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Crosson, B. (2000). Application of neuropsychological assessment results. In R. D. Vanderploeg (Eds.), *Clinician's guide to neuropsychological assessment* (2nd ed., pp. 195-244). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Curry, K. T., & Hanson, W. E. (2010). National survey of psychologists' test feedback training, supervision, and practice: A mixed methods study. *Journal of Personality Assessment* 92(4), 327-336. doi:10.1080/00223891.2010.482006
- Dana, R. H. (1985). A service-delivery paradigm for personality assessment. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 49(6), 598-604. doi:10.1027/1015-5759.14.1.62
- Dancey, C., & Reidy, J. (2007). Statistics without maths for psychology: Using spss for windows. London, UK: Prentice Hall.
- Engelman, D. H., & Frankel, S. A. (2002). The three person field: Collaborative consultation to psychotherapy. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, *30*, 49-62. doi:10.1080/08873267.2002.9-977022
- Fallows, R. R., & Hilsabeck, R. C. (2013). Comparing two methods of delivering neuropsychological feedback. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 28, 180-188. doi:1-0.1093/arclin/acrs142
- Finn, S. E. (1996). *Manual for using the MMPI-2 as a therapeutic intervention*. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Finn, S. E. (2007). *In our clients' shoes: Theory and techniques of therapeutic assessment.*Mahwah, NJ: Earlbaum.

- Finn, S. E., Fischer, C. T., & Handler, L. (2012). *Collaborative/therapeutic assessment: A casebook and guide*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Finn, S. E., & Tonsager, M. E. (1992). Therapeutic effects of providing MMPI-2 test feedback to college students awaiting therapy. *Psychological Assessment*, *4*(3), 278-287. doi:10.1-037/1040-3590.4.3.278
- Finn, S. E., & Tonsager, M. E. (1997). Information-gathering and therapeutic models of assessment: Complementary paradigms. *Psychological Assessment*, *9*(4), 374-385. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.9.4.374
- Finn, S. E., & Tonsager, M. E. (2002). How therapeutic assessment became humanistic. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 30, 10-22. doi:10.1080/08873267.2002.9977019
- Fischer, C. T. (1978). Collaborative psychological assessment. In C. T. Fischer & S. L. Brodsky (Eds.). *Client participation in human services* (pp. 41-61). New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books.
- Fischer, C. T. (1985). *Individualizing Psychological Assessment*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Fischer, C. T. (2000). Collaborative, individualized assessment. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 74, 2-14. doi:10.1207/S15327752JPA740102
- Frank, R. G., & Elliott, T. R. (2000). *Handbook of rehabilitation psychology*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Gas, C. S., & Brown, M. C. (1992). Neuropsychological test feedback to patients with brain dysfunction. *Psychological Assessment*, *4*(3), 272-277. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.4.3.272
- Goldman, L. (1972). Test and counselling: The marriage that failed. *Measurement & Evaluation in Guidance*, *4*, 213-220. Retrieved from http://www.worldcat.org/title/measurement-and-evaluation-in-guidance/oclc/1756936

- Gorske, T. T., & Smith, S. (2008). *Collaborative therapeutic neuropsychological assessment*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Greene, J. C., Caracelli, V. J., & Graham, W. F. (1989). Toward a conceptual framework for mixed-method evaluation designs. *Educational Evaluation And Policy Analysis*, 11(3), 255. doi:10.3102/01623737011003255
- Groth-Marnat, G. (2003). *Handbook of psychological assessment* (4th ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley & Sons.
- Groves, R. M., Fowler, F. J., Couper, M. P., Lepkowski, J. M., Singer, E., & Tourangeau, R. (2009) *Survey methodology* (2nd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley & Sons.
- Hamilton, A. M., Fowler, J. L., Hersh, B., Austin, C. A., Finn, S. E., Tharinger, D. J., Parton,
 V., Stahl, K., & Arora, P. (2009). Why won't my parents help me? Therapeutic
 assessment of a child and her family. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 91(2), 108-120.
 doi:10.1080/00223890802633995.
- Handler, L., & Smith, J. D. (2013). Education and training in psychological assessment. In I. B.
 Weimer (Eds.), *Handbook of psychology: Vol. 10. Assessment psychology* (2nd ed., pp. 211-238). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Hanson, W. E., & Claiborn, C. D. (2006). Effects of test interpretation style and favorability in the counselling process. *Journal of Counselling & Development*, 84, 349-357.
 doi:10.100-2/j.1556-6678.2006.tb00414.x
- Hanson, W. E., Claiborn, C. D., & Kerr, B. (1997). Differential effects of two test-interpretation styles in counselling: A field study. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, *44*(4), 400-405. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.44.4.400

- Hanson, W. E., Creswell, J. W., Plano Clark, V. L., Petska, K. S., & Cresswell, J. D. (2005).Mixed methods research designs in counselling psychology. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.224
- Hanson, W. E., & Poston, J. M. (2011). Building confidence in psychological assessment as a therapeutic intervention: An empirically based reply to Lilienfeld, Garb, and Wood (2011). *Psychological Assessment*, *23*, 1056-1062. doi:10.1037/a0025656
- Harrower, M. (1956). Projective counselling—a psychotherapeutic technique. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 10, 74-86. Retrieved from: http://psycnet.apa.org/psycinfo/1957-01113-001
- Hill, C. E., Knox, S., Thompson, B. J., & Williams, E. N., Hess, S. A. (2005). Consensual qualitative research: An update. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, *52*(2), 196-205. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.196
- Hilsenroth, M. J., & Cromer, T. D. (2007) Clinician interventions related to alliance during the initial interview and psychological assessment. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training*, 44, 205-218. doi:10.1037/0033-3204.44.2.205.
- Hilsenroth, M. J., Peters, E. J., & Ackerman, S. J. (2004). The development of therapeutic alliance during psychological assessment: Patient and therapist perspectives across treatment. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 83, 332-344. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa8-303_14
- Holliday, S. B., King, C., & Heilbrun, K. (2013). Offenders' perceptions of risk factors for self and others: Theoretical importance and some empirical data. *Criminal Justice & Behavior*, 40(9), 1044-1061. doi:10.1177/0093854813482308

- Holm-Denoma, J. M., Gordon, K. H., Donohue, Keith F., Waesche, M. C., Castro, Y., Brown, J. S., Jakobsons, L. J., Merrill, K. A., Buckner, J. D., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2008). Patients' affective reactions to receiving diagnostic feedback. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 27(6), 555-575. doi:10.1521/jscp.2008.27.6.555
- Hosenshil, T. H. (1996). Role of assessment and diagnosis in counselling. *Journal of Counselling & Development*, 75(1), 64-67. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.1996.tb02316.x
- Hunsley, J., Ronson, A., Cohen, K. (2013). Professional practice in Canada: A survey of demographic and practice characteristics. *Professional psychology research & practice*, 44(2), 118-126. doi:10.1037/a0029672
- Ionita, G., & Fitzpatrick, M. (2014). Bringing science to clinical practice: A Canadian survey of psychological practice and usage of progress monitoring measures. *Canadian Psychology*, 55(3), 187-196. doi:10.1037/a0037355
- Jacques, E. (1945). The clinical use of the Thematic Apperception Test with soldiers. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 40, 363-375. doi:10.1037/h0062788
- Jobes, D. A., Wong, S. A., Conrad, A. K., Drozd, J. F., & Neal-Walden, T. (2005). The Collaborative Assessment and Management of suicidality versus treatment as usual: A retrospective study with suicidal outpatients. *Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior*, 35, 483-497. doi:10.1521/suli.2005.35.5.483
- Kida, T. E. (2006). *Don't believe everything you think: The 6 basic mistakes we make in thinking*. Amherst, NY: Prometheus.
- Klopfer, W. G. (1954). Principles of report writing. In B. Klopfer, M. D. Ainsworth, W. G.Klopfer, & R. R. Holt (Eds.), Developments in the Rorschach technique: Vol. 1.Technique and theory (pp. 601–610). New York: Harcourt, Brace & World.

- Krishnamurthy, R., VandeCreek, L., Kaslow, N. J., Tazeau, Y. N., Miville, M. L., Kerns, R., Stegman, R., Suzuki, L., Benton, S. A. (2004) Achieving competency in psychological assessment: Directions for education and training. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 60(7), 725-739. doi:10.1002/jclp.20010
- Lambert, M. J., Hansen, N. B., & Harmon, S. C. (2010). The OQ-45 system: Development and practical applications in healthcare settings. In M. Barkham, G. Hardy, & J. Mellor-Clark (Eds.) *Developing and delivering practiced-based evidence: A guide for the psychological therapies* (pp. 141-1534). New York, NY: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Labov, W. (1972). Some principals of linguistic methodology. *Language in Society, 1*, 97-120. doi:10.1017/S0047404500006576
- Lichtenberg, J. W., & Goodyear, R. K. (1999). Scientist-practitioner perspectives in test interpretation. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Lilienfeld, S. O., Garb, H. N., & Wood, J. M., (2011). Unresolved questions concerning the effectiveness of psychological assessment as a therapeutic intervention: Comment on Poston and Hanson, 2010. *Psychological Assessment, 23*(4), 1047-1055. doi:10.1037/a-0025177
- Lillie, R. (2007). Getting clients to hear: Applying principles and techniques of Kiesler's

 Interpersonal Communication Therapy to assessment feedback. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, and Practice, 80*, 151-163. doi:10.1348/147608306x115198
- Luborsky, L. (1953). Self-interpretations of the TAT as a clinical technique. *Journal of Projective Techniques*, *17*, 217-223. doi:10.1080/08853126.1953.10380481

- Luzzo, D. A., & Day, M. A. (1999). Effects of Strong Interest Inventory feedback on career decision-making self-efficacy and social cognitive career beliefs. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 7(1), 1-17. doi:10.1177/106907279900700101
- Marks, D. F. (2000). The psychology of the psychic (2nd ed.). Amherst, NY: Prometheus Books.
- May, T. M., & Scott, K. J. (1991). Assessment in counselling psychology: Do we practice what we teach? *The Counselling Psychologist*, *19*, 396-413. doi:10.1177/0011000091193009
- Meehl, P. (1956). Wanted–a good cook-book. *American Psychologist*, 11(6), 263-272. doi:10.1-037/h0044164
- Merker, B. M., Hanson, W. E., & Poston, J. M. (2010). National survey of psychologists' training and practice in breaking "bad news:" A mixed methods study of the MUM effect. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings, 17*, 211-219. doi:10.1007/s1-0880-010-9197-0.
- Meyer, G. J., Finn, S. E., Eyde, L. D., Kay, G. G., Moreland, K. L., Dies, R. R., et al. (2001).

 Psychological testing and psychological assessment. *American Psychologist*, *56*, 128-165. doi:10.1037/0003-066x.56.2.128
- Morey, L. C., Lowmaster, S. E., & Hopwood, C. J. (2010). A pilot study of manual-assisted cognitive therapy with a therapeutic assessment augmentation for borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 178(3), 531-535. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2010.04.055
- Murray, H. A. (1943). Thematic apperception test. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Nagliere, J. A., & Graham, J. R. (2003). Current status and future directions of assessment psychology. In I. B. Weimer (Eds.), *Handbook of psychology: Vol. 10. Assessment psychology* (pp. 579-592). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Nicols, A. L., & Maner, J. K. (2008). The good subject effect: Investigating participant demand

- characteristics. *Journal of General Psychology*, *135*, 151-165. doi:10.3200/genp.135.2-.151-166.
- Newman, M. L., & Greenway, P. (1997). Therapeutic effects of providing MMPI-2 test feedback to clients at a university counselling service: A collaborative approach. *Psychological Assessment*, *9*(2), 122-131. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.9.2.122
- Ordoff, R. M., & Herr, E. L. (1996). A comparative study of declared and undeclared college students on career uncertainty and involvement in career development activities. *Journal of Counselling & Development*, 74, 632-640. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.1996.tb02303.x
- Orlinsky, D. E., Ronnestad, M. H., Willutski, U. (2004). Fifty years of psychotherapy processoutcome research: Continuity and change. In M. J. Lambert (ed.) Handbook of psychotherapy and behavior change (5th ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Ougrin, D., Ng, A. V., Low, J. Zundel, T. (2008). Therapeutic assessment based on cognitive-analytic therapy for young people presenting with self-harm: Pilot study. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, *32*, 423-426. doi:10.1192/pd.bp.107.018473
- Ougrin, D., Zundel, T., Ng, A. V., Habel, B., Latif, S. (2013). Teaching therapeutic assessment for self-harm in adolescents: Training outcomes. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 84*, 70-85. doi:10.1111/j.2044-8341.2011.02047.x
- Palmer, S., & Cochran, L. (1998). Parents as agents of career development. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 35, 71-76. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.35.1.71
- Poasa, K. H., Mallinckrodt, B., & Suzuki, L. A. (2000). Causal attributions for problematic family interactions: A qualitative, cultural comparison of Western Samoa, and the United States. *The Counselling Psychologist*, 28, 32-60. doi:
- 10.1177/0011000000281003

- Pope, K. S., & Vetter, V. A., (1992). Ethical dilemmas encountered by members of the A American Psychological Association: A national survey. *American Psychologist*, 47, 397-411. doi:10.1037/0003-066x.47.3.397
- Poston, J. M., & Hanson, W. E. (2010). Meta-analysis of psychological assessment as a therapeutic intervention. *Psychological Assessment*, 22, 203-212. doi:10.1037/a0018679
- Prediger, D. J. (1994). Tests and counselling: The marriage that prevailed. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counselling and Development*, 26, 227-234. Retrieved from http://mec.sage.pub.com/
- Purves, C. (2002). Collaborative assessment with involuntary populations: Foster children and their mothers. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, *30*, 164-174. doi:10.1080/08873267.2002.-9977031
- Qualtrics (2014). Retrieved June 14, 2014, from *Qualtics LLC*. website, http://www.qualtrics.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Reynolds, C. R., & Kamphaus, R.W. (2004). *Behavioral Assessment System for Children, Second Edition (BASC–2)*. Circle Pines, MN: American Guidance Service.
- Rupert, P. A., Kozlowski, N. F., Hoffman, L. A., Daniels, D. D., & Piette, J. M., (1999).

 Practical and ethical issues in teaching psychological testing. *Professional Psychology:*Research and Practice, 30, 209-214. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.30.2.209
- Sattler, J. M., & Hoge, R. D. (2006). Assessment of children: Behavioral, social, and clinical foundations (5th ed.). La Mesa, CA: Sattler.
- Sakamoto, A., Miura, S., Sakamoto, K., & Mori, T., (2000). Popular psychological tests and

- self-fulfilling prophecy: An experiment of Japanese female undergraduate students. *Asian Journal of Social Psychology 3*, 107-124. doi:10.1111/1467-839x.00057
- Selvin, H. C., & Stuart, A. (1996). Data-dredging procedures in survey analysis. *The American Statistician*, 20(3), 20-23. doi:10.1080/00031305.1966.10480401
- Shadish, W., Cook, T., and Campbell, D. (2002). Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for generalized causal inference. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Shannon, D., & Bradshaw, C. (2009). A comparison of response rate, response time, and cost of mail and electronic surveys. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 70(2), 179-187. doi:10-.1177/0193841x09340214
- Smith, J. D., Erard, R. E., & Handler, L., (2013). An updated statement for the clinical applications section: suggestions for clinical and empirical case reports. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 95(5), 437-443. doi:10.1080/00223891.2013.810154
- Smith, J. D., Handler, L., & Nash, M. R. (2010). Family therapeutic assessment for preadolescent boys with oppositional defiant disorder: A replicated single-case timeseries design. *Psychological Assessment*, 22, 593-602. doi:10.1037/a0019697
- Smith, S. R., Wiggins, C. M., & Gorske, T. T. (2007). A survey of psychological assessment feedback practices. *Assessment*, *14*, 310-319. doi:10.1177/1073191107302842
- Stedman, J. M., Hatch, J. P., & Schoenfeld, L. S. (2000). Preinternship preparation in psychological testing and psychotherapy: What internship directors say they expect. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 31, 321–326. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.31.3.321
- Swann, W. B. Jr. (1997). The trouble with change: Self-verification and allegiance to the self.

 Psychological Science, 8, 177-180. doi:10.1111/j.14679280.1997.tb00407.x

- Teddlie, C., & Yu, F. (2007). Mixed methods sampling: A typology with examples. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *I*(1), 77-100. doi:10.1177/2345678906292430
- Tharinger, D. J., Finn, S. E., Gentry, L., Hamilton, A., Fowler, J., Matson, M., Krumholz, L., & Walkowiak, J. (2009). Therapeutic assessment with children: A pilot study of treatment acceptability and outcome. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 91(3), 238-244. doi:10.1-080/00223890902794275.
- Tharinger, D. J., Finn, S. E., Hersh, B., Wilkinson, A., Christopher, G. B., & Tran, A. (2008).
 Assessment feedback with parents and preadolescent children: A collaborative approach.
 Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 39(6), 600-609. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.39.6.600
- Tharinger, D. J., Pilgrim, S. (2012). Parent and child experiences of neuropsychological assessment as a function of child feedback by individualized fable. *Child Neuropsychology*, *18*(3), 228-241. doi:10.1080/09297049.2011.595708
- Vandecreek, L. (2009). Time for full disclosure with suicidal patients. *Psychotherapy Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 46*(4), 472-473. doi:10.1037/a0017904
- Walfish, S. (2011). Reducing MMPI defensiveness in professionals presenting for evaluation. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 30(1), 75-80. doi:10.1080/10550887.2010.531666
- Wampold, B. E. (2001) *The great psychotherapy debate: Models, methods, and findings.*Mahwah, NJ: L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Wampold, B. E., Ankarlo, G., Mondin, G., Trinidad-Carrillo, M., Baumler, B., & Prater, K.
 (1995). Social skills of and social environment produced by different Holland types: A social perspective on person-environment fit model. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 42, 365-379. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.42.3.365

- Ward, R. M. (2008). Assessee and assessor experiences of significant events in psychological assessment feedback. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 90, 307-322. doi:10.1080/002-23890802107818
- Watkins, C. E. Jr. (1991). What have surveys taught us about the teaching and practice of psychological assessment? *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *56*, 426-437. doi:10.120-7/s15327752jpa5603_5
- Wild, T. C., Cunningham, J. A., & Roberts, A. B. (2007). Controlled study of brief personalized assessment-feedback for drinkers interested in self-help. *Addiction*, *102*, 241–250. doi:1-0.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01682.x
- Worthington, E. L., Jr., McCullough, M. E., Shortz, J. L., Mindes, E. J., Sandage, S. J., & Chartrand, J. M. (1995). Can couples assessment and feedback improve relationships?

 Assessment as a brief relationship enrichment procedure. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 42(4), 466-475. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.42.4.466
- Wygant, D. B., & Fleming, K. P. (2008). Clinical utility of MMPI-2 restructured clinical scales in therapeutic assessment: A case study. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 90, 110-118. doi:10.1080/00223890701845112

Appendix A

Assessment Feedback Practice and Training Questionnaire

This questionnaire examines the training and practice of Canadian psychologists providing test feedback to their clients based on the results of psychological assessments. It should take approximately 10 minutes for you to complete. Your participation is greatly appreciated.

 Do you currently use psychological assessment instruments in your practi Examples include: MMPI-2, WAIS-IV, BDI-II, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, Stro Interest Inventory, etc. 	
Yes	
No	
2. How often do you use psychological assessments in your practice? Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes	
Frequently	
Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)	
B. How often do you use assessments to answer specific referral questions?	
Never	
Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes	
Frequently Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)	
I. How often do you use assessments to make or confirm a diagnosis? Never	
Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes	
Frequently Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)	
Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)	
5. How often do you use assessments to measure treatment outcomes or nonitor client change?	
Never Rarely (with a small percentage of clients)	
Sometimes Frequently	
Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)	

Almost always (with a large percentage of clients) 12. Are there any other uses of psychological assessments that apply to your practice? If so, please describe them below.
13. In which of the following contexts do you use assessments? Please check all that apply.
In an interdisciplinary treatment team With clients who experience severe mental illness With adults With college/university students With adolescents With children Other (please specify below)
14. Which of the following types of assessment instruments do you typically use? Please check all that apply. Intellectual (e.g., WAIS, WISC, Standford Binet, KABC) Behavioural (e.g., BASC, Conners) Objective Personality (e.g., MMPI, MCMI, 16-PF) Projective Personality (e.g., Rorschach, Thematic Apperception Test) Career Inventory (e.g., Strong Interest Inventory, Self-Directed Search) Symptom-based measures (e.g., BDI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory) Neuropsychological (e.g., COGNISTAT, RBANS) Other (please specify below)
15. How often do you obtain assessment-specific consent beyond initial consent to participate in treatment (e.g., counselling) before administering assessments? Never Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes Frequently Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)
16. How often do you prepare clients for the assessment (e.g., by explaining the purpose, process and likely outcomes)? Never

Rarely (with a small percentage of clients)Sometimes
Frequently Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)
17. How often do you encourage clients to generate their own personally relevant questions that could be addressed through the assessment process? Never Rarely (with a small percentage of clients)
Sometimes
FrequentlyAlmost always (with a large percentage of clients)
18. How often do you provide test feedback to clients based on assessment results? That is, how often do you provide an interpretation of test results directly to the client in order to make the results as understandable, meaningful and useful as possible for them (typically this would take place in an assessment debriefing or case consultation)? Never
Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes
Frequently Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)
19. How often do you provide <u>verbal</u> test feedback (as described in the previous item) directly to the client? Never
Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes Frequently
Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)
20. How often do you provide <u>written</u> test feedback in the form of a summary report of the assessment results directly to the client? Never
Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes
Frequently Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)
21. Excluding protected materials (e.g., standardized intelligence test protocols), how often do you provide clients with raw assessment data beyond a percentile

rank and descriptor? Examples include raw scores, composite scores, T-scores,

etc.

Never
Rarely (with a small percentage of clients)
Sometimes
Frequently
Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)
22. How often do you make a deliberate effort to ensure that clients have understood the assessment results as well as the test feedback you provided (i.e., by asking them directly)? Never Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes Frequently Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)
23. How often do you make a deliberate effort to highlight any relevant implications of the assessment results when providing test feedback to clients? Never
Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes Frequently
Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)
24. How often do you provide clients with an opportunity to ask any questions they may have about the assessment results and to clarify their understanding of the test feedback provided to them? Never
Rarely (with a small percentage of clients) Sometimes
Frequently Almost always (with a large percentage of clients)
25. To what extent do you agree with the following statement: My graduate training in psychology (including coursework and practicums) did an excellent job equipping and preparing me to provide test feedback to clients, ensuring that assessment results are as meaningful and useful to them as possible. Strongly Disagree Disagree Neither Agree nor Disagree Agree
Agree Strongly Agree
26. In your estimation, what percentage of your graduate training in
psychological assessment focused explicitly on how to provide clients with test feedback?

27. Of the training you received in providing clients with test feedback during your graduate degree, what was the primary mode of instruction/learning? Not applicable (no instruction was provided) Lecture Assigned reading Open discussion with professor or supervisor Modeled by professor or supervisor Role-playing Practicum / Clinical experience Other (please specify below)
28. To what extent do you agree with the following statement: My post-graduate training experience did an excellent job equipping and preparing me to provide test feedback to clients, ensuring that assessment results are as meaningful and useful to them as possible. Strongly Disagree Disagree Neither Agree nor Disagree Agree Strongly Agree 29. In your estimation, what percentage of your post-graduate training in psychological assessment focused explicitly on how to provide clients with test
30. Of the training you received in providing clients with test feedback during your graduate degree, what was the primary mode of instruction/learning? Not applicable (no instruction was provided) Lecture Assigned reading Open discussion with professor or supervisor Modeled by professor or supervisor Role-playing Practicum / Clinical experience Other (please specify below)

31. Is there is anything else you believe is relevant to the practice and/or training of psychologists providing clients with test feedback that was not sufficiently

covered in this questionnaire? If so, please describe it below. You can also utilize the space provided to elaborate on any of your previous responses if y desire.		
_ _ _	se Indicate the highest degree you have attained. Ph.D. Psy.D. Ed.D. M.Ed. M.A. / M.S.	
_	_ M.A. / W.S. _ Other (please specify below)	
	en did you earn this degree (in what year)?	
34. Wha 	nt is your sex? _ Male _ Female	
35. Wha	t ethnic/cultural background do you identify most strongly with? _ European Canadian / White _ Aboriginal / First Nations / Canadian Indigenous _ Inuit _ Metis _ Asian / Asian Canadian _ Hispanic / Latino / Latina _ African Canadian / Black _ Other (please specify below)]	
36. Which	ch of the following best describes your primary practice setting? Armed Forces Child / Adolescent Psychiatric or Pediatric Community Mental Health Center Consortium General Hospital Medical School Outpatient Clinic	

	Prison / Correctional Facility
	Primary Care Network
	Private Practice
	Psychiatric Unit / Hospital
	School / School District
	University / College Psychology Department
	University / College Counselling Center
	_ , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
	Other (please specify below)
	hich of the following best describes your theoretical orientation (please our response to 2 selections)?
	Behavioural
	Biological (i.e., Neurological, Chemical)
	Cognitive Behavioural
	Eclectic
	Existential
	Feminist
	Humanistic
	Interpersonal
	Process-Experiential
	Psychoanalytic / Psychodynamic
	Systems
	Other (please specify below)
38 W	hich section(s) of CPA are you affiliated with or involved in? Or which
	hich section(s) of CPA are you affiliated with or involved in? Or, which ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)?
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)?
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology Addiction Psychology
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology Addiction Psychology Adult Development and Aging
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology Addiction Psychology Adult Development and Aging Brain and Cognitive Sciences
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology Addiction Psychology Adult Development and Aging Brain and Cognitive Sciences Clinical Psychology Clinical Neuropsychology
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology Addiction Psychology Adult Development and Aging Brain and Cognitive Sciences Clinical Psychology Clinical Neuropsychology Community Psychology
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please tall that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology Addiction Psychology Adult Development and Aging Brain and Cognitive Sciences Clinical Psychology Clinical Neuropsychology Community Psychology Counselling Psychology
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology Addiction Psychology Adult Development and Aging Brain and Cognitive Sciences Clinical Psychology Clinical Neuropsychology Community Psychology Counselling Psychology Criminal Justice Psychology
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please tall that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology Addiction Psychology Adult Development and Aging Brain and Cognitive Sciences Clinical Psychology Clinical Neuropsychology Community Psychology Counselling Psychology Criminal Justice Psychology Developmental Psychology
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? Aboriginal Psychology Addiction Psychology Adult Development and Aging Brain and Cognitive Sciences Clinical Psychology Clinical Neuropsychology Community Psychology Counselling Psychology Criminal Justice Psychology Developmental Psychology Environmental Psychology
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? _ Aboriginal Psychology _ Addiction Psychology _ Adult Development and Aging _ Brain and Cognitive Sciences _ Clinical Psychology _ Clinical Neuropsychology _ Community Psychology _ Counselling Psychology _ Criminal Justice Psychology _ Developmental Psychology _ Environmental Psychology _ Environmental Psychology _ Extremism and Terrorism
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? _ Aboriginal Psychology _ Addiction Psychology _ Adult Development and Aging _ Brain and Cognitive Sciences _ Clinical Psychology _ Clinical Neuropsychology _ Community Psychology _ Counselling Psychology _ Criminal Justice Psychology _ Developmental Psychology _ Environmental Psychology _ Extremism and Terrorism _ Family Psychology
doma	ins pertain most closely to your area of expertise and/or practice (please t all that apply)? _ Aboriginal Psychology _ Addiction Psychology _ Adult Development and Aging _ Brain and Cognitive Sciences _ Clinical Psychology _ Clinical Neuropsychology _ Community Psychology _ Counselling Psychology _ Criminal Justice Psychology _ Developmental Psychology _ Environmental Psychology _ Environmental Psychology _ Extremism and Terrorism

Industrial / Organizational Psychology International and Cross-Cultural Psychology	
Psychoanalytic and Psychodynamic Psychology	
Psychologists in Education	
Psychologists in Hospitals and Health Centers	
Psychology in the Military	
Psychologists and Retirement	
Psychopharmacology	
Psychophysiology Special Interest Group	
Quantitative Methods	
Religion	
Rural and Northern Psychology	
Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity	
Social and Personality Psychology	
Sport and Exercise Psychology	
Students of Psychology	
Teaching of Psychology	
Traumatic Stress Section	
Section for Women and Psychology	
Other (please specify below)	
39. Would you be willing to participate in a brief follow-up interview (approximately 20 minutes)? The purpose of these interviews is to explore the experiences of psychologists in providing clients with test feedback. Interviews will be conducted by telephone or online video conferencing (e.g., Skype). Pleas	,
note that you are not consenting to participate by responding "yes", only that you are open to discussing the possibility with the researchers.	se
	se
you are open to discussing the possibility with the researchers. Yes. I am willing to be contacted (**please provide an email address or telephone number below, along with an area code and optimal time of day to call**).	
you are open to discussing the possibility with the researchers. Yes. I am willing to be contacted (**please provide an email address or telephone number below, along with an area code and optimal time of day to call**). No thanks. 40. If you would like to receive a copy of the results of this survey, please check	

Appendix B

Initial Email Invitation

Dear Colleague,

This is an invitation for you to complete a brief survey regarding the assessment practices of psychologists in Canada. The results will be used in a study I am conducting for my masters' thesis project at the University of Alberta. Assessment is a vital aspect of professional practice that arguably distinguishes psychologists from other mental health professionals. While a number of studies have sought to determine the various uses of tests by psychologists (i.e., what tests are commonly used in practice, and for what purposes), this study is unique as it examines how the results of tests are used, and how results are presented to clients. Your assistance in completing this survey is greatly appreciated. Thank you very much for you input, and for your time.

While more detailed information is available by clicking on the survey link (below), you should be aware of some important points:

- 1) This study received ethics approval in December of 2013 from the University of Alberta's Research Ethics Board.
- 2) Your contact information was obtained through the Canadian Psychological Association membership directory.
- 3) It should take approximately 10 minutes for you to complete the survey.

Sincerely,

Ryan Jacobson, B.A.
University of Alberta
Dept. of Educational Psychology
6-102 Education North
Edmonton, AB.
T6G 2G5
(780) 935-6153
rjacobso@ualberta.ca

Follow this link to the Survey:

Take the Survey

Or copy and paste the URL below into your internet browser: https://qtrial.qualtrics.com/WRQualtricsSurveyEngine/?Q_SS=50kRZje0gbwy6Lr_4ZVPs CZYEu120pf& =1

Follow the link to opt out of future emails: Click here to unsubscribe

Appendix C

Follow-Up Email Invitation

Dear Colleague,

This is a reminder about an invitation you received recently to complete a brief survey regarding the assessment practices of psychologists in Canada. The results will be used in a study I am conducting for my masters' thesis project at the University of Alberta. Assessment is a vital aspect of professional practice that arguably distinguishes psychologists from other mental health professionals. While a number of studies have sought to determine the various uses of tests by psychologists (i.e., what tests are commonly used in practice, and for what purposes), this study is unique as it examines how the results of tests are used, and how results are presented to clients.

While more detailed information is available by clicking on the survey link (below), you should be aware of some important points:

- 1) This study received ethics approval in December of 2013 from the University of Alberta's Research Ethics Board.
- 2) Your contact information was obtained through the Canadian Psychological Association membership directory.
- 3) It should take approximately 10 minutes for you to complete the survey.
- 4) If you've already taken the survey or responded to this invitation, please disregard this message.

Your assistance is greatly appreciated. Thank you very much for you input, and for your time.

Sincerely,
Ryan Jacobson, B.A.
University of Alberta
Dept. of Educational Psychology
6-102 Education North
Edmonton, AB. T6G 2G5
rjacobso@ualberta.ca
(780) 935-6153

Follow this link to the Survey:

Take the Survey

Or copy and paste the URL below into your internet browser:

https://acsurvey.qualtrics.com/WRQualtricsSurveyEngine/?Q_SS=3WznTNDd4gKX5aJ_4Z VPsCZYEu120pf&_=1

Appendix D

Quantitative Phase Information Letter and Consent Form

INFORMATION LETTER and CONSENT FORM The Practice and Training of Providing Test Feedback among Canadian Psychologists.

Research Investigator: Ryan Jacobson, B.A. Dept. of Educational Psychology 6-102 Education North University of Alberta Edmonton, AB. T6G 2G5 2G5 rjacobso@ualberta.ca 780-935-6153 Supervisor:
Dr. William Hanson, Ph.D
Dept. of Educational Psychology
6-102 Education North
University of Alberta
Edmonton, AB. T6G 2G5
whanson@ualberta.ca
780-492-5245

Background This study examines the training and practice of Canadian psychologists in providing test feedback to clients based on the results of psychological assessments. We selected your name from the Canadian Psychological Association membership directory, and will be using the results of this study in a thesis project, in partial fulfillment of the requirements of Mr. Jacobson's masters' degree. We may also potentially publish the results in an academic journal, or present them at a research conference. It is important that you are aware that we are both members of the Canadian Psychological Association (CPA). However, in no way do we represent the interests of the CPA, or its members. The CPA has not commissioned this research and has no vested interest in this study or special relationship with us.

Purpose The purpose of this research is to explore test feedback practices among Canadian psychologists. More specifically, we seek to describe the frequency with which test feedback is provided to clients, identify the format(s) in which feedback is provided, identify specific training psychologists receive in providing test feedback, and determine their motivation for providing or not providing test feedback to clients. There is currently no published research pertaining to test feedback practices among Canadian psychologists. Given the empirically supported capacity of assessment feedback to improve treatment processes and outcomes, this study addresses a considerable gap in our knowledge base, and represents an important line of inquiry with potentially significant implications for clinical practice and training nationally.

Study Procedures

We will be conducting this research over the course of the next 2 to 4 months. If you choose to participate in this study, we invite you to complete a questionnaire that will take approximately ten minutes. The questions focus on your use of assessment instruments as well as the practice, training and motivation associated with providing test feedback to clients. The survey also asks a number of demographic questions so we can provide a description of the sample of participants in this study. These questions pertain to your level of education, when you completed your degree, the setting of your primary practice, your theoretical orientation, sections of the CPA you are affiliated with, as well as your sex and ethnic/cultural identity.

Benefits Aside from providing the opportunity for you to reflect on your practice, we do not foresee any direct benefit for you as a participant in this study, and there is no payment or other compensation for your involvement. If you do choose to participate, you may benefit by increasing your knowledge of assessment practice and training, and you will be making a valuable contribution to helping us better understand current assessment practices in Canada.

Risks We do not anticipate you encountering any risks as a result of participating in this study. While there may be risks associated with participation, they are presently unknown to us. We will advise you as soon as we become aware of any potential risk or learn of anything that might affect your willingness to be involved.

Voluntary Participation You are free to choose not to participate in this study, and you will experience no negative consequences whatsoever as a result. You are also free to discontinue your participation at any time (by exiting/closing the survey window) without fear of negative repercussions, and you can modify your participation by skipping any questions you would prefer not to answer. If you choose to discontinue participation at a later point in time, you can request that your data be removed from the study and we will gladly remove/destroy your data (this request can be facilitated any time up until the point at which the data is rendered anonymous).

Confidentiality & Anonymity

All your questionnaire responses will be kept strictly confidential. We will maintain all data and study materials securely, and will be the only individuals who will be able to access your data at any point. An identification number will be used on the questionnaire in place of your name, and the link between your name and the identification number will be destroyed once data collection is complete. When your data is entered into an electronic database, no identifying information will be included, so that data will thereafter be anonymous. With the exception of optional openended responses (which will remain strictly anonymous), only aggregate (group) data from this survey will be examined and reported in the final research report. In the event that you are contacted for a follow-up interview, we will thoroughly explain the uses of your data prior to conducting the interview. As previously mentioned, we may published these results at some point in an academic journal or present them at a research conference. We may also seek to use the results of this study in future research. However, the Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta will first approve any future use of your data.

Further Information The University of Alberta's Research Ethics Board has approved this study by virtue of its adherence to ethical guidelines in conducting research. We encourage you to contact the board at reoffice@ualberta.ca or at (780) 429-2615 if you have any questions regarding your rights as a participant in this study, or research ethics in general. If you have any further questions pertaining to your involvement in this study, or would like to obtain a copy of the results, feel free to contact us, Dr. William Hanson or Ryan Jacobson, using the contact information provided. Thank you very much once again for your time.

Sincerely,

Ryan Jacobson & William Hanson

I hereby give my consent to participate in the research described above by
indicating "yes" below. I understanding that, by consenting, I am agreeing to complete the
following survey. I have read and understood the consent form and desire of my own free
will to participate.

Yes
No

Appendix E

Initial Interview Invitation

Dear Colleague,

I hope this finds you well. I'm just writing to follow-up with you regarding a research survey on psychological assessment that you completed several months ago. On the questionnaire, you indicated that you would be open to discussing the possibility of sharing some of your assessment related experiences in a brief telephone interview. Based on your responses, you have been selected as an ideal candidate for an interview and, if possible, I'd like to contact you to discuss the matter further.

You provided a telephone number that I will attempt to reach you at within the next few days. However, I thought I would also contact you by email just to let you know. Feel free to contact me by phone or email if you have any questions at all. I look forward to speaking with you.

Sincerely,

Ryan Jacobson, B.A.
University of Alberta
Dept. of Educational Psychology
6-102 Education North
Edmonton, AB. T6G 2G5
rjacobso@ualberta.ca
(780) 935-6153

You will receive more detailed and complete information regarding your rights as a participant in this study, as well as steps we are taking to ensure your privacy is maintained at all times. The following is brief overview of what your participation entails: Interviews will be recorded and transcribed verbatim, and the results may be published in an academic journal or presented at a research conference. All interview data (recordings and transcriptions) will be kept strictly confidential, and destroyed once data analysis is complete. No identifying information will be included and you will never be identified, or made identifiable as a respondent in this study. You are not obligated to participate in this research, and you can decline to answer any questions you would prefer not to respond to. You are also free to withdraw from this study any point, so long as the final report has not been submitted.

Appendix F

Qualitative Phase Information Letter and Consent Form

INFORMATION LETTER and CONSENT FORM Study Title: The Practice and Training of Providing Test Feedback among Canadian Psychologists.

Research Investigator: Ryan Jacobson, B.A. Dept. of Educational Psychology 6-102 Education North University of Alberta Edmonton, AB. T6G 2G5 rjacobso@ualberta.ca 780-935-6153 Supervisor:
Dr. William Hanson, Ph.D
Dept. of Educational Psychology
6-102 Education North
University of Alberta
Edmonton, AB. T6G 2G5
whanson@ualberta.ca
780-492-5245

Dear Colleague,

I am writing to follow up on a survey you completed several months ago on your use of psychological assessments and test results. First of all, thank you for taking the time to participate in this study. Your involvement has been a great help to me in this important line of inquiry.

I am conducting follow-up interviews with selected respondents in order to more fully understand their assessment practices. Purposeful sampling is being employed for these interviews and respondents are selected based on their survey responses regarding their experience, training and practice of providing test feedback to clients. Specifically, I hope to better understand the experience of psychologists who do not regularly provide test feedback, do so despite receiving no specific training, or despite finding specific training unhelpful. Based on your responses, you have been identified as an ideal candidate for a follow-up interview. I am writing to obtain your permission to contact you (via telephone, or by Skype) to ask you some additional questions in hopes of more fully understanding your experience, training, practice and approach in the area of assessment.

The interview will take approximately 15 minutes. Our conversation will be recorded (audio only) and transcribed for subsequent analysis. The audio recording will be shut off at any point during the interview upon request. The data from these interviews will not be linked in any way to the survey data from the survey. Data will be analyzed and reported in the final report the form of my masters' thesis. Please be aware that, for these follow-up interviews, individual (verbatim) responses may be included in the final report, though the majority will be presented in aggregate form. The final report may be submitted for future publication and an academic journal, or presentation at various conferences. There are no known risks associated with your participation in this study, and while you may benefit through the opportunity to reflect on your practice, or by increasing your knowledge of assessment practices, there are no direct benefits associated with your participation of which we are aware.

I welcome any questions or comments you may have about this research and your involvement in it. If you have any questions about these interviews, or would like more information, please contact my supervisor, Dr. William Hanson or myself. Should you have any questions regarding your rights as a research participant, or if you wish to report any concerns about this study, you can contact the University of Alberta Research Ethics Office at 780-492-2615 or reoffice@ualberta.ca.

Your participation is entirely voluntary; you are free to decline from being interviewed and you will experience no negative consequences as a result. You are also free to discontinue the interview at any point or decline from answering any questions that make you uncomfortable in any way or cause you distress. If you decide that you would like to withdraw from the study at a later point in time, you can contact us and your data will be omitted and destroyed. Data removal can be accommodated any time prior to the conclusion of the data collection phase. Thereafter, data will be anonymous and we will not be able to identify participants' responses, rendering data removal impossible.

If you agree to participate in a brief interview, please indicate this by signing in the space below. You can also indicate aurally to the researcher that you have read this document in its entirely and desire of your own volition to participate in the research described above.

Sincerely,	
Ryan Jacobson	
Participant Name:	Date :
Signature:	

Appendix G

Qualitative Interview Scripts

GROUP 1 SCRIPT (to be utilized with respondents who regularly provide TFB despite absent or insufficient training)

"First off, I'd like to thank you for your willingness to take part in this second phase of the study on test feedback. Your participation is extremely valuable and very much appreciated. As previously mentioned, your participation in this interview is completely voluntary. You may decline from answering any questions, and you are free to discontinue your participation at any time. With your permission, I would like to record our conversation with a digital recorder. Once we complete the interview, I will transcribe our conversation for analysis, and the results will be included in the final report. After transcription, the audio recording will be destroyed. Please be aware that, while the majority of the results from this study will be presented in aggregate form, individual verbatim responses from this interview may be included in the final report. However, no identifying, or potentially identifying information will be included so you can rest assured that your responses will remain strictly anonymous. The final report may be submitted for future publication in various academic journals and presentation at research conferences. Do you have any questions before we continue?

[Researcher answers any questions the participant may have]

"May I begin recording now?"

[Await participants' response. If 'yes', recording begins]

"You indicated on the survey that you regularly provide test feedback to clients, despite insufficient formal training. Could you tell me more about how you learned to provide test feedback?"

"Based on your experience, do you feel that there are any positive effects for clients receiving test feedback? If so, what are those positive effects, and how might they be enhanced?"

"Do you feel there are any potentially negative effects associated with providing clients with test feedback? If so, what are these negative effects, and how might they be mitigated?"

"Is there anything else you would like to share regarding your experience or perspective on the practice or training of providing clients with test feedback?"

GROUP 2 SCRIPT (to be utilized with respondents indicating they do not offer interpretive assessment feedback to clients, or do so infrequently)

"First off, I'd like to thank you for your willingness to take part in this second phase of the study on test feedback. Your participation and is extremely valuable and very much appreciated. As previously mentioned, your participation in this interview is completely voluntary. You may decline from answering any questions, and you are free to discontinue your participation at any time. With your permission, I would like to record our conversation with a handheld tape recorder. Once we complete the interview, I will transcribe our conversation for analysis, and the results will be included in the final report. After transcription, the audio recording will be destroyed. Please be aware that, while the majority of the results from this study will be presented in aggregate form, individual verbatim responses from this interview may be included in the final report. However, no identifying, or potentially identifying information will be included so you can rest assured that your responses will remain strictly anonymous. The final report may be submitted for future publication in various academic journals and presentation at research conferences. Do you have any questions before we continue?

[Researcher answers any questions the participant may have]

"May I begin recording now?"

[Await participants' response. If 'yes', recording begins]

"You indicated on the survey that you do not provide assessment feedback to clients, or that you do so inconsistently. Could you tell me more about that?"

"Are there circumstances in which you would provide interpretive assessment feedback? What would your motivation be for providing feedback in those cases, and how do they differ from your current practice?"

"Based on your experience, are there positive effects that result from clients receiving assessment feedback? If so, what are those positive effects, and how might they be enhanced?"

"Do you feel there are any potentially negative effects associated with providing clients with assessment feedback? If so, what are these negative effects, and how might they be mitigated?"

"Is there anything else you would like to share regarding your experience or perspective on psychologists providing clients with test feedback?"